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Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@racwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporath and its
consolidated subsidiaries. In addition to histdrinBormation, this Annual Report on Form 10-K caimis forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncetiesrthat could cause our actual results to diffaterially. Factors
that might cause or contribute to such differerinelide, but are not limited to, those discusseldem 1A. “Risk
Factors.” When used in this report, the words “expé “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes'seeks,”
“estimates” and similar expressions are generatigrided to identify forward-looking statements. Yahould not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statgs, which reflect our opinions only as of theedaf this
Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to puplielease any revisions to the forward-lookingestaents after
the date of this document. You should carefullyieenthe risk factors described in other documergdile from
time to time with the Securities and Exchange Caossinh, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 1 Qe
filed by us in our 2008 fiscal year, which runsnrdune 1, 2007 to May 31, 2008.

PART |
Item 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe develop, manufacture, market, distributé service
database and middleware software as well as afiplisasoftware designed to help our customers ne@aagd grow
their business operations. We also provide sugpothe Linux open source operating system throughOracle
Unbreakable Linux Support program, which provides@istomers with our industry-leading global suppo
programs for Linux.

Our goal is to offer customers scalable, reliabégure and integrated software systems that praradsactional
efficiencies, adapt to an organization’s uniquedseznd allow better ways to access and manageriafam at a
lower total cost of ownership. We seek to be anéty leader in each of the specific product catiegan which we
compete and to expand into new and emerging maiketiscal 2007, we focused on strengthening aumgetitive
position and enhancing our existing portfolio obgucts and services as well as acquiring and iatiegy
businesses.

An active acquisition program is an important elata our corporate strategy. In the last threedliyears, we
have invested over $25 billion, in the aggregatgdquire a number of companies, products, seracds
technologies, including the acquisition of PeopfgSaoc., Siebel Systems, Inc. and Hyperion Sohsi€orporation
Typically, the significant majority of our integrah activities related to an acquisition are sufiiiadly complete in
the United States within three to six months atfterclosing of the acquisition. We believe our asijon program
supports our long-term strategic direction, streags our competitive position, expands our custdrmase and
provides greater scale to accelerate innovatiamwguur earnings and increase stockholder valueeXpect to
continue to acquire companies, products, servindgechnologies.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 as lavere corporation and is the successor to opastaginally
begun in June 1977.

Software and Services

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces, which are further divided into five ofarg segments.
Our software business is comprised of two operagegiments: (1) new software licenses and (2) softlieense
updates and product support. Our services busisessnprised of three operating segments: (1) dongu(2) On
Demand and (3) education. Our software and serbigsimesses represented 79% and 21% of our toehues,
respectively, in fiscal 2007 and 80% and 20% oftotal revenues, respectively, in both fiscal 2686 fiscal 2005.
See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tahts for additional information related to oueigiing
segments.
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Software Busines

New Software License

New software licenses include the licensing of base and middleware software, which consists ofl@m@atabas
and Oracle Fusion Middleware, as well as applicatisoftware. Our technology and business soluaoadased on
an internet model comprised of interconnected deslservers, application servers, web servers@anguters as
well as mobile devices running web browsers. Thifitecture enables users to access businessrithta a
applications through a universally adopted web Isenvinterface, while providing enterprises the nadfitient and
cost effective method of managing business infoionaand applications.

In an internet model, database servers manageratetpthe underlying business information, whiplécation
servers run the business applications that autoaatgriad of business functions. We have focusedonitepts
such as global single instance application deployrtteat involve fewer, high quality databases gbpamant
business information, rather than dozens or hursdoédisparate databases that are difficult to lssaruize and
coordinate. Our integrated architecture provides lguality business information and can be adajutdide specific
needs of any industry or application. Oracle tetbgywoperates on single server or clustered sexwefigurations,
and supports a choice of operating systems inajudinux, UNIX and Windows. In fiscal 2007, we inthaced a
program to support the Linux open source operatirsgem for our customers’ information technologh) (I
platforms.

New software license revenues include fees eamo@ad granting customers licenses to use our softparéucts
and exclude revenues derived from software licepskates and product support. The standard endsofesmare
license agreement for our products provides fanaial fee to use the product in perpetuity basada maximum
number of processors, named users or other métiezalso have other types of software license ageets
restricted by the number of employees or the liedaam. New software license revenues represerd#g 34% ant
35% of total revenues in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 20€8pectively.

Database and Middleware Software

Our grid software provides a cost-effective, higrfprmance platform for running and managing bussne
applications for small and mid-size businesseslamy® global enterprises. With an increasing fdmugnterprises
on reducing their total cost of IT infrastructu@racle’s grid software is designed to accommodateahding, non-
stop business environments, using clusters of lost servers and storage that can incrementallg scatequired.
The unique ability to assign computing resourceqaired simplifies our customers’ computing cédjyaplanning
and procurement in order to support all of thesibass applications. With an Oracle grid infradnte, our
customers can lower their investment in IT hardwesduce their risk of IT infrastructure downtimedaeasily cope
with sudden increases in demand on their IT enwiremis during high traffic periods. New softwaretise
revenues from database and middleware productesepted 71%, 73% and 81% of new software licensmntes
in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Database

As the world’s most popular database, Oracle'dimial database enables the secure storage, matgouand
retrieval of all forms of data including structurddta that resides in business applications, XMa,daalytics data,
spatial data and other unstructured data such@asmknts, spreadsheets and images. Designed fopesgegrid
computing, the Oracle Database is available in éalitions: Express Edition, Standard Edition Ortan8ard
Edition and Enterprise Edition. All editions aralbusing the same underlying code, which meansdhtabase
applications can easily scale from small, singlecpssor servers to clusters of multi-processoressrv

Options to Oracle Database Enterprise Edition eadable to meet specific requirements in the acdas
performance and scalability, high availability, sety and compliance, data warehousing, unstrudtdisga
integration and systems management. Examples s¢ thigtions include: Oracle Real Application Clusterhich
consolidates a single, scalable and fault toledlatdabase that is shared across an interconnecigt@ércdf servers
(also available on our other database editionsgdel@rPartitioning, which supports large transacpioocessing and
business intelligence database systems and cestieffly manages data throughout its lifecycle; @mdcle
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Warehouse Builder connectors, which design, buildl gopulate data warehouses from a variety of kegac
repositories.

Enterprise Manager

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to deliverdmwn applications management. Our customers usel®©
Enterprise Manager to monitor and manage theiriegdns and underlying software infrastructurejualing both
Oracle and non-Oracle infrastructure products. [@reaterprise Manager can be used to manage patkage
applications, such as Siebel, PeopleSoft, Oradbeiginess Suite or custom applications includingiseroriented
applications. In addition to managing Oracle softiafrastructure products including the Oracledbaise and
Oracle Fusion Middleware, Oracle Enterprise Manadgw supports third-party infrastructure products.

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to monitosicelevels and performance, automate tasks, neanag
configuration information, and provide change mamgnt in a unified way across groups of computergids.
Oracle Enterprise Manager’s provisioning autom#tesdiscovery, tracking and scheduling of softwaaiches and
allows IT administrators to apply patches with@king their system down. Additionally, IT adminators can
manage systems from anywhere through an HTML broassthrough wireless PDAs.

Secure Enterprise Search

Oracle Secure Enterprise Search provides an iritbkeesearch experience to users searching seament inside
the enterprise. Oracle Secure Enterprise Searex@sdand searches public, private and shared ¢auwmss
internal and external web sites, databases, filees® document repositories, enterprise contemagement
systems, applications and portals. Oracle Securerjimise Search has built-in functionality thatrpis users to see
only search results leading to information for whibey have authorized access. The product featusaaple web
interface allowing for efficient administration anthnagement. Additionally, users can access tiretseagine
through web-based user interfaces and performtimadi keyword searches that provide results iarenét similar
to conventional web searches.

Middleware

Oracle Fusion Middleware is a broad product farttigt forms a reliable and scalable foundation oitiwh
customers can build, deploy and integrate busiappbcations and automate their business proce@sasle Fusiol
Middleware includes Oracle Application Server, Qeddentity and Access Management Suite, Oracle d&feter
Suite, Oracle Business Intelligence Suite, Oradedloper Suite, Oracle Service Oriented Architexuite, Oracl
Enterprise Content Management Suite and OraclenBasiProcess Analysis Suite, among others. Oraslerr
Middleware is designed to protect our customershiestments and work with both Oracle and non-{erac
Database, Applications and Middleware productsuyhoits hot-pluggable architecture and adherenaediastry
standards such as J2EE and Business Process Bxelcatiguage (BPEL).

By using Oracle Fusion Middleware, our customecsdase their capacity to adapt to business chaagéafly,
reduce their risks related to security and compkamcrease user productivity, and drive bettesir®ss decisions.
Specifically, Oracle Fusion Middleware enables oosrs to easily integrate heterogeneous busingdisajons,
automate business processes, simplify securitycantgpliance, manage lifecycle of documents and gé@trzable,
targeted business intelligence, while continuingttlize their existing IT systems. In addition,a@te Fusion
Middleware supports multiple development languaebtools, which allows developers to build andiaepeb
services, web sites, portals and web-based applsatOracle’s Fusion Middleware is used to supfuecle
applications, as well as other enterprise appbcatand independent software vendors that build ofen custom
applications.

Application Server

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware is Oga&pplication Server. Designed for grid computi@gacle
Application Server incorporates clustering and @aghechnology, which increases application relighi
performance, security and scalability. Oracle Apgiion Server also provides a complete integragtlatform that is
designed to simplify and accelerate business, egidn and data integration projects.
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Identity and Access Management Suite

The Oracle Identity and Access Management suiteesidleasier for our customers to manage multipés u
identities, provision users in multiple enterprégmplications and systems and manage access pesifeg
customers, employees and partners. Our customer®magle Identity and Access Management Suitedorsgheir
information from potential threats. In additionr@ustomers also use Oracle Identity and Accessalfiament Suite
to increase compliance levels, while lowering taltcost of their compliance efforts.

Webcenter Suite

Oracle Webcenter Suite enables personalized, téeskted web applications and portal sites to betapleveloped
and deployed, all with single sigm access and security. Our customers can asseaiée sites using page regic
or portlets, which are reusable interface compan#rat provide access to web-based resources sugbpéications,
business intelligence reports, syndicated contdd and outsourced software services. With thel®©ra
Communications and Mobility Server option, such vaeld portal applications support mobile and VoiverdP
(VolP) clients.

Business Intelligence Suite

Oracle Business Intelligence Suite is a family miegprise business intelligence products that ar@teacle’s
business intelligence and middleware technologh Biebel Business Analytics to offer our custonegrerprise-
wide business intelligence infrastructure and toBised on Oracle’s hot-pluggable business intailig
infrastructure, these products deliver to our austis a full spectrum of business intelligence neqaents,
including interactive dashboards, ad hoc queryaralysis, proactive intelligence and alerts, emisepeporting,
real-time predictive intelligence and mobile anigkytIn April 2007, we acquired Hyperion, a marleztder in
enterprise performance management and businedigjetiee products. As a result of the Hyperion asitjon, we
now offer our customers the most comprehensivegnated, end-tend enterprise performance management sy
available, spanning consolidation, planning, openal analytic applications, business intelligetmas, reporting,
and data integration, all on a unified businesslligence platform.

Current editions of the Oracle Business IntelligeSaite include the Oracle Business IntelligendéeStnterprise
Edition and Oracle Business Intelligence Suite @&ath Edition. Oracle Business Intelligence SuitéeEprise
Edition is open to any enterprise data source g@ticdhzed for Oracle or non-Oracle databases, aligvziustomers
to integrate data from all their enterprise appi@ss, including third party and customer applicati. Oracle
Business Intelligence Suite Standard Edition isnozed to work with Oracle data and applications.

Developer Suite

Oracle Developer Suite is an integrated suite geiment tools designed to facilitate rapid depeient of
internet database applications and web servicesOracle Developer Suite contains application dgprekent and
business intelligence tools and is built on intéstandards such as Java, J2EE, XML and HTML.

The Oracle Developer Suite includes Oracle JDewlapJava development environment for modelingdlimg,
debugging and testing enterprise-class J2EE apiplisaand web services. In addition, the suite @iostOracle
Designer, a tool that allows developers to modsirmss processes and automatically generate éntedatabase
applications, and Oracle Forms Developer, a devedop tool for building database applications tteat be
deployed unchanged in both internet and clientésdpased environments.

The Oracle Developer Suite also includes Oracleeiause Builder software that consolidates fragntked#a and
metadata pulled from packaged applications, custopfications and legacy applications. Oracle Wanshduilde
enables developers to graphically design the niolgdsional database schema and to automaticallgrgenand
load data into the data warehouse.

Service-Oriented Architecture Suite

Oracle Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA) Suita isomplete set of service infrastructure compantt
creating, deploying, and managing SOAs, includimgdl® Developer, Oracle BPEL Process Manager, @b
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Services Manager, Oracle Business Rules Enginel@®Baisiness Activity Monitoring, and Oracle Entésp
Service Bus. Oracle SOA Suite enables servicee wdnted, managed and orchestrated into compggteations
and reconfigurable business processes, reducirgaeaent time and costs and increasing flexibditg response
time. Oracle SOA Suite is hot-pluggable, enablingtemers to easily extend and evolve their archites instead
of replacing existing investments.

Enterprise Content Management Suite

Oracle Enterprise Content Management suite proadesmprehensive set of capabilities to createlighulshare,
archive and retain documents, manage businessgsrflogvs involving these documents as well as manag
information access rights to these documents.ppsts an extensive set of document and image tstrma

Applications Software

Our applications strategy is designed to providgamers with a complete industry business procatssraation
footprint, supported by a robust, standards-baseithblogy platform. Central to that strategy is cammitment to
offer our customers that purchase software liceipskates and support contracts a choice as to vilegnatish to
upgrade to any of our existing or future technolo§grings. Until our customers upgrade, we protbetr
investments in their applications by providing thifetime support, product enhancements and upgradew
technologies such as Oracle Fusion Middleware, I®Basiness Intelligence Suite, and Oracle WebCe&uée are
designed to help our customers extend the berdfiteeir investment in Oracle Applications, to reduheir
investment risk, and to support their evolutiortiie next generation of enterprise software thatt fitsgheir needs.

Our applications combine business functionalityhvitinovative technologies such as role-based ans)ygecure
search, identity management, self-service, and fiavkto deliver business intelligence and insiglatsaptive
industry processes, and a superior ownership esqpazi Our applications enable efficient managerokall core
business functions, including customer relationshgmagement (CRM), enterprise performance managemen
(EPM), enterprise resource planning (ERP) and imghspecific applications. Oracle applications affered as
integrated suites or available on a component basdall are built on open architectures and aségthed for
flexible configuration and open, multi-vendor intation. Our applications are available in multifgaguages, and
support a broad range of location specific requaets, enabling companies to support both globalacel
business practices and legal requirements.

Customer Relationship Management (CRM)

We offer a complete set of CRM applications thahatge all of the business processes and associjatenns that
touch a customer, including: billing and delivesgjes solutions that provide a single repositoryctstomer and
supply chain information; and service solutiond tharease customer satisfaction by providing Vigjbinto
customer billing and order information.

Enterprise Performance Management (EPM)

We offer a full spectrum of open, industry-spec#italytic applications with capabilities such ategrise
performance management, interactive dashboardimbembedded analytic functionality for deliverimgight
across the enterprise. Our Siebel business arabgiation is tailored to 20 industries, giving trusers the ability
to monitor, analyze, and act upon intelligence &piloviding end-to-end visibility into company optons and
financial performance. With our acquisition of Hyioa in April 2007, we added complementary produdets
Oracle’s business intelligence offerings, includibpading open enterprise planning system, firsmoinsolidation
products, and a multi-source OLAP server. Our agtion of Hyperion enables us to offer our custosraar
integrated, end-to-end EPM system that spans pignoonsolidation, operational analytic applicasiolbusiness
intelligence tools, reporting, and data integrat@hon a unified business intelligence platform.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)

Companies use our ERP applications to automaténséeglrate a variety of their key global businesscpsses
including manufacturing, order entry, accounts redde and payable, general ledger, purchasingghaarsing,
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transportation and human resources. Our ERP afiplisacombine business functionality with innovativ
technologies, such as workflow and self-servicdiaations, to enable companies to lower the cosheif business
operations by providing their customers, suppléerd employees with sedfervice internet access to both transac
processing and critical business information. ORPEapplications are available in multiple languaayed
currencies, enabling companies to support bothalabd local business practices and legal requinésne

Industry Applications

Our applications can be tailored to offer custongevariety of industryspecific solutions. As part of our strategy,
strive to ensure that our applications portfolid@$ses the major industry-influenced technologylehges of
customers in key industries. With our acquisitibib@bel, we gained expertise in the vertical merke which
Siebel offered industry solutions. We have alscaexied our offerings in a number of other key indestwe view
as strategic to our future growth, most notablyeiail with our acquisitions of Retek, Inc. and el other
companies; in banking and financial institutionshwaur acquisition of i-flex solutions limited; ainl
telecommunications with our acquisitions of Po8aftware, Inc. and MetaSolv, Inc. These acquiredistry
applications are in addition to industry applicaiave developed for healthcare, life sciences, fiaatwring,
education, professional services, public sectoritities.

New software license revenues from applicationsasok represented 29%, 27% and 19% of new softlicamese
revenues in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respegtivel

Applications Unlimited

In fiscal 2006, we announced we would continuent@st in enhancements to our current Oracle E-BgsiSuite,
PeopleSoft Enterprise, JD Edwards EnterpriseOné&diards World and Siebel applications producthdythe
delivery of Oracle Fusion Applications (describexddw). In January 2007, we delivered five new reésaof these
existing product lines, incorporating new produantsl customer-driven enhancements in areas sudblze g
support, localization, middleware, and analyticstithe Applications Unlimited program, customerfi ot be
required to migrate to Oracle Fusion Applicationd anay choose to stay with their current produsdiwith
dedicated development and support teams.

Fusion Applications

Oracle Fusion Applications, currently in developimeapresent the next generation of Oracle Appbest, based c
a servicesriented platform, built on open industry standasidendable by customers and partners and intexble
with third party and existing installations. Fusigpplications are being designed to leverage teefbactionality
and combine the best features, flows and usalilifis of our legacy and acquired application priglinto one
product line. We believe the resulting suite oflaggtions will deliver a superior ownership expege through
improved usability, adaptive business process aatiom, built-in business intelligence and industpecific
capabilities.

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’rdumeestments in Oracle technology and applicatioyn
offering lifetime support, product enhancements apglrades. Software license updates provide cussowith
rights to unspecified software product upgradesraathtenance releases and patches released dueiberin of the
support period. Product support includes internettalephone access to technical support perséoeeked in our
global support centers, as well as internet admetechnical content. Software license updatespaoduct support
are generally priced as a percentage of the netwan license fees. Substantially all of our custypurchase
software license updates and product support wi@ndcquire new software licenses. In additionstauttially all
of our customers renew their software license wgxlanhd product support contracts annually.

Unbreakable Linux Support

During fiscal 2007, we introduced a program to supthe Linux open source operating system foraustomers’
IT platforms. Oracle Unbreakable Linux, a suppaodgoam that provides enterprises with industry-iegdlobal
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support for Linux, addresses customer demand dierénterprise-quality Linux support. The Oracle téalable
Linux support program delivers fully tested, highatity, comprehensive and integrated support smhgtto our
customers using the Linux operating system. Withalér solutions on Linux, our customers benefit fitwgh
performance, reliability and data security at &titn of the cost of proprietary platforms. Oradiebreakable Linu:
also allows us to offer end-to-end support for customers’ entire software “stack,” including eptése
applications, middleware, database and operatis@sy

Our software license updates and product suppeeniees represented 46% of total revenues in bethlfP007 an
2006 and 45% of total revenues in fiscal 2005.

Services Busines

Consulting

Oracle Consulting assists our customers in suaassieploying our applications and technology pro. Our
consulting services include business strategy aatysis; business process optimization; productéementation,
enhancement, and upgrades; and ongoing managedeserihese services help our customers to achieve
measurable business results, manage their totebtownership, and reduce their deployment risk.

Oracle Consulting deploys professionals globallijzing our blended delivery capabilities, includinise of onsite
consultants and personnel from our offshore defieenters and applications solutions centers terbme
economies of scale for our customers. Consultingmaes represented 16% of total revenues in f&@r and 159
of total revenues in both fiscal 2006 and fisca020

On Demand

On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, CRM On DeraaddAdvanced Customer Services. Oracle On Demand
provides multifeatured software and hardware management, andanainmce services for customers that deploy
database, middleware and applications softwarerad&@ta center facilities or at a site of our castds choosing.

We recently expanded our Oracle On Demand offeriagsclude our PeopleSoft, Siebel Business Imgefice and
retail applications. CRM On Demand is a servicerirfig that provides our customers with our SiedeMC

Software functionality delivered via a hosted soluthat we manage. Advanced Customer Servicedsterg

solution support centers, business critical assigtatechnical account management, expert sendoefiguration

and performance analysis, personalized supporaandal on-site technical services. On Demand rea@nu
represented 3% of total revenues in fiscal 200062hd 2005.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as part of our mission of accelerating tlop@oin of our
technology around the world. We currently offeribands of courses covering all of Oraglpfoduct offerings. Oi
training is provided primarily through public andyate instructor-led classroom events, but is atsale available
through a variety of online courses and self panedia training on CD-ROMs. In addition, we alsceofh
certification program certifying database admimitirs, developers and implementers. Oracle Uniyeatso offers
User Adoption Services designed to provide compreive training services to help customers get thstraut of
their investment in Oracle. Education revenuesasgmted 2% of total revenues in fiscal 2007, 20052005.

Marketing and Sales
Sales Distribution Channel:

We directly market and sell our products and ses/jarimarily through our subsidiary sales and servi
organizations. In the United States our sales andce employees are based in our headquarterm diedd offices
throughout the United States. Outside the UnitedieSt our international subsidiaries license apgaet our
products in their local countries as well as witbther foreign countries where we do not operateuih a direct
sales subsidiary.
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We also market our products worldwide through iedirchannels. The companies that comprise ourdodadhanne
network are members of the Oracle PartnerNetwdnk. Qracle PartnerNetwork is a global program theages
our business relationships with a large, broadetda®twork of companies, including independentwgmi® vendors,
system integrators and resellers who deliver intiegaolutions and services based upon our prodBgteffering
our partners’ access to our premier products, egunzd information, technical services, marketimgl sales
support, the OPN program extends our market reggrdwviding our partners with the resources thegthi® be
successful in delivering solutions to customerdally.

International Markets

We sell our products and provide services worldwider geographic coverage allows us to draw onnassi and
technical expertise from a worldwide workforce, ydes stability to our operations and revenue stietd offset
geography-specific economic trends and offers uspgortunity to take advantage of new markets fodpcts. A
summary of our domestic and international reverameklong-lived assets is set forth in Note 15 ofdsdo
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cyclicality and Seasonality

General economic conditions have an impact on asiness and financial results. The markets in whiersell our
products and services have, at times, experieneadt wconomic conditions that have negatively adfidcevenues.
Our quarterly results reflect distinct seasonatityhe sale of our products and services, as aanges are typically
highest in our fourth fiscal quarter and lowesbin first fiscal quarter. See “Quarterly Result$Ogferations” in
Item 7 for a more complete description of the aality and seasonality of our revenues and expenses

Customers

Our customer base consists of a significant nurobbusinesses of many sizes and industries, govamhagencies,
educational institutions and resellers. No singistamer accounted for 10% or more of revenuesaafi2007,
2006 or 2005.

Competition

The enterprise software industry is intensely cditipe and evolving rapidly. We compete in variaegments of
this industry including database software, middien@usiness intelligence, application integratjportal server,
J2EE application server, development tools andtitjemanagement), collaboration, development toefgerprise
applications, consulting/systems integration anerafing systems, among others. Total cost of ovnigrs
performance, functionality, ease of use, standaoaspliance, product reliability, security and gtyabf technical
support are key competitive factors that face wsaich of the areas in which we compete. Our custare also
demanding less complexity and lower cost in thel@mgntation, sourcing, integration and ongoing rieaiance of
their enterprise software, which has led incredgitagour product offerings (database, middlewaré applications
being viewed as a “stack” of software designed ¢okvtogether. Our product sales (and the relatirength of our
products versus our competitors) are also affeloyeithe broader “platform” competition between inystandard
Java (J2EE) and Microsoft Corporation’s .NET progmaing environments and by operating system conipetit
between Windows Server, Unix (Sun Solaris, HP-UX BM AIX) and Linux. Open source alternatives to
commercial software, such as MySQL AB in databBsa| Hat, Inc. (JBoss) in middleware, and SugarCR in
applications, are also impacting the competitiveiramment. These products are typically offerea foé charge and
are readily available over the internet. Finallgn ‘demandtfferings, such as those from salesforce.com, goatic
alter the competitive landscape.

In the sale of database software and related tecddability, reliability, availability and secuyiaire key competitive
differentiators for us. Our competitors includeeimational Business Machines Corporation (IBM), tdsoft,
Sybase, Inc., NCR CorporatianTeradata division, SAS Institute, Inc., InformatiCorporation, and the open sot
databases, MySQL and PostgreSQL, among othersalfllity to continually innovate and differentiataradatabase
offering has enabled us to maintain our leadingtiomsin database software over our competitors.
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In the sale of middleware products, our offeringdude business intelligence, application integratbusiness
process management (BPM), service oriented art¢higsgportal, J2EE application server, developneois and
identity management software. Our ability to offieiull range of rich functionality in a standardsskd, open
architecture has been a key competitive differémtiadur competitors include IBM, Microsoft, BEA &gms, Inc.,
SAP AG, Sun Microsystems Inc., Sybase and operceatandors such as Red Hat (JBoss), Apache Geraricho
ObjectWeb, as well as other competitors in eacimet# of our packaged functions. Business intelligen
competitors include Actuate Corporation, Businebge€ts S.A., Cognos Incorporated, MicroStrategy,,IBAS
Institute, TIBCO Software, Inc. (Spotfire), operusme vendors Netezza Corporation, and others. Agidin server
competitors include Borland Software Corporationjjtu Software Corporation, Hitachi Software Eregring Co.
Ltd., Adobe Systems Incorporated and others. Erigerg\pplication Integration competitors includeft8are AG
(webMethods), TIBCO, IONA Technologies PLC, Sondgftvare Corporation, Sun Microsystems and othePiVIB
competitors include Lombardi Software, Inc., Sawyilmc., Pegasystems Inc. and others. Enterprigalp@ndors
include Vignette Corporation, Novell, Inc., Fujitaand others. Identity management vendors inclgdé, ICA, Inc.,
Sun Microsystems and Hewlett-Packard Company, arotimgrs. Open source vendors Red Hat and Novelllace
increasingly bundling middleware functionality witteir respective Linux distributions. Our middleeaolutions
have experienced rapid growth in recent yearsiveléd our competitors. In the sale of collabomatoducts, we
compete primarily with Microsoft (Exchange/Outlopk}M (Domino/Notes), Novell (Groupwise) and Cisco
Systems, Inc. (WebEXx). In addition, we competémrelated content management markets with EMC @atjon
(Documentum), IBM (FileNet), Percussion Software;.land Vignette, among others.

In the sale of development tools, ease of usedatas-compliance and the level of abstraction faated code
generation) are key competitive differentiators. ¥denpete against IBM (WebSphere Studio), Micro8oft
(VisualStudio.NET), Sun Microsystems (Sun Studiy)base (PowerBuilder) and others, including Eclipse
Foundation, Inc. (Eclipse), an open source ventloe. success of our development tools is closeftedito the
relative popularity of our platform (database anddteware) compared to our competitors, as wethadarger
competition between Java and Microsoft's .NET.

The sale of applications software, in particularghanging rapidly due to the development and gepémt of
service oriented architectures and web servicgsdicagtion integration middleware as well as “softevas a service”
offerings, such as those from salesforce.com agttRbw Technologies Inc. in CRM applications. Aseault of
our acquisitions of PeopleSoft and Siebel, we pridgeffer several product lines, which are suiteddifferent
needs of customers in different industries. We catmpgainst SAP, Lawson Software, Inc., Infor Gl@wdutions
GmbH (SSA Global Technologies, Extensity), Micraddynamics (Great Plains, Solomon, Axapta, Navigion
Sage, Inc. and many other application providergs€hnclude numerous point solution providers sasckpicor
Software Corporation (accounting), SunGard Datae®ys Inc. (treasury), Kronos Incorporated (time and
attendance), Taleo Corporation (recruitment), @afliSoftware Inc. (compensation), Automatic DatzcPssing,
Inc. (HR, payroll and business process outsourciagha, Inc. (procurement), i2 Technologies, I(supply chain
management), IBM (MRO Software) (enterprise assgtagement), DSCI Corporation (logistics), Broaarisiinc.
(marketing), Kana Software, Inc. (analytics), sfilese.com (sales force automation) and Amdocs ldth{tustome
service). In addition, we compete with numerousciEdized applications providers focused in speaiBctical
industries, such as financial services, retail @hecommunications. SAP is a major competitor iargundustry
vertical. Specialized industry vertical solutiongls as retail and banking are also influenced eayithe presence
of customized solutions and in-house development.

With SOA, our packaged applications also competh wistom solutions either developed in-house dalne
systems integrators such as Accenture Ltd. or IBbb&@ Services. Our pre-packaged applications edsopete
against business process outsourcers including Aifdlejity Investments, Ceridian Corporation, Hev@ttborg
Limited and others. Our application products aghiected around a single database model, whichekeve is a
key differentiator between our most significant qatitors and us.

In the sale of operating systems, we introducedppaart and service offering for Red Hat’'s open setktinux
operating system in fiscal 2007. This puts us reaicompetition with Red Hat, Novell, CanonicadlL{Ubuntu)
and others in the sale of support for the Linuxrapieg system; with IBM, Sun, H-P and others in shé& of Unix
operating systems; and with Microsoft in the sdl@indows server operating systems.




Table of Contents

In the sale of consulting and systems integrat@wises, we both partner with and compete agaisseAture,
Electronic Data Systems Corporation, IBM Globah&ass, Bearing Point, Inc., CapGemini Group and ynathers

Research and Development

We develop the majority of our products internaltyaddition, we have acquired technology througkitess
acquisitions. We also purchase or license intaledqtroperty rights in certain circumstances. Imd¢development
allows us to maintain technical control over thsige and development of our products. We have aoenmf
United States and foreign patents and pending egifains that relate to various aspects of our prtsdand
technology. While we believe that our patents haalae, no single patent is essential to us or yocdour principal
business segments.

Research and development expenditures were $AcdhbB$1.9 billion and $1.5 billion, or 12%, 13%hth3% of
total revenues, in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005,aethyely. As a percentage of new software licemsemues,
research and development expenditures were 37% aB@P87% in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respegtiapid
technological advances in hardware and softwareldpment, evolving standards in computer hardwade a
software technology, changing customer needs augiént new product introductions and enhancements
characterize the software markets in which we cdeip&/'e plan on continuing to dedicate a signifiambunt of
resources to research and development efforts iotanaand improve our current product offeringslirding our
database, middleware and applications software.

Employees

As of May 31, 2007, we employed 74,674 full-timepdoyees, including 16,902 in sales and marketing{®in
license updates and product support, 25,068 irice=rv18,130 in research and development and Th7§eneral
and administrative positions. Of these employeB93D were located in the United States and 48)634
employed internationally. None of our employeethim United States is represented by a labor umiowgver, in
certain international subsidiaries workers coun@fsgresent our employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporigqorm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and ameds
to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and16{ the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aredndre
available, free of charge, on our Investor Relatioeb site at www.oracle.com/investor as soon asorebly
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eaclge Commission.
The information posted on our web site is not ipooated into this Annual Report.
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Executive Officers and Significant Employees of th®egistrant

Our executive officers and significant employeeasl|ested below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Ellisol Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directc

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Charles E. Phillips, Jr President and Directt

Keith G. Block Executive Vice President, North America Sales andgQlting

Sergio Giacoletto Executive Vice President, Europe, Middle East afritA Sales and
Consulting

Juergen Rottle Executive Vice President, Oracle Support and Or@ciédemanc

Charles A. Rozwe Executive Vice President, Server Technolog

Derek H. Williams Executive Vice President, Asia Pacific Sales and<dtiing

John Wookey Senior Vice President, Applications Developm

Daniel Cooperma Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Aating Officer

Mr. Ellison, 62, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as
Chairman of the Board from May 1995 to January 2004

Mr. Henley, 62, has served as the Chairman of erdsince January 2004 and as a director sinee1R8b. He
served as an Executive Vice President and Chiefrigial Officer from March 1991 to July 2004. Hecaderves as
director of CallWave, Inc.

Ms. Catz, 45, has been Chief Financial Officer siNovember 2005 and a President since January 3b@dhas
served as a Director since October 2001. She wasrinChief Financial Officer from April 2005 untiuly 2005.
She served as an Executive Vice President from Mbee 1999 to January 2004 and Senior Vice Presfdamt
April 1999 to October 1999.

Mr. Phillips, 48, has been a President and hasdeas a Director since January 2004. He servedesuBve Vice
President, Strategy, Partnerships, and Businessl@awent, from May 2003 to January 2004. Priootoipg us,
Mr. Phillips was with Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorpted, a global investment bank, where he was a §ilaga
Director from November 1995 to May 2003 and a Rpalcfrom December 1994 to November 1995. From 1886
1994, Mr. Phillips worked at various investmentkiag firms on Wall Street. Prior to that, Mr. Pipk served as a
Captain in the United States Marine Corps as arimétion technology officer. Mr. Phillips also sesvas a directc
of Morgan Stanley and Viacom Inc.

Mr. Block, 46, has been Executive Vice Presidemt;thl America Sales and Consulting since Septemd@2 2nd
Executive Vice President, North America Consultimgce February 2002. He served as Senior Vice desof
North America Commercial Consulting and Global $@nLines from June 1999 until January 2002. Heextas
Senior Vice President of the Commercial Consulingctice from April 1999 until May 1999. Mr. Blogkas Grou|
Vice President, East Consulting from June 1997 ddirch 1999. Prior to joining us in 1986, Mr. Blowas a
Senior Consultant at Booz, Allen and Hamilton. Kracoletto, 57, has been Executive Vice Presidamtope,
Middle East and Africa Sales and Consulting sinaeJ2000 and Senior Vice President, Business okisince
November 1998. He was Vice President, AlliancesBachnology from March 1997 to November 1998. Be
joining us, he had been President of AT&T SolutifarsEurope since August 1994. Previously, he sgéntears
with Digital Equipment Corporation in various paaits in European marketing and services.
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Mr. Rottler, 40, has been Executive Vice Presidémacle Support and Oracle On Demand since Septe2oiod.
Prior to joining us, he served as Senior Vice Ries, Public Sector, Customer Solutions Group atlee-Packard
Company (HP), from December 2003 to September 200dre he was responsible for HP’s worldwide Public
Sector, Health and Education business. Mr. Rottks Vice President, HP Services Worldwide Saleshaiketing
from May 2003 to December 2003, Vice President3d¢R/ices Worldwide Marketing, Strategy and Allias¢em
May 2002 to May 2003 and Vice President and GerMaalager, HP Services North America from April 2060
May 2002.

Mr. Rozwat, 59, has been Executive Vice Presidgetyer Technologies since November 1999 and sav&knio
Vice President, Database Server from December &®@&tober 1999. He served as Vice President oEDgment
from December 1994 to November 1996. Prior to f@niis, he spent 17 years in various positions gitdi
Equipment Corporation.

Mr. Williams, 62, has been Executive Vice Presidésia Pacific Sales and Consulting since Octold®02and
Senior Vice President, Asia Pacific from July 1983ctober 2000. He served as Vice President, Ragfic from
April 1991 to July 1993. Mr. Williams joined Oradinited Kingdom in October 1988 and served as Regio
Director, Strategic Accounts from October 1988 {wriA1991.

Mr. Wookey, 48, has been Senior Vice President,lidafions Development since April 2000. Mr. Wookssrved
as Senior Vice President, Financial Applicationsdects from April 1999 to January 2000 and Viceskient,
Financial Applications Products from June 1995 twilk1999. Prior to joining us, he spent eight yeeas Vice
President of Development at Ross Systems, Inc.

Mr. Cooperman, 56, has been Senior Vice Presi@arieral Counsel and Secretary since February Faf.to
joining us, he had been associated with the law &f McCutchen, Doyle, Brown & Enersen (which isan
Bingham McCutchen LLP) since October 1977, anddwded as a partner since June 1983. From Septdia®gr
until February 1997, Mr. Cooperman was Chair ofléive firm’s Business and Transactions Group anchfégpril
1989 through September 1995, he served as the ManBgrtner of the law firm’s San Jose office.

Mr. West, 45, has been Vice President, CorporatarGlter and Chief Accounting Officer since Aprid@7. He
served as Intuit Inc.’s Director of Accounting fréhagust 2005 to March 2007, as The Gap, Inc.’s #tasi
Controller from April 2005 to August 2005, and ais&/President, Finance, at Cadence Design Systam's,
product business from June 2001 to April 2005. Fdamuary 2001 to June 2001, he was Vice PresiHarance
and Corporate Controller at Adecco, Inc. and frootoDer 1998 to November 2000 he served in varios#ipns
with Resource Phoenix.com, most recently as itsiéeat and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. West spbhiyears,
from December 1984 to October 1998, with Arthur Arsn LLP, most recently as a partner.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a rapidly changing economic and telclyical environment that presents numerous riskajy of
which are driven by factors that we cannot corrgbredict. The following discussion, as well as @ritical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” discussion@mit7, highlights some of these risks.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our revenue growth and profitabilit Our
business is influenced by a range of factors ttebayond our control and that we have no comperatilvantage
forecasting. These include:

« general economic and business conditit

« the overall demand for enterprise software andicesy

» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending priorities; a
 general political developmen

A general weakening of the global economy, or @adlanent in government or corporate spending, calglidy and
decrease customer purchases. In addition, the mvearmrism, the war in Iraq and the potentialdtrer hostilities
in various parts of the world, potential public llea@rises, as well as natural disasters, continw®ntribute to a
climate of economic and political uncertainty thatild adversely affect our revenue growth and tesfl
operations. These factors generally have the stsireffect on our sales of software licenses, aradlésser extent,
also affect our renewal rates for software licamseates and product support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dteinaccurate sales forecasts or other factor©ur revenues,
and particularly our new software license revenaes difficult to forecast, and as a result ourrtprey operating
results can fluctuate substantially. We use a ‘lpipé system, a common industry practice, to fostcales and
trends in our business. Our sales personnel matigostatus of all proposals and estimate whersemer will
make a purchase decision and the dollar amouthieagdle. These estimates are aggregated perigdicglenerate
sales pipeline. Our pipeline estimates can proveetanreliable both in a particular quarter andr avlonger period
of time, in part because the “conversion rate’hef pipeline into contracts can be very difficulestimate. A
contraction in the conversion rate, or in the pipeltself, could cause us to plan or budget irectty and adversely
affect our business or results of operations. htiqadar, a slowdown in information technology sgerg or
economic conditions generally can reduce the caiwerate in particular periods as purchasing dmtisare
delayed, reduced in amount or cancelled. The ceiverate can also be affected by the tendencgrgsof our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peiiimthe hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwhdan also
impede our ability to negotiate and execute theséracts in a timely manner. In addition, for newabquired
companies, we have limited ability to predict hdwit pipelines will convert into sales or reventmsone or two
quarters following the acquisition and their corsi@n rate post-acquisition may be quite differeanf their
historical conversion rate. Because a substantidiqn of our new software license revenue consractompleted
in the latter part of a quarter, and our cost stmécis largely fixed in the short term, revenuersfalls tend to have
disproportionately negative impact on our profili#i A delay in even a small number of large nesftware licens:
transactions could cause our quarterly new softleeases revenues to fall significantly short af predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produats!
services and enhance our existing products and 8. Rapid technological advances and evolving statsdiar
computer hardware, software development and conuations infrastructure, changing and increasingly
sophisticated customer needs and frequent new grattroductions and enhancements characterizeriterprise
software market in which we compete. If we are lm& develop new products and services, or to eegand
improve our products and support services in alyime&nner or to position and/grice our products and services
meet market demand, customers may not buy new addtlicenses or renew software license updatepranttiict
support. In addition, information technology stamittafrom both consortia and formal standards-ggftinums as
well as de facto marketplace standards are rapiddving. We cannot provide any assurance thastiedards on
which we choose to develop new products will allsssto compete effectively for business opportusitie
emerging areas.
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We are developing a next generation applicatioafgein that is planned to combine the best featdil®ss and
usability traits of our legacy and acquired apgimas. We have also announced that we intend teneixthe life of
many of our acquired applications and will continagrovide long-term support for our acquired praid, both of
which require us to dedicate resources. If we dalegelop and release these new or enhanced psodndtservice
within the anticipated time frames, if there iseday in market acceptance of a new, enhanced airadgproduct
line or service, if we do not timely optimize coraplentary product lines and services or if we fakdequately
integrate, support or enhance acquired applicditi@s or services, our business may be adverstdgtafl.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may notlizathe financial and strategic goals that werentemplated

at the time of any transaction.In the past three fiscal years, we have invested $25 billion, in the aggregate, to
acquire a number of companies, products, servicgsexrhnologies. An active acquisition programnsrmaportant
element of our overall corporate strategy and weeekto continue to make similar acquisitions i titure. Risks
we may face in connection with our acquisition peog include:

our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesmeugt’s attention may be diverted by acquisition,
transition or integration activitie

an acquisition may not further our business stsatesgwe expected, or we may pay more than the ictjui
company or assets are wor

our due diligence process may fail to identifyadithe problems, liabilities or other shortcomiragys
challenges of an acquired company or technologyudting issues with the company’s intellectual pndyp,
product quality or product architecture, revenwmgnition or other accounting practices or employee
customer or partner issut

we may not realize the anticipated increase inreuenues if a larger than predicted number of ecuete
decline to renew software license updates and jptaipport, if we are unable to sell the acquinestipcts
to our customer base or if contract models of ajused company do not allow us to recognize reverumees
timely basis

we may assume pre-existing contractual relatiossbffacquired companies that we would not have
otherwise entered into, and exiting or modifyingtsuelationships may be costly to us or disruptive
customers

we may face litigation or other claims in connegtwith, or may inherit claims or litigation risk asresult of
an acquisition, including claims from terminatedptoyees, customers or other third part

our relationship with current and new employeestamers, partners and distributors could be imga

we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies or products with our existing product lirsesl
maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedares policies

we may have multiple and overlapping product liags result of our acquisitions that are offereatgo and
supported differently, which could cause custonoefgsion and delay:

we may have higher than anticipated costs in camsupport and development of acquired prodi

we may assume pre-existing liabilities, whethenkn@r unknown, of acquired companies which could be
material;

we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgorernmental authorities under competition andtarst
laws on a timely basis, if it all, which could, angpother things, prevent us from completing a tratien;

we may have to delay or not proceed with a subisiaatquisition if we cannot obtain the necessandfng
to complete the acquisition in a timely manr

our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintiteo potential uses of our cash, including stogurehases
and retirement of outstanding indebtedn
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< we may significantly increase our interest expelearage and debt service requirements if we incur
additional debt to pay for an acquisition; resitltioforeseen difficulties in our integration acties;

- we may have legal and tax exposures or lose aataiptax benefits as a result of unforeseen diffesuin
our integration activities

* we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frommay otherwise have certain limitations, restoiot,
penalties or other sanctions imposed on us by, erariuncils or similar bodies under applicable eyplen
laws as a result of an acquisition, which couldeadely affect our integration plans in certain
jurisdictions; anc

« to the extent that we issue a significant amourgopifity securities in connection with future acdigss,
existing stockholders may be diluted and earniregsshare may decrea:

The occurrence of any of these risks could havatenal adverse effect on our business, resultgefations,
financial condition or cash flows, particularlytime case of a larger acquisition or several coeatiiacquisitions.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent and trade
secret laws, confidentiality procedures, controid eontractual commitments to protect our intellatproperty
rights. Despite our efforts, these protections teyimited. Unauthorized third parties may try tpg or reverse
engineer portions of our products or otherwise indad use our intellectual property. Any patenisied by us ma
be invalidated, circumvented or challenged. Angpwf pending or future patent applications, whetrarot being
currently challenged, may not be issued with ttegpeaf the claims we seek, if at all. In addititve laws of some
countries do not provide the same level of protectif our intellectual property rights as do the@daand courts of
the United States. If we cannot protect our intllal property rights against unauthorized copyingse, or other
misappropriation, we may not remain competitive.

Third parties may claim infringement or misuse dftellectual property rights and/ or breach of lices agreemer
provisions. We periodically receive notices from others claigiinfringement, or other misuse of their intellexdtu
property rights and/or breach of our agreements thiém. We expect the number of such claims wiliéase as the
number of products and competitors in our indusegments grows, the functionality of products aygrthe use
and support of third-party code (including openrsewcode) becomes more prevalent in the softwahesiny, and
the volume of issued software patents continuésci@ase. Responding to any such claim, regardleiss validity,
could:

 be time-consuming, costland/orresult in litigation;
« divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

 require us to pay monetary damages or enter iy@toand licensing agreements that we would not
normally find acceptable

 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdious products
* require us to release source code to third papiessibly under open source license tet
 require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢
 otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash flo
A patent infringement case is discussed under Ribt& our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesent

We may need to change our pricing models to compsetecessfully. The intensely competitive markets in which
we compete can put pressure on us to reduce aaspif our competitors offer deep discounts omadgeiproducts
or services, we may need to lower prices or offeeofavorable terms in order to compete succdgsfuhy such
changes would likely reduce margins and could ablgraffect operating results. Our software licemgéates and
product support fees are generally priced as sepéage of our new license fees. Our competitors ofif@y a lower
percentage pricing on product updates and suppbith could put pressure on us to further discaumtnew
license prices. Any broad-based change to our $eoa@ pricing policies could cause new softwarenise and
services revenues to decline or be delayed asates ®rce implements and our customers adjustgméw pricing
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policies. Some of our competitors may bundle saftwaoducts for promotional purposes or as a lemgpricing
strategy or provide guarantees of prices and ptddyalementations. These practices could, over tsignificantly
constrain the prices that we can charge for oudyets. If we do not adapt our pricing models téefchanges in
customer use of our products, our new software$ieeevenues could decrease. Additionally, incredgsribution
of applications through application service prov&eay reduce the average price for our producssleersely
affect other sales of our products, reducing neftwswe license revenues unless we can offset peidections with
volume increases or lower spending. The increaspém source software distribution may also casse ghange
our pricing models.

We may be unable to compete effectively in a ranfienarkets within the highly competitive softwanedustry.
Many vendors develop and market databases, inteppdication server products, application developiteols,
business applications, collaboration products arginess intelligence products that compete withofi@rings. In
addition, several companies offer business prooetsourcing (BPO) as a competitive alternativeugifg softwart
and customer interest in BPO solutions is increastome of these competitors have greater financigchnical
resources than we do. Our competitors that offsinass applications and application server produetg influence
a customer’s purchasing decision for the underlgagbase in an effort to persuade potential custeomot to
acquire our products. We could lose market shasaritompetitors introduce new competitive produatkl new
functionality, acquire competitive products, redpciees or form strategic alliances with other camips. Vendors
that offer BPO solutions may persuade our custometrso purchase our products. We may also fagedsing
competition from open source software initiativieswhich competitors may provide software and iettlal
property free. Existing or new competitors coulthgaarket share in any of our markets at our expens

Our periodic sales force restructurings can be diptive. We continue to rely heavily on our direct salesé. We
have in the past restructured or made other ad@grgsrio our sales force in response to managerhanges,
product changes, performance issues, acquisitioth®#ner internal and external considerationshénpast, sales
force restructurings have generally resulted ienagorary lack of focus and reduced productivitgsth effects cou
recur in connection with future acquisitions anklestrestructurings and our revenues could be nedataffected.

Disruptions of our indirect sales channel could &€t our future operating results Our indirect channel network
is comprised primarily of resellers, system intégirs{implementers, consultants, education provideternet
service providers, network integrators and indepahdoftware vendors. Our relationships with thasmnel
participants are important elements of our markeéind sales efforts. Our financial results couldtheersely
affected if our contracts with channel participantye terminated, if our relationships with chanpesiticipants wei
to deteriorate, if any of our competitors enteoistrategic relationships with or acquire a siguaifit channel
participant or if the financial condition of ouraimel participants were to weaken. There can kessarance that
we will be successful in maintaining, expandingleveloping our relationships with channel partioigalf we are
not successful, we may lose sales opportunitiegpmers and market share.

Charges to earnings resulting from past acquisit®may adversely affect our operating resultéJnder purchase
accounting, we allocate the total purchase pri@ntacquired company’s net tangible assets, irltéagssets and
in-process research and development based orfdireialues as of the date of the acquisition awbrd the excess
of the purchase price over those fair values aslgio Management’s estimates of fair value aredolspon
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whiclhegently uncertain. Going forward, the followifagtors couli
result in material charges that would adverselgcfbur results:

« impairment of goodwill or intangible asse

« identification of assumed contingent liabilitiedsaquent to the finalization of the purchase price
allocation; anc

 charges to income to eliminate certain Oracle peeger activities that duplicate those of the aalir
company or to reduce our cost structi

Charges to earnings associated with acquisitioriade amortization of intangible assets, in-progesgarch and
development as well as other acquisition relatedgds, restructuring and stock-based compensatgntated
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with assumed stock awards. Charges to earningsyigigen period could differ substantially from ettperiods
based on the timing and size of our future acdaisstand the extent of integration activities. 8em 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations—Supplemental
Disclosure Related to Acquisition Accounting andcktBased Compensation” for additional informatadrout
charges to earnings associated with our recentigtiqos.

We expect to continue to incur additional cost®eisded with combining the operations of our presly acquired
companies, which may be substantial. Additionatsasay include costs of employee redeploymentcegion and
retention, including salary increases or bonuselarated amortization of deferred equity compemsand
severance payments, reorganization or closurectitiias, taxes and termination of contracts thavde redundant
or conflicting services. Some of these costs mas i@ be accounted for as expenses that would asei@ur net
income and earnings per share for the periods inhwthose adjustments are made.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ourenating
results. We derive a substantial portion of our revenaesl, have significant operations, outside of thetédhi
States. Our international operations include sa#vwkevelopment, sales, customer support and shdrathistrative
service centers. We are subject to a variety &brimcluding those related to general economiditmms in each
country or region, regulatory changes, politicalast, terrorism and the potential for other hag#i and public
health risks, particularly in areas in which we éaignificant operations. We face challenges inagarg an
organization operating in various countries, wtiah entail longer payment cycles and difficultiegollecting
accounts receivable, overlapping tax regimes, ditdns in currency exchange rates, difficultiegramsferring
funds from certain countries and reduced protedtorintellectual property rights in some countriédge must
comply with a variety of international laws and ukgions, including trade restrictions, local laloodinances,
changes in tariff rates and import and export kbeg requirements. Our success depends, in paaioability to
anticipate these risks and manage these difficultie

We are a majority shareholder of i-flex solutioimsited, a publicly traded Indian software compaagiused on the
banking industry. As the majority shareholder ofrarrnational entity, we are faced with severaliidnal risks,
including being subject to local securities regolas and being unable to exert full control or abfanancial and
other information on a timely basis.

We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&¥e conduct a portion of our business in curreotéer
than the United States dollar. Our revenues ancatipg results are adversely affected when theadstrengthens
relative to other currencies and are positivelgetifd when the dollar weakens. Changes in the dlomajor
foreign currencies, particularly the Euro, Japanése and British Pound relative to the United Statellar can
significantly affect revenues and our operatingiitss

Our foreign currency transaction gains and logsesarily related to sublicense fees and otherements among
us and our subsidiaries and distributors, are etbagainst earnings in the period incurred. Werénte foreign
exchange forward contracts to hedge certain tréiosaand translation exposures in major currendiaswe will
continue to experience foreign currency gains asdds in certain instances where it is not possibt®st effective
to hedge foreign currencies.

Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demand may not be sgstd. We offer Oracle On Demand outsourcing
services for our applications and database techggiptielivered either at our data center facilibest a site of our
customer’s choosing. We also offer CRM On Demartdckvis a service offering that provides our custosrwith
our Siebel CRM software functionality delivered aidosted solution that we manage. These businedsis
continue to evolve and we may not be able to coemeffectively, generate significant revenues orettiy them inti
profitable businesses. We incur expenses assoaidtiedhe infrastructures and marketing of our Qga@n Deman
and CRM On Demand businesses in advance of odtyabilrecognize the revenues associated with our
subscription-based contracts. These businessesilject to a variety of risks including:

« demand for these services may not meet our expatss

* we may not be able to operate these businessesaataptable profit leve
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< we manage critical customer applications, dataahdr confidential information through Oracle Onnind
and CRM On Demand; accordingly, we face increaggdsure to significant damage claims and risk to
future business prospects in the event of systdarda or inadequate disaster recovery or misapatpn
of customer confidential informatio

* we may face regulatory exposure in certain areels as data privacy, data security and export canpé, a
well as workforce reduction claims as a resultudtomers transferring their information technology
functions to us

« the laws and regulations applicable to hosted sepioviders are unsettled, particularly in theaaref
privacy and security and use of offshore resourdesnges in these laws could affect our abilitprimvide
services from or to some locations and could irsgdzoth the costs and risks associated with prayittie
services

» demand for these services may be affected by cestand media concerns about security risks and®oti
outsourced services providers more generally;

« our offerings may require large fixed costs sucfoaslata centers, computers, network infrastriecard
security and we may not be able to generate sefficevenues to offset these costs and generatptabte
operating margins from these offerin

We may be unable to hire enough qualified employeesve may lose key employee§Ve rely on the continued
service of our senior management, including oue€Chkecutive Officer, members of our executive teard other
key employees and the hiring of new qualified empés. In the software industry, there is substhatid
continuous competition for highly skilled businegsyduct development, technical and other persommalddition,
acquisitions could cause us to lose key persorfrtelecacquired companies or at Oracle. We may épee
increased compensation costs that are not offseithgr improved productivity or higher prices. \Wiay not be
successful in recruiting new personnel and in nittgi and motivating existing personnel. With raxeaptions, we
do not have long-term employment or non-competiigreements with our employees. Members of oupseni
management team have left Oracle over the yeais ¥ariety of reasons, and we cannot assure yaduhibie will
not be additional departures, which may be disvegib our operations.

We continually focus on improving our cost struetbiy hiring personnel in countries where advaneetrical
expertise is available at lower costs. When we naalfjestments to our workforce, we may incur expsrmssociate
with workforce reductions that delay the benefitahore efficient workforce structure. We may asperience
increased competition for employees in these c@m#s the trend toward globalization continuescivimay affect
our employee retention efforts and/or increaseeapenses in an effort to offer a competitive conspéon
program.

Part of our total compensation program includeskstptions. Stock options are an important toatinacting and
retaining employees in our industry. If our stocice performs poorly it may adversely affect ouiligbto retain or
attract employees. In addition, because we nowresgall stock-based compensation, we may in thedwthange
our stock-based and other compensation practicese ®f the changes we are considering includegtiection in
the number of employees granted options, a reduatithe number of options granted and a changdtéonative
forms of stock-based compensation. Any changesiirtempensation practices or changes made by caorget
could affect our ability to retain and motivatestiig personnel and recruit new personnel.

We might experience significant errors or securftgws in our products and servicesDespite testing prior to
their release, software products frequently congainrs or security flaws, especially when firgtanluced or when
new versions are released. The detection and tiomeaf any security flaws can be time consumingd eostly.
Errors in our software products could affect thiitglof our products to work with other hardwareswoftware
products, could delay the development or releasewfproducts or new versions of products and cadidrsely
affect market acceptance of our products. If weeegmce errors or delays in releasing new prodorctew version
of products, we could lose revenues. In additios run our own business operations, Oracle On Depaarttiother
outsourcing, support and consulting services, arpoaducts and networks and any security flawsxgloited,
could affect our ability to conduct business operet. End users, who rely on our products and sesvior
applications that are critical to their businesseay have a greater sensitivity to product errocs gecurity
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vulnerabilities than customers for software prodggnerally. Software product errors and seculidtyd in our
products or services could expose us to produailitiy performance and/or warranty claims as veallharm our
reputation, which could impact our future salepmiducts and services. In addition, we may be hegafuired to
publicly report security breaches of our serviegsich could adversely impact future business protspir those
services.

We may not receive significant revenues from oumr@nt research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at
all. Developing and localizing software is expensind the investment in product development often ve®a
long payback cycle. We have made and expect tareanto make significant investments in softwargesrch and
development and related product opportunities. kcated product introductions and short produet dijcles
require high levels of expenditures for researath @evelopment that could adversely affect our apegaesults if
not offset by revenue increases. We believe thanwst continue to dedicate a significant amoumesburces to
our research and development efforts to maintaircompetitive position. However, we do not expectdceive
significant revenues from these investments foesswears if at all.

Our sales to government clients subject us to rigkduding early termination, audits, investigatian sanctions
and penalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the UnBéates government, state and local governments
and their respective agencies, which may termimaist of these contracts at any time, without cause.

There is increased pressure for governments atirdatipencies, both domestically and internationatiyreduce
spending. Our federal government contracts areesuty the approval of appropriations being madékyUnited
States Congress to fund the expenditures undeg ttwgracts. Similarly, our contracts at the sta local levels
are subject to government funding authorizations.

Additionally, government contracts are generallgjsat to audits and investigations which could leswarious
civil and criminal penalties and administrative a#ons, including termination of contracts, refuwfda portion of
fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspensiopafments, fines and suspensions or debarmentftrumre
government business.

Business disruptions could affect our operating tas. A significant portion of our research and deveient
activities and certain other critical business afiens is concentrated in a few geographic areasak&' a highly
automated business and a disruption or failureuosgstems could cause delays in completing salépeoviding
services, including some of our On Demand offeridgmajor earthquake, fire or other catastrophierg\that
results in the destruction or disruption of anyof critical business or information technologytsyss could
severely affect our ability to conduct normal besis operations and as a result our future operagdts could be
materially and adversely affected.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busirgee: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgafton can be
lengthy, expensive, and disruptive to our operatiand results cannot be predicted with certaintyafverse
decision could result in monetary damages or irtjuacaelief that could affect our business, op&mgtiesults or
financial condition. Additional information regangj certain of the lawsuits we are involved in iscdissed under
Note 21 in our Notes to Consolidated FinancialeStegnts

PeopleSofs Customer Assurance Program may expose us to sl liabilities if triggered. In June 2003, in
response to our tender offer, PeopleSoft implentewteat it referred to as the “customer assuranagram” or
“CAP”. The CAP incorporated a provision in Peopl&Scstandard licensing arrangement that purparts t
contractually burden Oracle, as a result of itsuggition of PeopleSoft, with a contingent obligatim make
payments to PeopleSoft customers should Oracléoféalke certain business actions for a fixed pkobtime
subsequent to the acquisition. The payment obtigativhich typically expires four years from thealaf the
contract, is fixed at an amount generally betweandnd five times the license and first year supfe@s paid to
PeopleSoft in the applicable license transactidvis purported obligation was not reflected as hilitg on
PeopleSoft balance sheet as PeopleSoft concluded thatld beuriggered only following the consummatioraot
acquisition. PeopleSoft used six different standamions of the CAP over the 18-month period comzivegy June
2003. PeopleSoft ceased using the CAP on Decen8h@0P4, the date on which we acquired a contiplimerest
in PeopleSoft. We have concluded that, as of the afethe PeopleSoft acquisition, the penalty pioris under the
CAP represented a contingent liability of OracleeTaggregate potential CAP obligation as of May 31,

19




Table of Contents

2007 was $3.2 billion. Unless the CAP provisiores moved from these licensing arrangements, wetexpect
the aggregate potential CAP obligation to decluessantially until fiscal year 2008 when a sigrafi¢ number of
these provisions begin to expire. The last CAPgattion will expire on December 31, 2008. We haveracorded a
liability related to the CAP, as we do not beliévis probable that our post-acquisition activitietated to the
PeopleSoft product line will trigger an obligatitmmake any payment pursuant to the CAP.

In addition, while no assurance can be given akdaltimate outcome of litigation, we believe weuld also have
substantial defenses with respect to the legatityenforceability of the CAP contract provisiong@sponse to any
claims seeking payment from Oracle under the CARgeWhile we have taken extensive steps to assigtemers
that we intend to continue developing and suppgtttie PeopleSoft and JD Edwards product lines araf May 31
2007 we have not received any claims for CAP paysyéteopleSoft customers may assert claims for CAP
payments.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitieAs a multinational corporation, we are subjeantmme taxes
as well as non-income based taxes, in both theedi8tates and various foreign jurisdictions. Sigaift judgment
is required in determining our worldwide provisifam income taxes and other tax liabilities.

In the ordinary course of a global business, thageemany intercompany transactions and calculatidrese the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We araufady under audit by tax authorities. Our intergzany transfer
pricing is currently being reviewed by the IRS doydforeign tax jurisdictions and will likely be sjglt to additional
audits in the future. We previously negotiated ¢tweilateral Advance Pricing Agreements with th& lfRat cover
many of our intercompany transfer pricing issued @reclude the IRS from making a transfer pricidfustment
within the scope of these agreements. Howeveretageeements, which are effective for fiscal yéamsugh

May 31, 2006, do not cover all elements of ourgfanpricing and do not bind tax authorities owtstide United
States. We have finalized one bilateral AdvanceilgiAgreement and currently are negotiating anteatcl
bilateral agreement to cover the period from Jurz001 through May 31, 2008. There can be no gtreeahat suc
negotiations will result in an agreement.

Although we believe that our tax estimates arearalsle, we cannot assure you that the final detetioin of tax
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psins and accrual

We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchwaslpaales, use, value-added, net worth, propenty goods and
services taxes, in both the United States and waifioreign jurisdictions. We are regularly undediaby tax
authorities with respect to these non-income taxesmay have exposure to additional non-incoméidaxities.
Our acquisition activities have increased our nmeine tax exposures.

There are risks associated with our outstanding @iidedness. As of May 31, 2007, we had an aggregate of
$6.3 billion of outstanding indebtedness that wiiture between 2009 and 2016 and we may incuriadalit
indebtedness in the future. Our ability to payriest and repay the principal for our indebtedngstependent upon
our ability to manage our business operations hadther factors discussed in this section. Thanebe no
assurance that we will be able to manage any skthisks successfully. In addition, changes byratipg agency t
our outlook or credit rating could negatively atfétee value and liquidity of both our debt and égsecurities.

Our stock price could become more volatile and ydawestment could lose valueAll of the factors discussed in
this section could affect our stock price. The tignof announcements in the public market regardang products,
product enhancements or technological advancesibgampetitors or us, and any announcements by us o
acquisitions, major transactions, or managememgggacould also affect our stock price. Our staoteps subject
to speculation in the press and the analyst comywiianges in recommendations or earnings estinigte
financial analysts, changes in investors’ or artalysluation measures for our stock, our credihgs and market
trends unrelated to our performance. A signifiaoip in our stock price could also expose us taigieof
securities class actions lawsuits, which couldltésisubstantial costs and divert managementenétin and
resources, which could adversely affect our busines

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devedspintonsulting
and administrative personnel. Our headquarterstfaconsists of approximately 3.8 million squaeefin Redwoo
City, California. We also own or lease office f@@s for current use consisting of approximatedySimillion squar
feet in various other locations in the United Stated abroad. Due to our restructuring and mergegiation
activities over the past three fiscal years, weehzacated approximately 3.4 million square feet®i7% of total
owned and leased space. This additional spacdistsur being actively marketed for sublease opasgion.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 21 of Notes to Cdidsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AairReport on
Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Rdated Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globake8&eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beededa
on NASDAQ since our initial public offering in 198Bccording to the records of our transfer agemt,had 21,443
stockholders of record as of May 31, 2007. The nitgjof our shares are held in approximately 1.8iam custome
accounts held by brokers and other institutionbeimalf of stockholders. However, we believe thatrthmber of
total stockholders is less than 1.2 million dusttckholders with accounts at more than one brgjeeréhe
following table sets forth the low and high salegmof our common stock, based on the last daily, saeach of ot
last eight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarte $ 16.37 $ 19.4: $ 124: $ 14.9¢
Third Quartel $ 16.2¢ $ 19.2¢ $ 12.1¢ $ 13.1-
Second Quarte $ 1550 $ 19.6¢ $ 11.9¢ $ 13.6¢
First Quarte! $ 13.1f $ 15.8] $ 12.3¢  $ 14.0¢

Our policy has been to reinvest earnings to funidréugrowth, acquisitions and to repurchase ourrsomstock
pursuant to a program approved by our Board ofdBars. Accordingly, we have not paid cash divideads do not
anticipate declaring cash dividends on our comntocksn the foreseeable future, although our Badrirectors
regularly reviews this matter.

For equity compensation plan information, pleaserr® Item 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report &orm 10-K.

Stock Repurchase Progran

In 1992, our Board of Directors approved a progtamepurchase shares of our common stock to rettheceilutive
effect of our stock option and stock purchase pl&he Board has expanded the repurchase progragnaséwmes
by either increasing the authorized number of shrde repurchased or by authorizing a fixed daltaount
expansion. From the inception of the stock repwselaogram to May 31, 2007, a total of 2.0 billgdrares have
been repurchased for approximately $24.7 billionApril 2007, our Board expanded our repurchasgnara by
$4.0 billion and, as of May 31, 2007, approximat®y2 billion was available to repurchase sharesuoftcommon
stock pursuant to the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not haxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsiatill
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions, our dejpayment
obligations, our stock price, and economic and eiacknditions. Our stock repurchases may be efidcben time
to time through open market purchases or purswaamtRule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase prognambe
accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinusaydtme.
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The following table summarizes the stock repurcleadiwity for the three months ending May 31, 2@0id the
approximate dollar value of shares that may ygiurehased pursuant to our share repurchase programs

Total Number of

Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Total Number Average Price Part of Publicly Value of Shares that

of Shares Paid Per Announced May Yet Be Purchasec
(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased Share Programs Under the Programs®)
March 1, 200% March31, 2007 19.€6$ 17.3: 19.6$ 864.¢
April 1, 2007- April 30, 2007 16.7% 18.7: 16.7$% 4,552.1
May 1, 2007- May 31, 200: 18.C$ 19.02 18.($ 4,209.(

Total 54.£$ 18.32 54t

@ In April 2007, our Board of Directors authorizea texpansion of our repurchase program by $4.®hil

Stock Performance Graphs and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcker return on our common stock with the cumuéatotal
return on the S&P’s 500 Index and the Dow Jones Bdiware Index for each of the last five fiscahys ended
May 31, 2007, assuming an investment of $100 ab#ugnning of such period and the reinvestmenngf a
dividends. The comparisons in the graphs belovased upon historical data and are not indicativear intendel
to forecast, future performance of our common stock

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG ORACLE CORPORATION, THE S&P 500 INDEX
AND THE DOW JONES U.S. SOFTWARE INDEX
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*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2002 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS.
5/02 5/03 5/04 5/05 5/06 5/07
Oracle Corporatiol 100.0C 164.2° 143.9¢ 161.6: 179.5% 244.7(
S&P 500 Indey 100.0( 91.9¢ 108.7¢ 117.7¢ 127.9: 157.0¢
Dow Jones U.S. Software Ind 100.0C 102.4¢ 111.8¢ 122.4( 116.4. 154.7¢
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Item 6. Selected Financial Date

The following table sets forth selected financialadas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heikected financial
data should be read in conjunction with the consddid financial statements and related notes iedii Item 15 o
this Form 10-Kln the last three fiscal years, we have investeat 825 billion, in the aggregate, for our acquisis
including PeopleSoft, Siebel and Hyperion. The ltesaf our acquired companies have been includexlin
consolidated financial statements since their retbpedates of acquisition.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

(in millions, except per share amounts 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Total revenue $17,99¢  $14,38(  $11,79¢  $10,15¢ $ 9,47¢
Operating incom: $ 5972 $4,73¢ $4,02: $386¢/ $ 3,44(
Net income $427¢ $338 $288 $2681 $230i
Earnings per sha—basic $ 08 $ 06t $ 056 $ 051 $ 0.44
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 08 $ 064 $ 05t $ 05C $ 0.4c
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,17( 5,19¢ 5,13¢ 5,21¢ 5,30z
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,26¢ 5,28 5,231 5,32¢ 5,41¢
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati
Working capital $3,49¢ $50441) $ 38E@ $ 7,06¢ $ 5,06¢
Total asset $34,57:3) $29,0249) $20,681®) $12,76: $10,96"
Short-term borrowings and current portion of loegat

debt $ 1,356 $ 15¢ $ 2,694 $ 9 $ 15t
Long-term debt, net of current portic $ 6,23tM $ 573 $ 15¢ $ 16 $ 17E
Stockholder equity $16,91¢  $15,01: $10,837 $ 7,99t $ 6,32

(@) Total working capital increased as of May 31, 2@@énarily due to the issuance of $5.75 billion amdj-term
senior notes and increased cash flows from opeate redeemed $1.5 billion of this long-term ioigeiness
and issued $2.0 billion of new long-term senioresan fiscal 2007. See Note 5 of Notes to Constditla
Financial Statements for additional informationcum borrowings

(2 Total working capital decreased as of May 31, 200 arily due to cash paid to acquire PeopleSadit @m
increase in our sh¢-term borrowings

() Total assets increased as of May 31, 2007, 200@@08 primarily due to goodwill and intangible ass&rising
from the acquisitions of Hyperion in fiscal 2007el&! in fiscal 2006 and PeopleSoft in fiscal 2088e Note 2 «
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fortamdil information on our acquisition

4) Short-term borrowings increased in fiscal 2007 uamounts borrowed under our commercial paperrprmg
Short-term borrowings increased in fiscal 2005 @uamounts borrowed under our commercial paperrprog
and a loan facility borrowed by Oracle Technologyr@®any, a wholly-owned subsidiary. We repaid tH3@5
borrowings in fiscal 200¢
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe are organized into two businesses, softamde
services, which are further divided into five opgrg segments. Each of these operating segmentsrigise
characteristics and faces different opportunities eéhallenges. Although we report our actual resaltJnited
States dollars, we conduct a significant numberasfsactions in currencies other than United Sidddars.
Therefore, we present constant currency informatgorovide a framework for assessing how our ugter
business performed excluding the effect of foreigrrency rate fluctuations. An overview of our fioperating
segments follows.

Software Busines

Our software business is comprised of two operaggggnents: (1) new software license revenues grab{Rvare
license updates and product support revenues. \Agcethat our software business revenues will ooetio
increase, which should allow us to improve marging profits and continue to make investments inassh and
development.

New Software License« We license our database and middleware as welliaapplications software to busines
of many sizes, government agencies, educationtiutisns and resellers. The growth in new softwarense
revenues is affected by the strength of general@oa and business conditions, governmental budgeta
constraints, the competitive position of our sofevaroducts and acquisitions. The new software$ieeousiness is
also characterized by long sales cycles. The tirofreyfew large software license transactions cdostantially
affect our quarterly new software license reven@@sce our new software license revenues in aquéati quarter
can be difficult to predict as a result of the tigniof a few large software license transactionsbelgeve that
analysis of new software revenues on a trailingidrtr period provides more visibility into the @niging
fundamental performance of our software revenuas #malysis of quarterly revenues. New softwaenke
revenues represented 33% of our total revenuasdal 2007. Our new software license margins haenlaffected
by the amortization of intangible assets associaiilcompanies we have acquired.

Competition in the software business is intense.@@al is to maintain a first or second positioreath of our
software product categories and certain industgynemts as well as to grow our software revenudsrfdsan our
competitors. We believe that the features and fanatity of our software products are as stronthay have ever
been. We have focused on lowering the total costaafership of our software products by improvingegration,
decreasing installation times, lowering administratosts and improving the ease of use. Redubiadatal cost of
ownership of our products provides our custometh wihigher return on their investment, which wieve will
create more demand for our products and servicggm@avide us with a competitive advantage. We tedse
continued to focus on improving the overall quatifyour software products and service levels. Wibe this will
lead to higher customer satisfaction and loyalty help us achieve our goal of becoming our custehteading
technology advisor.

Software License Updates and Product Suppc Customers that purchase software license updateproduct
support are granted rights to unspecified prodpgrades and maintenance releases issued durisgppert perioc
as well as technical support assistance. In fd@ar, we also introduced Oracle Unbreakable Linupm®rt, which
provides enterprise level support for the Linuxrapieg system. Substantially all of our customerserwv their
software license updates and product support ctsteannually. The growth of software license upslated product
support revenues is influenced by three factosth@ support contract base of companies acquigédhe renewal
rate of the support contract base and (3) the atrafurew support contracts sold in connection il sale of new
software licenses.

Software license updates and product support resenwhich represent approximately 46% of our taaénues in
fiscal 2007, are our highest margin business @uipport margins during fiscal 2007 were 90%, armbawted for
76% of our total margins over the same respectirigd. We believe that software license updatespaaduct
support revenues and margins will continue to gimwhe following reasons:

« Acquisitions over the past three years have sicguifily increased our support contract base, asasdhe
portfolio of products available to be licens
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« Substantially all customers purchase license updatd product support when they buy new software
licenses, resulting in a further increase in oyapsut contract base. Even if new license revenow/gr was
flat, software license updates and product suppernues would continue to grow assuming renewal an
cancellation rates remained relatively constardessubstantially all new software license transastiadd to
the support contract bas

» Substantially all of our customers, including cuséss from acquired companies, renew their support
contracts when eligible for renew

We record adjustments to reduce support obligati@ssmed in business acquisitions to their estuifaievalue at
the acquisition dates. As a result, as requirebdusiness combination accounting rules, we did @ecbgnize
software license updates and product support regeralated to support contracts that would have bé&eerwise
recorded by acquired businesses as independeti¢égitithe amount of $212 million, $391 millioncan

$320 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respty. To the extent underlying support contracts enewed
with us following an acquisition, we will recogniiee revenues for the full value of the supporttasts over the
support periods, the majority of which are one year

Services Busines

Our services business consists of consulting, Ondhel and education revenues. Our services businbisd)
represents 21% of our total revenues in fiscal 2068 significantly lower margins than our softwhusiness.

Consulting: Consulting revenues have increased primarilytduwmnsulting services provided by i-flex as wall a
an increase in application implementations crebteldigher sales of new software applications okiergast year.
We expect consulting revenues to continue to gre@woasulting revenues tend to lag software revebyegveral
guarters since consulting services, if purchasedtygpically performed after the purchase of neftvgare licenses
and our new license growth rates have generallgased over the corresponding period in the pear pver the
past several quarters.

On Demand: On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, CRM on Démad Advanced Customer Services. We
believe that our On Demand offerings provide antamtl opportunity for customers to lower theitabcost of
ownership and can therefore provide us with a cditiygeadvantage. We have made and plan to contioueake
investments in Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demausdpport current and future revenue growth, whias
negatively impacted On Demand margins and we expagtcontinue to do so in the future.

Education: The purpose of our education services is to &rémhance the usability of our software produgteun
customers and to create opportunities to grow oftwsre revenues. Education revenues have beerctetpbay
personnel reductions in our customers’ informatexhnology departments, tighter controls over disonary
spending and greater use of outsourcing solutiDaspite these trends, we expect education reveouesrease in
fiscal year 2008, primarily due to an increaseustomer training on the use of our acquired apfiingoroducts ar
increases in license revenues from our databasenattleware products.

Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is an important elatref our corporate strategy. In the last threedligyears, we
have invested over $25 billion, in the aggregatedquire companies, products, services and teeiesl, including
the acquisitions of PeopleSoft, Inc., a provideewnferprise applications software products; Si€ystems, Inc., a
provider of customer relationship management saiwidyperion Solutions Corporation, a provider ofegprise
performance management and business intelligerittgase; and others. Typically, the significant mréjpof our
integration activities related to an acquisitioa aubstantially complete in the United States withiree to six
months after the closing of the acquisition.

We believe our acquisition program supports ougerm strategic direction, strengthens our contigetposition,
particularly in the applications marketplace, exgmour customer base and provides greater scalerease our
investment in research and development to accel@rabvation, grow our earnings and increase stuldiéh value.
We expect to continue to acquire companies, pregdsetrvices and technologies. See Note 2 of
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our Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 8tates for additional information related to ourenetand
pending acquisitions.

We believe we can fund additional acquisitions waitin internally available cash and marketable stesy cash
generated from operations, amounts available umgecommercial paper program, additional borrowiogom
the issuance of additional securities. We estirttadinancial impact of any potential acquisitioithwegard to
earnings, operating margin, cash flow and returingasted capital targets before deciding to marevérd with an
acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmrinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us ikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasalieve
that the estimates, judgments and assumptionswpimh we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable
to us at the time that these estimates, judgment@asumptions are made. These estimates, judgarghts
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaged liabilities as of the date of the finansi@itements as well
as the reported amounts of revenues and expensag the periods presented. To the extent therenaterial
differences between these estimates, judgmentssongtions and actual results, our financial statgmwill be
affected. The accounting policies that reflect mare significant estimates, judgments and assumpand which
we believe are the most critical to aid in fullydenstanding and evaluating our reported finaneisllts include the
following:

* Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

* Goodwill

« Accounting for Income Taxe
« Legal and Other Contingenci
» Stock-Based Compensatic

* Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Retul

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a pdatitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARJadoes not
require management’s judgment in its applicatidmer€ are also areas in which managensgntigment in selectir
among available alternatives would not produce teriadly different result. Our senior managemenrt feviewed
these critical accounting policies and relatedld®ares with the Finance and Audit Committee ofBloard of
Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@jware, which includes new software license afthare
license updates and product support revenues,2rseivices, which include consulting, On Demandl @sucation
revenues.

New software license revenues represent fees efnoradyranting customers licenses to use our datg
middleware and applications software, and exclesdemues derived from software license updates,hwdrie
included in software license updates and prodympbed. While the basis for software license reverao@gnition is
substantially governed by the provisions of Stateneé Position No. 97-25oftware Revenue Recognitiossued
by the American Institute of Certified Public Acctants, we exercise judgment and use estimatemnimection
with the determination of the amount of softward aarvices revenues to be recognized in each attongyreriod.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying
software, we recognize new software license revevhen: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangatwith a
customer for the license of software; (2) we delie products; (3) customer payment is deemedi fote
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determinable and free of contingencies or signifiamcertainties; and (4) collection is probablgb&antially all of
our new software license revenues are recognizédsmanner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygiat, which
are recognized ratably over the term of the arraregg, typically one year. Software license updateside
customers with rights to unspecified software patdiypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesaeldaring
the term of the support period. Product suppottiges internet access to technical content, asagdahternet and
telephone access to technical support personneidddn our global support centers. Software lieanzdates and
product support are generally priced as a percertfthe net new software license fees. Substntllof our
customers purchase both software license updatepraduct support when they acquire new softwaenkes. In
addition, substantially all of our customers renbueir software license updates and product summotracts
annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyllimplementation services sold separately undeswting
engagement contracts. Consulting revenues frone thieangements are generally accounted for sepafisten new
software license revenues because the arrangemealify as service transactions as defined in SOR.The more
significant factors considered in determining wieetthe revenue should be accounted for separatelyde the
nature of services (i.e., consideration of whetherservices are essential to the functionalittheflicensed
product), degree of risk, availability of servidemm other vendors, timing of payments and impdchibestones or
acceptance criteria on the realizability of thetwafe license fee. Revenues for consulting senacegenerally
recognized as the services are performed. If tisesissignificant uncertainty about the project ctatipn or receipt
of payment for the consulting services, revenueferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently rbsam. We estimate
the proportional performance on contracts withdixe “not to exceed” fees on a monthly basis utitizhours
incurred to date as a percentage of total estintfateds to complete the project. We recognize noentieain 90% of
the milestone or total contract amount until propeceptance is obtained. If we do not have ad@efit basis to
measure progress towards completion, revenue dgniced when we receive final acceptance from tistotner.
When total cost estimates exceed revenues, weafmrthe estimated losses immediately using cstshates that
are based upon an average fully burdened dailyargécable to the consulting organization delimgrthe services.
The complexity of the estimation process and factelating to the assumptions, risks and uncertaimherent
with the application of the proportional performarmethod of accounting affects the amounts of resemd
related expenses reported in our consolidated dinbstatements. A number of internal and extefaetors can
affect our estimates, including labor rates, wiiian and efficiency variances and specificatiod gsting
requirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separateanting of the software license and consultinggeations, then
new software license revenue is generally recogrtiagether with the consulting services based mtraot
accounting using either the percentage-of-compiatiocompleted-contract method. Contract accounsirapplied
to any arrangements: (1) that include milestonesustomer specific acceptance criteria that magcaffollection o
the software license fees; (2) where services dechkignificant modification or customization of theftware;

(3) where significant consulting services are piedi for in the software license contract withouliidnal charge
or are substantially discounted; or (4) where tifensare license payment is tied to the performasfamonsulting
services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand, CRMD&mand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle On
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for ouradstab
middleware and applications software at Oracleta danter facilities or at a site of our custometisosing. CRM
On Demand is a service offering that provides aust@mers with our Siebel CRM software functionatiglivered
via a hosted solution that we manage. Advancedothest Services are earned by providing customergeoation
and performance analysis, personalized supporaandal on-site technical services. Revenue fronD&mand
services is recognized over the term of the sep&®d, which is generally one year.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medisebaand internet-based training in the use of oodlyxts.
Education revenues are recognized as the classgtesreducation offerings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we al®catvenue to each element of a transaction baseditgpfair
value as determined by “vendor specific objectivielence.” Vendor specific objective evidence of falue for all
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elements of an arrangement is based upon the npnoadg and discounting practices for those prasiand
services when sold separately and for softwaradieaipdates and product support services, is addily measure
by the renewal rate offered to the customer. We maglify our pricing practices in the future, whiobuld result in
changes in our vendor specific objective eviderfdaiovalue for these undelivered elements. Assult, our future
revenue recognition for multiple element arranget:eould differ significantly from our historicasults.

We defer revenue for any undelivered elementsraoaognize revenue when the product is delivereaser the
period in which the service is performed, in acemick with our revenue recognition policy for sulgneent. If we
cannot objectively determine the fair value of amglelivered element included in bundled softwar service
arrangements, we defer revenue until all elememtsi@livered and services have been performedtdrfair value
can objectively be determined for any remainingalinv@éred elements. When the fair value of a deidezlement
has not been established, we use the residual ch&itrecord revenue if the fair value of all undeted elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the falmer of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining
portion of the arrangement fee is allocated todiblévered elements and is recognized as revenue.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetsaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howefatceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for exalmin agreements with government entities wherptzace
periods are required by law, or within previouskgeuted terms and conditions that are referencéueicurrent
agreement and are short-term in nature, we prdeide sales return allowance in accordance with BAfatement
No. 48,Revenue Recognition when Right of Return Exi$tacceptance provisions are lotegm in nature or are r
included as standard terms of an arrangementveg ifannot reasonably estimate the incidence ofnrgtuevenue is
recognized upon the earlier of receipt of writteistomer acceptance or expiration of the acceptpexed.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaileentontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof
convenience” provisions, when such provisions aggired by law, to determine the probability of gibte
cancellation. We consider multiple factors, inchglthe history with the customer in similar trartgats, the
“essential use” of the software licenses and thanghg, budgeting and approval processes undertakéme
governmental entity. If we determine upon executibthese arrangements that the likelihood of chetien is
remote, we then recognize revenue once all of iteria described above have been met. If suchermé@ation
cannot be made, revenue is recognized upon thiereafricash receipt or approval of the applicabieding
provision by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenue if all otbeenue
recognition requirements are met. Our standard payterms are net 30; however, terms may vary basekde
country in which the agreement is executed. Paysrtbiatt are due within six months are generally dmkta be
fixed or determinable based on our successful citle history on such arrangements, and thereligfgaihe
required criteria for revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-
term financing to credit worthy customers througin financing division. Since fiscal 1989, when @inancing
division was formed, we have established a histbigollection, without concessions, on these reaiales with
payment terms that generally extend up to five y&am the contract date. Provided all other reeeracognition
criteria have been met, we recognize new softweease revenues for these arrangements upon delivetrof any
payment discounts from financing transactions. \&eetgenerally sold receivables financed throughfioancing
division on a non-recourse basis to third partaricing institutions. We account for the sale obtheeceivables as
“true sales” as defined in FASB Statement No. J,ounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and
Extinguishments of Liabilitie.

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ntare occasion, we have purchased goods or ssrfac our
operations from these vendors at or about the $mnecthat we have licensed our software to theseesaompanies
(a “Concurrent Transaction”). Software license agrents that occur within a thremsnth time period from the de
we have purchased goods or services from that sastemer are reviewed for appropriate accountieattnent an
disclosure. When we acquire goods or services frammstomer, we negotiate the purchase separatelydny
software license transaction, at terms we consabe at arm’s length, and settle the purchasash.cWe
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recognize new software license revenue from Coratiffransactions if all of our revenue recognitioiteria are
met and the goods and services acquired are negéssaur current operations.

Business Combination

In accordance with business combination accountiregallocate the purchase price of acquired conggatoi the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and lts@slassumed as well as to in-process researctevmiopment
based on their estimated fair values. We engage-glairty appraisal firms to assist management iardgning the
fair values of certain assets acquired and liaddliassumed. Such valuations require managememdke significar
estimates and assumptions, especially with regpéctangible assets.

Management makes estimates of fair value based aggmptions believed to be reasonable. Theseatstirare
based on historical experience and informationinbthfrom the management of the acquired compamdsare
inherently uncertain. Critical estimates in valugggtain of the intangible assets include but atdimited to: future
expected cash flows from license sales, maintenag@ements, consulting contracts, customer cdatean
acquired developed technologies and patents; eaghecists to develop the precess research and development
commercially viable products and estimated cashdlirom the projects when completed; the acquimdpmany’s
brand and market position, as well as assumptibaatahe period of time the acquired brand will thome to be
used in the combined company’s product portfolitg discount rates. Unanticipated events and cirtamiss may
occur which may affect the accuracy or validitysath assumptions, estimates or actual results.

In connection with purchase price allocations, wtneate the fair value of the support obligatioastamed in
connection with acquisitions. The estimated falugaof the support obligations is determined utiliza cost
build-up approach. The cost build-up approach datess fair value by estimating the costs relatefilifiling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The estiatbcosts to fulfill the support obligations areséd on the
historical direct costs related to providing theort services and to correct any errors in thensok products
acquired. We do not include any costs associatduseiling efforts or research and developmenhen¢lated
fulfillment margins on these costs. Profit assadatith selling effort is excluded because the aeqentities
would have concluded the selling effort on the suppontracts prior to the acquisition date. Thinested research
and development costs are not included in thevidire determination, as these costs are not detoregresent a
legal obligation at the time of acquisition. Thersaf the costs and operating profit approximatesheory, the
amount that we would be required to pay a thirdypiar assume the support obligation.

As a result, we did not recognize software licamzgates and product support revenues related fmsugontracts
in the amount of $212 million, $391 million and $3aillion that would have been otherwise recordgdtquired
businesses as independent entities in fiscal 2801 and 2005, respectively. Historically, substdiytall of our
customers, including customers from acquired congsanenew their contracts when the contract gitdé for
renewal. To the extent these underlying supportreots are renewed, we will recognize the revehoiethe full
value of the support contracts over the suppofbgdsy the majority of which are one year. Had wauded our
estimated selling and research and developmenitaegj and the associated margin for unspecified pct
upgrades and enhancements to be provided undassumed support arrangements, the fair value cfupport
obligations would have been significantly highearttwhat we have recorded and we would have recadégher
amount of software license updates and productastipgvenue historically and in future periods tetbto these
assumed contracts.

Other significant estimates associated with th@aeting for acquisitions include restructuring cofestructuring
costs are primarily comprised of severance costts®f consolidating duplicate facilities and caot termination
costs. Restructuring expenses are based upontpkrisave been committed to by management but vdrieh
subject to refinement. To estimate restructuringegses, management utilizes assumptions of the enwofb
employees that would be involuntarily terminated ahfuture costs to operate and eventually vadafdicate
facilities. Estimated restructuring expenses mange as management executes the approved plaredsesrto the
cost estimates of executing the currently apprglads associated with pre-merger activities ofdbimpanies we
acquire are recorded as an adjustment to goodwdififinitely, whereas increases to the estimatesea@ded as an
adjustment to goodwill during the purchase pridecaltion period (generally within one year of tlogjaisition date)
and as operating expenses thereafter.

30




Table of Contents

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies. If, during the pureéhpsce
allocation period, we are able to determine thevaiue of a pre-acquisition contingency, we wiltiude that
amount in the purchase price allocation. If, athefend of the purchase price allocation periodaveeunable to
determine the fair value of a pre-acquisition coggincy, we will evaluate whether to include an antdo the
purchase price allocation based on whether itabgile a liability had been incurred and whetheamount can be
reasonably estimated. With the exception of unvesbtax matters, after the end of the purchase allocation
period, any adjustment to amounts recorded foeaapguisition contingency will be included in oyrerating
results in the period in which the adjustment iedained.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and weeer events or changes in circumstances indicataitying
value may not be recoverable in accordance withB-8&tement No. 14Z0o0dwill and Other Intangible Assets
The provisions of Statement 142 require that a $tep-impairment test be performed on goodwillhia first step,
we compare the fair value of each reporting unitd@arrying value. Our reporting units are cotsiswith the
reportable segments identified in Note 15 of théeldo Consolidated Financial Statements. If tirevidue of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of thieassets assigned to that unit, goodwill is consid@ot impaired
and we are not required to perform further testihthe carrying value of the net assets assigondbe reporting un
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, thenmust perform the second step of the impairnesitih order to
determine the implied fair value of the reportingtis goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporgjrunit’s goodwiill
exceeds its implied fair value, then we would relcan impairment loss equal to the difference.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imves the use of significant estimates and assumgtibhese
estimates and assumptions include revenue growdh aad operating margins used to calculate pegjefcture
cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, futumemic and market conditions and determinationppirapriate
market comparables. We base our fair value estBrateassumptions we believe to be reasonable auata
unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual fettesults may differ from those estimates. In @oidj we make
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagry@mues for eac
of our reporting units. Our most recent annual gathdmpairment analysis, which was performed dgrthe fourth
quarter of fiscal 2007, did not result in an impaént charge.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining earldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a
global business, there are many transactions dodlaons where the ultimate tax outcome is urarrtSome of
these uncertainties arise as a consequence ofuewhiaring and cost reimbursement arrangementsgaratated
entities, the process of identifying items of rewermnd expense that qualify for preferential teattment, and
segregation of foreign and domestic income andesgéo avoid double taxation. Although we belighat bur
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieese matters could be different from that whicreftected in our
historical income tax provisions and accruals. Sdiffierences could have a material effect on oaoime tax
provision and net income in the period in whichhsdetermination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&kes have bee
provided because such earnings are planned tadeériitely reinvested outside the United StatesnRances of
foreign earnings to the U.S. are planned basedajrgied cash flow, working capital and investmesgds of
foreign and domestic operations. Based on thesemg®ns, we estimate the amount that will be itisted to the
U.S. and provide U.S. federal taxes on these arsolfdterial changes in our estimates could impaceffective
tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be
realized. In order for us to realize our defer@ddssets, we must be able to generate suffi@gabte income in
those jurisdictions where the deferred tax assettoaated. We consider future market growth, fasted earnings,
future taxable income, the mix of earnings in timésgictions in which we operate and prudent ardifde tax
planning strategies in determining the need foalaation allowance. In the event we were to deteentihat we
would not be able to realize all or part of our deterred tax assets in the future, an adjustneetitet deferred tax
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assets would be charged to earnings in the pamiadhich we make such determination. Likewise, iflater
determine that it is more likely than not that tie¢ deferred tax assets would be realized, we weawerse the
applicable portion of the previously provided vdioa allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that couét iéim the
actual results reflected in income tax returngiffleiring the subsequent year. Adjustments basditbdreturns are
generally recorded in the period when the tax retare filed and the global tax implications arewn.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgaiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich
often result in proposed assessments. Our estiofiite potential outcome for any uncertain tax ésisuhighly
judgmental. We believe we have adequately providedny reasonably foreseeable outcome relateloetse
matters. However, our future results may includefable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimtardiabilities
in the period the assessments are made or resalvdils are closed or when statutes of limitatinrpotential
assessments expire. Additionally, the jurisdictionghich our earnings or deductions are realizey aiffer from
our current estimates. As a result, our effectaseraite may fluctuate significantly on a quartdrasis.

As part of our accounting for business combinatigosne of the purchase price is allocated to golbdwil
intangible assets. Impairment charges associatibdgoodwill are generally not tax deductible andl misult in an
increased effective income tax rate in the quaherimpairment is recorded. Amortization expensseeiated with
acquired intangible assets are generally not taxdéle pursuant to our existing tax structurewbeer, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anadidiz expense as part of the purchase price aitocale have
taken into account the allocation of these idegdifintangibles among different taxing jurisdictipmeluding those
with nominal or zero percent tax rates, in establig the related deferred tax liabilities. Incorag tontingencies
existing as of the acquisition dates of the acquammpanies are evaluated quarterly and any adauntnare
recorded as an adjustment to goodwiill.

In fiscal 2008, we will adopt FASB InterpretatiomN48,Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 10®ease refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidaiedri€ial Statements in
Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for fugt discussion.

Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andaleggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach
significant matter and assess our potential firereiposure. If the potential loss from any claintegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rablyoastimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.
Significant judgment is required in both the detieation of probability and the determination asvteether an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of waictes related to these matters, accruals arellmadg on the
best information available at the time. As addiibinformation becomes available, we reassessdtenpal liability
related to our pending claims and litigation and/mevise our estimates. Such revisions in the ed@mof the
potential liabilities could have a material impaatour results of operations and financial position

As a result of our acquisition of PeopleSoft irt&i2005, we inherited contingent liabilities regg from a
program PeopleSoft had implemented prior to thesapmmation of our acquisition of PeopleSoft (refén@ as the
“customer assurance program” or “CAP”). See Not®flRotes to Consolidated Financial Statementduidher
information.

Stock-Based Compensation

On June 1, 2006, we adopted Statement No. 123@\@004)Share-Based Paymentinder the modified
prospective method. Statement 123R generally regginare-based payments to employees to be reedgninur
consolidated statements of operations based onfttievalues. Prior to June 1, 2006, we accoufbedur stock-
based compensation plans under the intrinsic valeinod of accounting as defined by Accounting Rpies Board
Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employaed applied the disclosure provisions of Statement
No. 123,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatias amended. Under Opinion 25, we generally didemgnize
any compensation expense for stock options asxereise price of our options was equivalent tortteket price o
our common stock on the date of grant. Substaptilllof our stock-based compensation expense
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recognized under Opinion 25 related to optionsmassufrom acquisitions. For pro forma disclosurhs,dstimated
fair values for options granted and options assuwm@ amortized using the accelerated expensbudtton methoc
In addition, we reduced pro forma stock compensatxpense for actual forfeitures in the periody thecurred. In
March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commissgued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 107, whi
provides supplemental implementation guidance fatethent 123R. We have applied the provisions d8 387 in
our adoption of Statement 123R. See Note 7 of Not€onsolidated Financial Statements for infororatin the
impact of our adoption of Statement 123R and tseraptions we use to calculate the fair value ofestased
employee compensation.

Upon our adoption of Statement 123R, we were reguio estimate the awards that we ultimately exmeeest and
to reduce stock-based compensation expense feffénets of estimated forfeitures of awards overdkpense
recognition period. Although we estimated forfeitsibased on historical experience, forfeitureénftiture may
differ. Under Statement 123R, the forfeiture ratestrbe revised if actual forfeitures differ fromrauriginal
estimates. Also in connection with our adoptiorstdtement 123R, we elected to recognize awards$egtafter our
adoption date under the straight-line amortizatieathod.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock ogtiasing a Black-Scholes valuation model. The falug of an
award is affected by our stock price on the datgrant as well as other assumptions including stienated
volatility of our stock price over the term of thevards and the estimated period of time that weed@mployees to
hold their stock options. The risk-free intereserassumption is based upon United States trea@siengst rates
appropriate for the expected life of the awards. W the implied volatility of our publicly tradstbck options in
order to estimate future stock price trends as @lieve that implied volatility is more representatof future stock
price trends than historical volatility. In orderdetermine the estimated period of time that weeekemployees to
hold their stock options, we have used historiatés of employee groups by job classification. Expected
dividend rate is zero since we do not currently pash dividends on our common stock and do notigate doing
so in the foreseeable future.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based avilaad result in deductions on our income tax retubased on
the amount of stock-based compensation recognizédhe statutory tax rate in the jurisdiction inigfhwe will
receive a tax deduction. Differences between tlfierced tax assets recognized for financial repgrpanrposes and
the actual tax deduction reported on our incomedsxns are recorded in additional paid-in caplfahe tax
deduction is less than the deferred tax asset, sumtfalls reduce our pool of excess tax bendfithe pool of
excess tax benefits is reduced to zero, then subséghortfalls would increase our income tax espe@ur pool o
excess tax benefits is computed in accordancethélalternative transition method as prescribeceuRASB Staff
Position FAS 123R-3Transition Election to Accounting for the Tax Effecf Share-Based Payment Awards

The accounting guidance under Statement 123Rdsvely new and several interpretations have bekrased sinc
the pronouncement has been issued. Additionalgregtions may be released and the applicatiohasfet principle
may be subject to further refinement over timeadidition, to the extent we change the terms ofeouployee stock-
based compensation programs, refine different agsans in future periods such as forfeiture rates differ from
our estimates and implement the change in our esepatiribution method from accelerated to straligiet-which
we elected when adopting Statement 123R, the diaskd compensation expense that we record in fparieds
may differ significantly from what we have recordéating our fiscal 2007 reporting periods.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Returr

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tartding receivables and provide allowances foptir¢ion of
receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Rious are made based upon a specific review sfglificant
outstanding invoices. For those invoices not spedij reviewed, provisions are provided at diffeirates, based
upon the age of the receivable, the collectiorohysassociated with the geographic region thatélseivable was
recorded and current economic trends. If the Histbdata we use to calculate the allowance fobtfalaccounts
does not reflect the future ability to collect dataling receivables, additional provisions for difwitaccounts may
be needed and the future results of operationgidmuimaterially affected.
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We also record a provision for estimated salegmstand allowances on product and service relaties.sThese
estimates are based on historical sales returasialume and size of our larger transactions ahdrdinown factor:
If the historical data we use to calculate thesien@ses do not properly reflect future returnsntlaechange in the
allowances would be made in the period in whicthsadetermination is made and revenues in thavgeould be
materially affected.

Results of Operations

The comparability of our operating results in fis2807 compared to fiscal 2006 is impacted by @gussition of
Siebel in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the saidation of i-flex beginning June 1, 2006 (beginof fiscal
2007) and, to a lesser extent, the acquisitionygférion in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. Tremparability of
our operating results in fiscal 2006 comparedgodi 2005 is also impacted by acquisitions, priakéypour
acquisition of PeopleSoft in the third quarterie€él 2005, and, to a lesser extent, the acquisitad Siebel in the
third quarter of fiscal 2006 and Retek, Inc. in therth quarter of fiscal 2005.

In our discussion of changes in our results of apens from fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 200@] Ascal 2006
compared to fiscal 2005, we quantify the contribtdf our acquired products to growth in new sofeniecense
revenues, the amount of revenues associated withage license updates and product support asaselin
Demand services, and present supplemental diseloslated to acquisition accounting and stock-based
compensation where applicable. Although certairnere contributions from our acquisitions are quiafie, we
are unable to identify the following:

« The contribution of consulting and education sersicevenues from acquired companies in fiscal 2007
2006 (with the exception of i-flex and Hyperion satting revenues and Hyperion education revenues fo
which we disclose the impact in fiscal 2007 in camigon to fiscal 2006) as the significant majoafythese
services have been fully integrated into our exgstiperations

« The contribution of expenses associated with aequyiroducts and services in fiscal 2007 and 200 ¢ive
exception of certainflex and Hyperion operating expenses for which vgeldse the impact in fiscal 2007
comparison to fiscal 2006) as the significant nigjaf these services have been fully integratéd our
existing operations

We caution readers that, while pre- and post-a@@grscomparisons as well as the quantified amothemselves
may provide indications of general trends, therimfation has inherent limitations for the followingasons:

» The quantifications cannot address the substaeffiadts attributable to our sales force integragéforts, in
particular the effect of having a single sales dooéfer similar products. The commissions earneduay
integrated sales force generally do not vary basetthe application product sold. We believe thatif sales
forces had not been integrated, the relative miroflucts sold would have been differe

« The significant majority of our acquisitions in theriods presented did not result in our entry ateew line
of business or product category. Therefore, weidealmultiple products with substantially simile@afures
and functionality

« Although substantially all of our customers, indhglcustomers from acquired companies, renew their
software license updates and product support adstrehen the contracts are eligible for renewakamhs
shown as support deferred revenue in our supplethéistlosure related to acquisition accounting stodk-
based compensation are not necessarily indicativevenue improvements we will achieve upon corntrac
renewal to the extent customers do not rer

Constant Currency Presentation

We compare the percent change in the results froerperiod to another period in this annual repsinig constant
currency disclosure. We present constant curremoyrnation to provide a framework for assessing loon
underlying businesses performed excluding the effeforeign currency rate fluctuations. To preseand
information, current and comparative prior periedults for entities reporting in currencies othemt United States
dollars are converted into United States dollatb@aexchange rate in effect on May 31, 2006, whiel the
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last day of our prior fiscal year, rather than élotual exchange rates in effect during the respegteriods. For
example, if an entity reporting in Euros had revenaf 1.0 million Euros from products sold on Mdy 3007 and
May 31, 2006, our financial statements would reftegenues of $1.35 million in fiscal 2007 (using3.as the
exchange rate) and $1.27 million in fiscal 2006r({g4.27 as the exchange rate). The constant aygesentation
would translate the fiscal 2007 results using theaf 2006 exchange rate and indicate, in this g@mmo change in
revenues during the periods. In each of the taidémswv, we present the percent change based onl agsudts as
reported and based on constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 9,46( 24% 23%$ 7,652 32% 31%$ 5,79¢
EMEA @) 6,037 28% 20% 4,70¢ 10% 15% 4,28¢
Asia Pacific 2,49¢ 24% 21% 2,02( 18% 21% 1,71
Total revenue 17,99¢ 25% 22%  14,38( 22% 23%  11,79¢
Total Operating Expense 12,027 25% 22% 9,644 24% 25% 7,77
Total Operating Margin $ 597/ 26% 21%$  4,73¢ 18% 204 $ 4,027
Total Operating Margin% 33% 33% 34%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 53% 53% 49Y%
EMEA 34% 33% 36%
Asia Pacific 13% 14% 15%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $ 14,21 23% 20%$ 11,54 23% 24%$ 9,421
Services 3,78¢ 33% 29% 2,83¢ 19% 21% 2,37¢
Total revenue $ 17,99¢ 25% 22%$ 14,38( 22% 23%$ 11,79¢
% Revenues by Business:
Software 79% 80% 80%
Services 21% 20% 20%

(1) Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Total revenues increased in fiscal 2007 duedceased demand for our
products and services offerings, strong sales aiwand incremental revenues from our acquis#tidrotal
revenues were positively affected by foreign curyerate fluctuations of 3 percentage points indit007 due to
the weakening of the United States dollar relativether major international currencies. Excluding effects of
currency rate fluctuations, new software licenseneies contributed 27% to the growth in total rexssn software
license updates and product support revenues bated 47% and services contributed 26%. Excludiegetfect of
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contriduié% to the increase in total revenues, EMEA douted 30%
and Asia Pacific contributed 14%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioti® increase in operating expenses is primarig/tdthigher salar
and employee benefits associated with increasedcbeat levels (primarily resulting from our acqtiwns in fiscal
2007 and fiscal 2006), as well as higher commissand travel and entertainment expenses assowgiitetioth
increased revenues and headcount levels. In addajzerating expenses also increased in fiscal 206#o higher
amortization costs of intangible assets and st@de8l compensation expenses related to our adayition
Statement 123R. Operating expenses were negatiffelsted by foreign currency rate fluctuations gfe3centage
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points. The aforementioned increases in operatipgreses were partially offset by lower restructyxpenses and
the settlement of a pre-acquisition PeopleSoftedlaontingency that benefited our operating expeiisee
Acquisition Related Charges discussion below).

Operating margins as a percentage of total revameesflat in fiscal 2007 and were favorably aféetby foreign
currency rate fluctuations of 5 percentage poidts. revenues grew at a faster rate than our opgratipenses,
excluding amortization costs of intangible assets stockbased compensation expenses. The increases inchs
categories offset the slower growth in other opega¢xpenses.

International operations will continue to providsignificant portion of our total revenues. As aulg total revenue
and expenses will be affected by changes in tlaivelstrength of the United States dollar agaiestain major
international currencies.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Total revenues increased in fiscal 2006 duertmgtsales execution,
incremental revenues from acquisitions and a sthemgng in our competitive position. Excluding #ifgect of
currency rate fluctuations, software license upslated product support revenues contributed 50%etgtowth in
total revenues, new software licenses contribu®@ and services revenues contributed 18%. Excluttiegffects
of currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contiitdl 65% to the increase in total revenues, EME#&rdmuted 229
and Asia Pacific contributed 13%. Total revenuethemAmericas, specifically in the United Statesreéased at a
faster rate than in other regions primarily du¢h®relative geographical mix of revenues from acqguired
companies.

Operating expenses were favorably affected by dgmeage point as a result of the strengtheningefunited
States dollar relative to other major internationatrencies. Excluding the effect of currency ffluetuations, the
increase in operating expenses is primarily dudgdber headcount levels and associated persoria&decosts in
sales and marketing, consulting and research arelagnent, higher commissions due to the increasevenues
and greater amortization of intangible assetsgofiairtially by lower restructuring and acquisitietated expenses.
Operating margins as a percentage of total revete@agased slightly in fiscal 2006 due to highesteassociated
with acquisitions, principally amortization of imgible assets.

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Acquisition Acamting and Stock-Based Compensation

To supplement our consolidated financial informatice believe the following information is helpfal &n overall
understanding of our past financial performancemodpects for the future. You should review theoduction
under “Results of Operations” (above) for a disaussf the inherent limitations in comparing predgpost-
acquisition information.
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Our results of operations include the followingibess combination accounting entries and expemsated to
acquisitions as well as other expenses includiogksbased compensation:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005

Support deferred reven®) $ 21z $391 $32€
Amortization of intangible asse® 87¢ 582 21¢
Acquisition related charge®)®) 14C 137 20¢
Restructuring® 19 85 147
Stoclk-based compensati(®) 19¢€ 31 25
Income tax effec®) (414 (362) (264

$1,03: $865 $65E

(@ In connection with purchase price allocations eslab our acquisitions, we have estimated theviires of the
support obligations assumed. Due to our applicatfdsusiness combination accounting rules, we did n
recognize software license updates and productstipg/enues related to support contracts that dvbaie
otherwise been recorded by the acquired businessieslependent entities, in the amounts of $21komjl
$391 million and $320 million in fiscal 2007, fid&@006 and fiscal 2005, respectively. Approximately
$120 million of estimated software license updated product support revenues related to suppottaxia
assumed will not be recognized in fiscal 2008 thaiild have otherwise been recognized by the aadjuire
businesses as independent entitles, due to theajimh of business combination accounting rulestie extent
customers renew these support contracts, we eigpestognize revenues for the full contract valuerdhe
support renewal perio

(@) Represents the amortization of intangible assefsied in connection with acquisitions, primarilgdpleSoft,
Siebel, Hyperion and i-flex. Estimated future arzation expense related to intangible assets fslisvs (in

millions):

Year Ended
May 31,

2008 $ 1,114
2009 1,101
2010 97¢€
2011 75€
2012 62C
Thereaftel 1,397
Total $ 5,964

() Acquisition related charges primarily consist ofimcess research and development expenses, imegriatec
professional services, stock-based compensatioensgs and personnel related costs for transitemployees.
For fiscal 2007, acquisition related charges atstuded a $52 million benefit related to the setdat of a pre-
acquisition lawsuit filed against PeopleSoft ondlebf the U.S. governmer

4 Restructuring expenses relate to Oracle employesraace and facility closures in connection witktmecturing
plans initiated in the third quarters of fiscal 8hd 2005. In fiscal 2007, our restructuring exgesrrelate to
notifications made pursuant to the Fiscal 2006 @rRestructuring Plar

37




Table of Contents

®) Stock-based compensation is included in the follgwiperating expense line items of our consolidated
statements of operations (in million

Year Ended May 31,

2007 200€  200¢

Sales and marketir $383 $8 $6
Software license updates and product sug 11 3 2
Cost of service 15 7 7
Research and developmt 85 13 10
General and administratiy 49 - —
Subtotal 19¢ 31 25
Acquisition related charge 9 18 47
Total $207 $4¢ §$7Z

Stock-based compensation included in acquisititated charges resulted from unvested options asinoe
acquisitions whose vesting was fully acceleratezshuermination of the employees pursuant to thesesf these
options.

We adopted Statement 123R on June 1, 2006 underdt#ied prospective method. Statement 123R reguis
to record non-cash operating expenses associateatock option awards at their estimated fair galuPrior to
our Statement 123R adoption, we were requireddordestock-based compensation expenses at intriakies.
Accordingly, prior to our adoption of Statement R23ubstantially all of our stock-based compengsatixpense
related to options assumed from acquisitions. toatance with the modified prospective method,foancial
statements for prior periods have not been restatesflect, and do not include, the changes irhogblogy to
expense options at fair values in accordance wategient 123R. As of May 31, 2007, the unrecognized
compensation expense related to stock options &ghée vest was approximately $356 million andxgezted ti
be recognized over a weighted average period ofdags. See Note 7 of Notes to our Consolidatedrf€iial
Statements for additional information regarding adoption of Statement 123

) The income tax effects on purchase accounting adgrgs and other significant expenses includingkstiased
compensation were calculated based on our effetaiveates of 28.6%, 29.7% and 28.8% in fiscal 20006
and 2005, respective
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Software
Software includes new software licenses and soétwegnse updates and product support.

New Software License: New software license revenues represent feeg@drom granting customers licenses to
use our database and middleware as well as ouicapph software products. We continue to placeaificant
emphasis, both domestically and internationallydimact sales through our own sales force. We asinue to
market our products through indirect channels.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
New Software License Revenue
Americas $ 2,751 18% 18%$ 2,327 29% 27% $ 1,80¢
EMEA 2,04: 24% 16% 1,65 10% 14% 1,50¢
Asia Pacific 1,08t  17% 15% 93z 19% 22% 781
Total revenue 5,882 20% 17% 4,908 20% 21% 4,091
Expenses
Sales and marketir(®) 3,86¢ 22% 18% 3,16¢ 27% 27% 2,50¢
Stocl-based compensatic 38 388% 388% 8 33% 33% 6
Amortization of intangible asse® 354 70% 70% 20 251% 251% 59
Total expense 4,261 26% 23% 3,38t 32% 33% 2,57(
Total Margin $ 1,621 7% 3%$ 1,52 0% 2%$ 1,521
Total Margin % 28% 31% 37%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas A47% A47% 44%
EMEA 35% 34% 37%
Asia Pacific 18% 19% 19%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlews $ 4,11¢ 15% 12%$ 3,56¢ 9% 11%$ 3,26f
Applications 1,71€  32% 29% 1,30 66% 67% 78E
Total revenues by produ 583t  20% 17% 4,86¢ 20% 21% 4,05(
Other revenue 47  31% 29% 36 -13% -12% 41
Total new software license
revenues $ 5,88: 20% 17%$ 4,908  20% 21% $ 4,097
% Revenues by Product:
Database and middlewse 71% 73% 81%
Applications 29% 27% 19%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnew software license
revenues grew in all major product lines and acatlsgeographies. Database and middleware reverargsbuted
57% to the increase in new software license revienuhile applications revenues contributed 43%. Ahericas
contributed 50%, EMEA contributed 33% and Asia Raciontributed 17% to the increase in new softwaense
revenues.
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Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodatabase and middleware revenues grew 12% aslaaota gain
in market share, increased demand for our datadsaseniddleware products as well as incrementalmess from
acquired companies. Siebel products contributectmental revenues of $48 million, Stellent prod$&6 million,
Hyperion products $16 million and other recentlgaiced products $19 million to the total database middlewar:
revenue growth in fiscal 2007.

On a constant currency basis, applications reveimeesased 29% as a result of a gain in markeestesulting fror
a strengthening of our competitive position in dpplications market due to improved product featared
functionality and incremental revenues from acqlitempanies. Siebel products contributed increnheet@nues
of $130 million, i-flex products $50 million, Hypien products $27 million, Portal products $22 noitli Demantra
products $21 million and other recently acquireadaicts $22 million to total applications revenuevgth.

New software license revenues earned from trarsectver $0.5 million grew by 24% in fiscal 200@ancrease!
from 45% of new software license revenues in fi€4l6 to 46% in fiscal 2007.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiosales and marketing expenses increased in fi®€al grimarily
due to higher personnel related expenses assoevittethcreased headcount, as well as higher cosioris
expenses associated with both increased revenddseaicount levels. Total new software license mag a
percentage of revenues declined as expenses, imglachortization costs of intangible assets, grewfaster rate
than revenues.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnew software license
revenues increased due to strong sales executalhgroduct lines. Applications revenues contrdali60% to the
increase in new software license revenues, whiigbdse and middleware revenues contributed 40%itidadlly,
new software license revenues increased in allrg@bic regions. Excluding the effect of currence iductuations,
the Americas contributed 57%, EMEA contributed 2886 Asia Pacific contributed 20% to the increasedw
software license revenues. New software licensemaes in the Americas, specifically in the Uniteatss,
increased at a faster rate than in other regiansapity due to the relative geographical mix of eéaues and location
of sales personnel from our acquired companies.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodatabase and middleware revenues grew 11% drivérckeased
demand for database option products, and gain rkehahare in the application server market asaltref better
sales execution and more competitive features amctibnality. Siebel products contributed $34 roiilito the
growth in database and middleware revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioapplications revenues increased 67% as a resuitiefased
demand for our applications products, includingdoicis from acquired companies, better sales exetas a result
of segmenting our sales force by product and agthening of our competitive position in the apations market,
particularly in the United States and EMEA. Peoplegroducts contributed $220 million to the grovith
applications revenue in fiscal 2006, Siebel prosieantributed $103 million and Retek products dboted

$41 million.

New software license revenues earned from tramsectver $0.5 million increased from 40% of newwafe
license revenues in fiscal 2005 to 45% in fiscdl&0

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiosales and marketing expenses increased due terlighmission
expenses resulting from the growth in new softWiaense revenues, higher personnel related experdiprimaril
associated with our expanded sales force from esdjgiompanies and higher advertising expensestotalenew
software license margin as a percentage of revaetremeased primarily due to incremental amortizatib
intangible assets and higher compensation expenses.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsispecified
software product upgrades and maintenance relésses] during the support period. Product suppaitdes
internet access to technical content as well @snet and telephone access to technical supp@ompeel in our
global support centers. Expenses associated withaftware license updates and product supporlifrisiness
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include the cost of providing the support servitasgyely personnel related expenses, and the araban of our
intangible assets associated with software suppattcustomer relationships obtained from our adipris.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Software License Updates and Prodt
Support Revenues:
Americas $ 4,698 24% 23%$ 3,79C 37% 36 $  2,75¢
EMEA 2,65 29% 21% 2,05z 10% 15% 1,86¢
Asia Pacific 97¢  23% 22% 794  13% 16% 705
Total revenue 8,32¢  25% 22% 6,63¢ 25% 26% 5,33(
Expenses
Software license updates and produc
support@) 831 16% 12% 71€  16% 17% 61€
Stocl-based compensatic 11 306% 306% 3  15% 15% 2
Amortization of intangible asse® 47C 34% 34% 351 178% 178% 127
Total expense 1,312 23% 21% 1,07C  44% 45% 74E
Total Margin $ 7,017 26% 23%$ 5,566 21% 23%$  4,58f
Total Margin % 84% 84% 86%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 57% 57% 52%
EMEA 32% 31% 35%
Asia Pacific 11% 12% 13%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse€’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspsoftware license updates
and product support revenues increased as a ofghl addition of software license updates andpcosupport
revenues associated with new software license tmgerecognized during the fourth quarter of fi&206 and over
the course of fiscal 2007, the renewal of substsintall of the customer base eligible for renewmathe current
fiscal year and incremental revenues from the esiparof our customer base from acquisitions. Exdgdhe effec
of currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contritdl 59%, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia Pacifictdbated
12% to the increase in software license updategperdlict support revenues.

Software license updates and product support reseimufiscal 2007 include incremental revenues3dftsmillion
from Siebel, $37 million from i-flex, $19 milliorrém Hyperion, and $55 million from other recentbqaired
companies. As a result of our acquisitions, we néetd adjustments to reduce support obligationsnasduo their
estimated fair value at the acquisition dates. @usur application of business combination accagntules,
software license updates and product support regerelated to support contracts in the amount2b2 $nillion,
$391 million and $320 million that would have bexherwise recorded by our acquired businessedapémdent
entities, were not recognized in fiscal 2007, 28068 2005, respectively. Historically, substantialliyof our
customers, including customers from acquired congsanenew their support contracts when such cotstiare
eligible for renewal. To the extent these undedysupport contracts are renewed, we will recogttieeevenues fc
the full value of these contracts over the suppertods, the majority of which are one year.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support egseincreased
due to higher salary and benefits associated witteased headcount to support the expansion afustomer base,
higher amortization expenses resulting from addéiontangible assets acquired during fiscal 20@¥ fasscal 2006
and higher stock-based compensation expenses.&eftivense updates and product support expenses
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include $16 million in incremental expenses froffek and Hyperion. Total software license updates product
support margin as a percentage of revenues waasfiatangible asset amortization expense and $tas&d
compensation grew much faster than revenues agdtdffe lower growth in other operating expenses.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspeoftware license updates
and product support revenues increased for simglgons as noted above. Software license updadqzaduct
support revenues in fiscal 2006 include incrememaénues of $797 million from PeopleSoft contractd

$90 million from Siebel contracts. Excluding théeet of currency rate fluctuations, the Americaatabuted 72%
to the growth in software license updates and prbsupport revenues, EMEA contributed 20% and Rsiaific
contributed 8%. Software license updates and ptoslygport revenues in the Americas, specificallthie United
States, increased at a faster rate than in otherm primarily due to the relative geographicak mifi revenues and
existing support contract bases of our acquiredpzories.

Software license updates and product support ergdansreased primarily due to higher salary ancfisn
associated with increased headcount to suppoexpansion of our customer base and higher bonssaesesult of
increased revenue levels. The software licensetepdad product support margin as a percentageavefnues
decreased primarily due to incremental amortizagibimtangible assets.

Services
Services consist of consulting, On Demand and dauca

Consulting: Consulting revenues are earned by providing sesvio customers in the design, implementation,
deployment and upgrade of our database and middiesgawell as applications software products. Tdst of
providing consulting services consists primarilypefsonnel related expenditures.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Consulting Revenues
Americas $ 153¢ 33% 2% $ 1,157 21% 20% $ 95¢€
EMEA 1,03:  34% 24% 771 8% 13% 71€
Asia Pacific 30z 57% 52% 19z 39% 42% 13¢
Total revenue 2,86¢  35% 31% 2,12C 17% 19% 1,81(
Expenses
Cost of service@ 2,471 32% 27% 1,87¢  21% 22% 1,54¢
Stocl-based compensatic 9 36% 36% 7 9% 9% 6
Amortization of intangible asse® 30 585% 579% 4 226% 226% 1
Total expense 2,51¢  33% 29% 1,88¢ 21% 23% 1,55¢
Total Margin $ 355 53% 47% $ 231 9% 1% $ 254
Total Margin % 12% 11% 14%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 55% 53%
EMEA 36% 36% 39%
Asia Pacific 11% 9% 8%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component’ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnonsulting revenues
increased primarily due to an increase in appbeagiroduct implementations resulting from highewragplication
software license revenues over the last year, $3B@n of incremental revenues from i-flex, whiake
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acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2007, and $1l8an of incremental revenues from Hyperion. Exdilog the
effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Americastributed 55%, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia Raci
contributed 16% to the increase in consulting rexesn

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosnsulting expenses increased as a result of hjggreonnel
related expenses attributed to higher headcouetdend third-party contractor expenses. Consuékpgenses
include $281 million of incremental expenses frefiex and $17 million from Hyperion. Total consulg margin as
a percentage of revenues increased primarily dhéggteer margins contributed by i-flex.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C The increase in consulting revenues is primatilg to an increase in
application product implementations and billableitsoprimarily provided by consultants who were feriyn
employed by our acquired companies. Excluding ffeceof currency rate fluctuations, the Americastibuted
56% to the growth in consulting revenues, EMEA dboted 26% and Asia Pacific contributed 18%.

Consulting expenses increased as a result of hgglary and benefit expenses due to additionaliress we
acquired as part of our acquisitions and increaséernal contractor costs due to employee attrifidre total
consulting margin as a percentage of revenuesretin fiscal 2006 in comparison to fiscal 200&assult of
additional consulting expenses attributed to heaxtkevels and external contractor related expenekt

On Demand: On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, CRM On Demad Advanced Customer Services.
Oracle On Demand provides multi-featured softwaie lrardware management, and maintenance servicesrfo
database and middleware as well as our applicatioft&are at our data center facilities or at a sftour
customer’s choosing. CRM On Demand is a servicerioff) that provides our customers with our SiedeMC
software functionality delivered via a hosted solnthat we manage. Advanced Customer Servicegsters
configuration and performance analysis, personél&eport and on-site technical services. The afgstoviding
On Demand services consists primarily of persorglated expenditures and hardware and facilitisssco

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007  Actual Constant 2006  Actual Constant 2005
On Demand Revenue!
Americas $31: 35% 35% $ 231 41% 40% $ 16t
EMEA 17€  49% 39% 11€ 26% 32% 93
Asia Pacific 68  46% 42% 48 13% 12% 41
Total revenue 557 40% 37% 397 32% 33% 29¢
Expenses
Cost of service(®) 574  49% 45% 385 52% 53% 258
Stocl-based compensatic 4 * * — * * —
Amortization of intangible asse® 14 365% 365% 3 i3 —
Total expense 592  52% 47% 386 53% 53% 253
Total Margin $ (35 -553% 512% $ 9 -83% -76% $ 46
Total Margin % -6% 2% 15%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 56% 58% 55%
EMEA 32% 30% 31%
Asia Pacific 12% 12% 14%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
* Not meaningfu
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Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuasp®n Demand revenues
increased due to higher Advanced Customer Servisesues, and the expansion of our subscriptioe imalsoth
Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demand services. Adh@ustomer Services revenues contributed 46%eof th
growth, while Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demamdrdmuted 33% and 21%, respectively. Excluding the
effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Americastributed 55%, EMEA contributed 32% and Asia Raci
contributed 13% to the increase in On Demand ree®midvanced Customer Services revenues included

$50 million of incremental revenues from Siebefigmal 2007 while CRM On Demand revenues included

$31 million.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatio@) Demand expenses increased due to higher pelsetated
expenditures, higher amortization expenses regultom intangible assets, as well as higher teamol
infrastructure related costs to support the exmansf our customer base. CRM On Demand expensetigmaflects
a full year of expenses related to our Siebel CRiWD@mand employees (in comparison to only four e
fiscal 2006). Total On Demand margin as a percentdgevenues decreased, primarily driven by mapédrgrowtt
in personnel related expenses in comparison toweg and to a lesser extent, growth in technoioiggstructure
related expenditures in Oracle On Demand and CRND@mand as well as amortization of intangible asset
Advanced Customer Services operating margins resddiat compared with the prior year while opergtiosses i
both Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demand increased.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C On Demand revenues increased in fiscal 2006 atleetexpansion of our
subscription base in Oracle On Demand servicekjdimg incremental revenues from Siebel of $9 willias well
as higher revenues from Advanced Customer Seniiasding incremental revenues from Siebel of #ilfion
and PeopleSoft of $9 million. Excluding the effe€turrency rate fluctuations, the Americas contidal 65% to th
increase in On Demand revenues, EMEA contribut@d 88d Asia Pacific contributed 5%.

On Demand expenses increased due to higher petsetated expenditures in both our Oracle On Derneandi
Advanced Customer Services businesses as a réadltlitional resources acquired from Siebel as aglhigher
computer and technology related charges and exteon#&ractor costs in our Oracle On Demand busiriEss total
On Demand margin as a percentage of revenues dddine to lower margins associated with the CRMD@®manc
offering as well as additional expenditures incdr@ support planned future growth.
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Education: Education revenues are earned by providing io&irded, media based and internet based traimng i
the use of our database and middleware as wep@ations software. Education expenses primaalysist of
personnel related expenditures, facilities andreglecontractor costs.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007  Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Education Revenues
Americas $ 164 9% 8% $ 151 34% 32% $ 112
EMEA 132 13% 6% 117 8% 13%  10¢
Asia Pacific 63 16% 14% 54 13% 15% 48
Total revenue 35¢ 11% 8% 32z 20% 21%  26¢
Expenses
Cost of service® 288 15% 11%  24¢€ 10% 11% 224
Stocl-based compensatic 2 * * — -100% -100% 1
Total expense 28¢ 16% 12%  24¢€ 10% 11% 22t
Total Margin $ 74 -2% 5% $ 76 69% 3% $ 44
Total Margin % 21% 24% 16%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 46% A47% 42%
EMEA 37% 36% 40%
Asia Pacific 17% 17% 18%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspeducation revenues grew
primarily due to an increase in customer trainingtee use of our application products, as wellamélion of
incremental revenues from our acquisition of HyperiThe Americas contributed 46%, EMEA contribu2éd6 anc
Asia Pacific contributed 28% to the increase incadiion revenues.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatioeducation expenses increased due to incremesddcbunt and
associated personnel related expenditures, asagéligher third party contractor and royalty feesogiated with
increased revenues. Education expenses also inBRidellion of incremental expenses from Hyperidotal
education margin as a percentage of revenues decres expenses grew at a higher rate than revenues

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Education revenues increased due to an incraagestomer training on the
use of our acquired applications products. Exclgdive effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Aires
contributed 64%, EMEA contributed 24% and Asia Raciontributed 12% to the overall increase in edion
revenues.

Education expenses increased due to incrementdtbeat and associated personnel related expersliteleted to
Siebel education employees and higher externatactotr costs.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consist gdiirnbgersonnel related
expenditures. We intend to continue to invest Siggmtly in our research and development effortsaose, in our
judgment, they are essential to maintaining ourpetitive position
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual  Constant 2005
Research and developm¢® $ 2,11C 14% 11%$ 1,85¢ 25% 24% $ 1,481
Stocl-based compensatic 85 541% 541% 13 31% 31% 10
Amortization of intangible asse® 10 -47% -A7% 17 -49% -38% 32
Total expense $ 2,208 17% 16%$ 1,88¢ 24% 24% $ 1,52
% of Total Revenues 12% 13% 13%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnesearch and developm
expenses increased due to higher salary and beagfienses associated with higher headcount leneisased
stock-based compensation expenses due to the adapbtStatement 123R and increased external cdatrac
expenses. Research and development expenses inutueimental expenses of $25 million from i-flexdan

$19 million from Hyperion. Research and developniergdcount increased by approximately 3,600 empkye
consisting of a 33% increase in personnel in opliegtions products divisions and a 14% increageeirsonnel in
our database and middleware products division.ifitr@ase in applications headcount includes apprately
1,200 employees acquired from i-flex and 200 froypétion, while the increase in database and midallew
headcount includes approximately 400 employeesigatfrom Hyperion.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Research and development headcount increasegpbgxémately 1,300,
which represented a 13% increase in personnelridatabase and middleware products division arfh 6rease
in personnel in our applications products divisibhe increase in database and middleware heade@sprimarily
due to hiring of resources outside the United Statdile the increase in applications headcountprimsarily due
to Siebel resources acquired. Research and develdmrpenses increased due to incremental saldriperefits
for the additional headcount, higher discretionampus expenditures and higher facility and techgylosts,
partially offset by lower external contractor costs

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses primarilyssbof personnel related
expenditures for information technology, finanagdl and human resources support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006  Actual  Constant 2005
General and Administrativ®) $ 64z 16% 13% $ 55E 1% 3% $ 55(C
Stocl-based compensatic 49 * * — * * —
Total expense $ 692 25% 22% $ 55& 1% 3% $ 55C
% of Total Revenue 4% 4% 5%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspgeneral and administrat
expenses increased during fiscal 2007 as a refshigjloer personnel related costs associated witteased
headcount to support our expanding operationget@gnition of stock-based compensation expensesadiiine
adoption of Statement 123R and increased profesisgemvices fees, primarily litigation related expes. General
and administrative expenses include incrementatiesgs of $25 million fromflex and $10 million from Hyperiot
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspgeneral and administrat
expenses increased slightly due to higher litigadgpenses and increased salary costs, partiddigtdfy lower
bonus expenditures.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 321 33% $ 241 174% $ 88
Developed technolog 35E 72% 20€ 140% 86
Core technolog 13z 46% 91 203% 30
Customer contrac! 44 47% 30 200% 10
Trademarks 25 67% 15 200% 5
Total amortization of intangible ass $ 87¢ 51% $ 582 166% $ 21¢

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Amortization of intangible assets increased duth¢ amortization of
purchased intangibles from Hyperion, Siebel (ayatr of amortization in fiscal 2007 in comparigorfiour months
in fiscal 2006), i-flex and other acquisitions tka consummated in the past two fiscal years. Sd#e M of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additiagmf@irmation regarding our intangible assets (idatg weighted
average useful lives) and related amortization eses.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Amortization of intangible assets increased a@uamortization of purchas
intangibles from Siebel and other acquisitionssedl 2006 as well as a full year of amortizatioriscal 2006
related to PeopleSoft intangibles acquired compatddonly five months of amortization in fiscal @®.

Acquisition Related Charges Acquisition related charges primarily consistreprocess research and developn
expenses, integration-related professional serv&tesk-compensation expenses and personnel redgpathses for
transitional employees. Stock-based compensatidnded in acquisition related charges relates tested options
assumed from acquisitions whose vesting was fultekerated upon termination of the employees putsoahe
terms of these options.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
In-process research and developn $ 151 4% $ 78 0% $ 46
Transitional employee related expen 24 -20% 30 -42% 52
Stocl-based compensatic 9 -50% 18 -62% 47
Professional fee 8 -27% 11 -83% 63
PeopleSoft pr-acquisition legal contingency accrt (52 * — * —
Total acquisition related charg $ 14C 2% $ 137 -34% $ 20¢

* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Acquisition related charges increased primarilg ¢b in-process research
and development charges resulting from our acdéuisitof Hyperion, i-flex and others in fiscal 200his increase
was offset by a $52 million benefit related to settlement of a lawsuit filed in October 2003 agafPeopleSoft on
behalf of the U.S. government, prior to our acdigriof PeopleSoft. The lawsuit alleged People8&twdtie defective
pricing disclosures to the General Services Adriai®n. This lawsuit represented a pre-acquisitiontingency
that we identified and assumed in connection withacquisition of PeopleSoft. On October 10, 2066 agreed to
pay the U.S. government approximately $98 milliorséttle this lawsuit. Business combination acdogrdétandarc
require that after the end of the purchase priceation period, any adjustment to amounts recofded pre-
acquisition contingency is to be included as amelat of net income in the period of settlementsusran
adjustment to the original purchase price allocatiiince the purchase price allocation period g Soft ended
in our third quarter of fiscal 2006, the favorablfference of $52 million between the estimated
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exposure recorded for this lawsuit during the pasehprice allocation period and the actual setthémmount has
been included in our consolidated statement ofaimars for fiscal 2007.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Acquisition related charges decreased due torlpnafessional fees, stock-
based compensation charges and lower transitionplogyee costs, partially offset by higher in-pracessearch and
development charges primarily related to the SiabgLlisition.

Restructuring: Restructuring expenses consist of Oracle empleggerance costs and Oracle duplicate facilities
closures which were initiated to improve our casicure as a result of acquisitions. For additiomi@mrmation
regarding the Oracle restructuring plans, as weetkatructuring activities of our acquired companjgease see
Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial States

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
Severance cos $ 19 -78% $ 85 -33% $ 12¢
Excess facilitie: — * — -100% 21

Total restructuring charge $ 19 -78% $ 85 -42% $ 147

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Restructuring expenses decreased as our manageich@ot initiate and
communicate any plans to restructure our Oracledagperations during fiscal 2007. Restructuringemsges in
fiscal 2007 relate to notifications made pursuarthe Fiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plan.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Restructuring expenses decreased in fiscal 206@allower headcount
terminations and related severance costs. Additigrike restructuring program in fiscal 2005 indéd $21 million
of facility exit and termination costs.

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2007  Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Interest expens $34%  103% 104% $ 16¢ 25% 26% $ 13t

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Interest expense increased in fiscal 2007 dingtoer average borrowings
in fiscal 2007 related to our $5.75 billion aggregarincipal amount of senior notes issued in JanR@06 (of
which $1.5 billion was redeemed by us in May 20@1y, $2.1 billion of commercial paper issuancesabich
approximately $1.4 billion remained outstanding&®lay 31, 2007) and our $2.0 billion of senior e®issued in
May 2007.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Interest expense increased in fiscal 2006 condparéscal 2005 due to
higher average borrowings related to the $5.7%hikenior notes issued in January 2006 as welltsanding
balances under our commercial paper program anecured loan facility, both of which were repaidistal 2006.

Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarilyraérest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains (losses), net investment gain®detatmarketable securities and other investmenigedl as the
minority interests’ share in the net profits oféxf and Oracle Japan.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Actual Constant 2006 Actual Constant 2005
Interest incom $295 74% 72% $17C -8% -8% $18t
Foreign currency gains (loss¢ 45 15% 19% 39 -368% -374% (14)
Net investment gains related to equity secur 22 -11% -10% 25 1301% 1292% 2
Minority interest (7)) 72% 70% (41 -2% 2% (42
Other 64 28% 22% 50 52% 52% 33

Total nor-operating income, n $35E  46% 45% $24: 49Y% 50% $164

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Non-operating income, net increased in fiscal22pfmarily due to higher
interest income attributable to an increase inayelinterest rates (the weighted average intesitssearned on cas
cash equivalents and marketable securities incldasm 3.04% in fiscal 2006 to 3.97% in fiscal 2)QFartially
offset by higher minority interests’ share in thet profits of i-flex and Oracle Japan.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Non-operating income, net increased in fiscale28¢ a result of higher
foreign currency gains on our Japanese net invedthezlge and the Chinese currency revaluationnd@illibn of
equity in earnings associated with our interegtfiex and higher gains on sales of equity seasitinterest income
decreased slightly due to lower average cash, @gqgivalents and marketable securities balancesalpaoffset by
higher interest rates. The weighted average inteaés earned on cash, cash equivalents and mbhletacurities
increased from 1.93% in fiscal 2005 to 3.04% iedl2006.

Provision for Income Taxes The effective tax rate in all periods is the tesfithe mix of income earned in
various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad ranfjincome tax rates. The provision for income tadiéfers from the
tax computed at the federal statutory income téxdae primarily to state taxes and earnings censilas
indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Fateffective tax rates could be adversely affedtedrnings are
lower than anticipated in countries where we haveer statutory rates, by unfavorable changes ihatas and
regulations, or by adverse rulings in tax relatggdtion.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
Provision for income taxe $ 1,712 20 $ 1,42¢ 23% $ 1,16¢
Effective tax rate 28.6% 29.7% 28.8%

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Provision for income taxes increased in fiscdl2@rimarily due to higher
earnings before tax, partially offset by a lowdeefive tax rate. Our effective tax rate for fis2@07 was slightly
lower than in fiscal 2006 primarily due to addittdmesearch and development tax credits as wealjesements
reached with foreign tax authorities on certaingasitions.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Provision for income taxes increased in fiscdl&@8ue to higher earnings
before tax and a higher effective tax rate. Thedase in the effective tax rate in fiscal 2006rimprily attributable
to a higher percentage of earnings in high tasglictions as compared with other lower tax ratisglictions. In
addition, we did not benefit from certain non-reoug tax events in fiscal 2006 that occurred icdis2005,
including the settlement of audits and expiratibstatutes of limitations on certain tax assessmant the
true-up of estimated tax accruals upon the filihgur prior year tax returns. We also incurred leighondeductible
in-process research and development charges al #866.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005
Working capital $ 3,49¢ 31% $ 5,044 1210% $ 38t
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 7,02 -8% $ 7,60¢ 50 $ 4,771
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Working capital: The decrease in working capital in fiscal 2005 wemarily a result of cash used to pay for our
acquisitions and stock repurchases, partially bffigdancreases in operating cash flows from higizdes volumes,
proceeds received from employee stock option esxescind an increase in our long-term borrowings.iftrease
in working capital in fiscal 2006 is primarily doe our issuance of $5.75 billion long-term seniotas in January
2006 as well as greater cash flows from operati@m higher sales volumes, partially offset by caskd to pay fc
acquisitions, stock repurchases, and the reducfionr other debt obligations.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitie€ash and cash equivalents consist of highly diguvestments
in time deposits held at major banks, commercipepaUnited States government agency discount notesey
market mutual funds and other money market seeaniith original maturities of 90 days or less. kidable
securities primarily consist of commercial pap@rporate notes and United States government agesteg. Cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities inch&de billion held by our foreign subsidiaries asvdy 31, 2007.
The decrease in cash, cash equivalents and malkkeedurities is a result of cash used to pay dquisitions and
stock repurchases, partially offset by an incréaseir operating cash flows from higher sales vaapnincreases in
our short-term and long-term borrowings and prosdesm stock option exercises.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated byditig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the
quarter, was 62 days at May 31, 2007 comparedY%ittays at May 31, 2006. The days sales outstanding
calculation excludes the adjustment to reduce sofidicense updates and product support revenlatedeo
adjusting the carrying value for deferred suppevenues acquired to fair value. Our increase i dajes
outstanding is primarily due to higher days salgstanding from acquired companies, as well agudffces in the
timing of completion of certain sales transactibeswveen years.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 5,52( 22% $ 4,541 28% $ 3,552
Cash used for investing activiti $(4,977) 48% $(3,359) -42% $(5,757)
Cash (used for) provided by financing activit $(1,139  -175% $ 1,527 -19% $ 1,884

Cash flows from operating activities:Our largest source of operating cash flows i cadlections from our
customers following the purchase and renewal df gtdtware license updates and product suppodegents.
Payments from customers for software license ugdatd product support agreements are generallivegchy the
beginning of the contract term, which is generalhg year in length. We also generate significash éeom new
software license sales and, to a lesser extenicesr Our primary uses of cash from operatingviies are for
personnel related expenditures as well as paymelated to taxes and facilities.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash flows provided by operating activities iraed in fiscal 2007
primarily due to higher net income before non-caséirges, partially offset by increased accountsivables due to
fourth quarter fiscal 2007 revenue growth, cashpants to terminate leases associated with excetliiéa
assumed in the Siebel acquisition, an increasash mterest payments resulting from higher avebagewings
and the settlement of a pre-acquisition lawsuitdfihgainst PeopleSoft.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash flows provided by operating activities iraed in fiscal 2006
primarily due to higher sales volumes and high¢imzsome, excluding non-cash charges, partiallgeifby
increased accounts receivables due to fourth quigstal 2006 revenue growth.

Cash flows from investing activities:The changes in cash flows from investing actsitprimarily relate to
acquisitions and the timing of purchases, matwritied sales of marketable securities. We alsoaseto invest in
capital and other assets to support our growth.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash used for investing activities increasedsical 2007 due to an increase
in cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquifél paid cash to purchase a number of companiiscal 2007
including Hyperion, Stellent, MetaSolv, and PoBalftware, and to purchase additional equity seesrih i-flex.
Cash outflows in fiscal 2006 primarily relate tar @equisition of Siebel and our equity investmeutchases in i-
flex.
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash used for investing activities decreasedaaf 2006 primarily due to
lower cash payments for acquisitions, net of casfuiged, as well as proceeds from property safegsdting cash
outflows in fiscal 2005 include cash paid for oagaisition of PeopleSoft, whereas investing cagfiaus in fiscal
2006 primarily relate to our acquisition of Sielbed our equity investment purchases in i-flex.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing acegtprimarily relate to
borrowings and payments under debt obligationsedsas stock repurchase and stock option exercitbety.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash used for financing activities in fiseBD7 primarily relates to an
increase in stock repurchases and lower borrowiegef repayments when compared with the prior.y&tar

May 31, 2007 we had approximately $4.2 billion #afale for share repurchases pursuant to a progudinozed by
our Board of Directors and we intend to continuesipurchase shares pursuant to this program.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash provided by financing activities decreasefiscal 2006 primarily due
to higher stock repurchases, partially offset lghlki net borrowings. We increased our share repsashin fiscal
2006 due to the issuance of approximately 141 onilshares of common stock in connection with ogb8li
acquisition.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flows ptedean a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP
measures of cash flows on a trailing 4-quartersbsanalyze cash flow generated from operatiorsbélieve free
cash flow is also useful as one of the bases fiopawing our performance with our competitors. Thespntation of
non-GAAP free cash flow is not meant to be congden isolation or as an alternative to net incasean indicator
of our performance, or as an alternative to cashidlfrom operating activities as a measure of digyi We
calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2007 Change 2006 Change 2005

Cash provided by operating activiti $5,52( 22% $4,541 28% $3,55Z
Capital expenditure(®) $ (319 35% $ (236) 26% $ (18¢)
Free cash flov $5,201 21% $4,30¢ 28% $3,36¢
Net income $4,27¢ 26% $3,381 17% $2,88¢
Free cash flow as a percent of net incc 122% 127% 117%

(1) Represents capital expenditures as reported inftagh from investing activities in our consoliddtstatements
of cash flows presented in accordance with U.Segly accepted accounting principl

Long-Term Customer Financing

In fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, $891 million, $61i8iom and $456 million or approximately 15%, 13%cda11%,
respectively, of our new software license reverwee financed through our financing division. Wegelly sell
contracts that we have financed on a non-recowsss o financial institutions. We record the tfans of amounts
due from customers to financial institutions agsalf financial assets because we are considelsa/o
surrendered control of these financial assets.

Contractual Obligations

The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymendgwfixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changealirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, dhgrigterest
rates and other factors may result in actual paysrgiffering from these estimates. We cannot prewdrtainty
regarding the timing and amounts of payments. Wie [paesented below a summary of the most
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significant assumptions used in our informatiorhimitthe context of our consolidated financial posit results of
operations and cash flows. The following is a sumynoé our contractual obligations as of May 31, 200

Year Ending May 31,
(Dollars in millions) Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter

Principal payments on short-terr

borrowings and long-term deb

@) $ 7611% 1361% 1000$% 1000$ 225(% — $ 2,00(
Capital lease(®@ 3 3 — — — — —
Interest payments on short-term

borrowings and long-term deb

@ 1,65¢ 32t 321 26¢ 21¢ 10& 42C
Operating lease® 1,44¢ 33¢ 301 242 16z 124 28(
Purchase obligatior® 292 73 19¢ 3 3 3 14
Funding commitment®) 3 3 — — — — —

Total contractual obligatior $ 11,01t $ 2,10¢$ 181¢$ 1514$ 263:$ 232 $ 2,71«

(1) Shor-term borrowings and lor-term debt consists of the following as of May 3002:

Principal Balance

Commercial paper notes (effective interest rate.88)% $ 1,35t
Floating rate senior notes due May 2009 (effedtiverest rate of 5.38)¢ 1,00C
Floating rate senior notes due May 2010 (effedtiverest rate of 5.42)¢ 1,00(¢
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of discfu$6 2,24¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disciu$9 1,991
Other 3

Total borrowings $ 7,59

@) Interest payments were calculated based on tertteoklated agreements and include estimates loaste
effective interest rates as of May 31, 2007 foiakde rate borrowings. See Note 5 of Notes to Clifeied
Financial Statements for additional informatioratetl to our borrowing:

Represents remaining payments under capital ledsssnputer equipment assumed from acquisiti

Primarily represents leases of facilities and idelifuture minimum rent payments for facilitiesttive have
vacated pursuant to our restructuring and merdegiation activities. We have approximately $364iom
in facility obligations, net of estimated suble@smme and other costs, in accrued restructuringhiese
locations in our consolidated balance sheet at 8132007

Represents amounts associated with agreementaréhanforceable, legally binding and specify terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purshd; fixed, minimum or variable price provisionsdahe
approximate timing of the paymel

Represents the maximum additional capital we mayl te contribute toward our venture fund investraent
which are payable upon demal

@
@3

= =

4

=

G

-

In May 2007, we entered into an agreement to aecuiile Software Corporation, a leading providepodduct
lifecycle management software, for $8.10 per siraoash, or approximately $495 million. The merigesubject to
stockholder and regulatory approval and other enatg closing conditions and is expected to closmitthto late
July 2007. This commitment is not reflected in éfvve table.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangemen

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatdraive or are reasonably likely to have a cuefiture
effect on our financial condition, changes in figiah condition, revenues or expenses, results efatpns,
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resowrtieat are material to investors.

Recent Financing Activities

Commercial Paper Program

In February 2006, we entered into dealer agreenveittsvarious financial institutions and an Issuangd Paying
Agency Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Natigsabciation, relating to a $3.0 billion commergalper
program (CP Program). Under the CP Program, weissaye and sell unsecured short-term promissorysnote
pursuant to a private placement exemption fronrelyéstration requirements under federal and sttargties laws.
In fiscal 2007, we issued approximately $2.1 hillwf short-term promissory notes (Commercial P&ymes)
pursuant to our CP Program, of which $1.4 billiemained outstanding and $1.6 billion remained dsiadal
capacity under our CP Program as of May 31, 208@.maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes ratghdeen
two weeks and three months and the weighted aveialgk including issuance costs, was 5.33% at Bihy2007.
We did not have any outstanding borrowings underGR Program at May 31, 2006.

Senior Notes Payable

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatingeatenior notes, of which $1.0 billion is due Map2@New 2009
Notes) and $1.0 billion is due May 2010 (2010 Nptié¢e issued the New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notesrim the
redemption of the $1.5 billion of senior floatirate notes that we issued in fiscal 2006 (see bedo)for general
corporate purposes. The New 2009 Notes and 201€sNbatar interest at a rate of three-month USD LIBQR
0.02% and 0.06%, respectively, and interest is lplayguarterly. The New 2009 Notes and 2010 Noteg moabe
redeemed prior to their maturity.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senites consisting of $1.5 billion of floating ratnsor notes due
2009 (Original 2009 Notes), $2.25 billion of 5.0@#nior notes due 2011 (2011 Notes) and $2.0 bitifon

5.25% senior notes due 2016 (2016 Notes and togeitiethe Original 2009 Notes and the 2011 No@sginal
Senior Notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitionfandjeneral corporate purposes. On June 16, 200@ompleted
registered exchange offer of the Original Senioteddor registered senior notes with substantidbytical terms t
the Original Senior Notes.

In May 2007 we redeemed the Original 2009 NotedHeir principal amount plus accrued and unpaidraggt. Our
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes may also be redeemey éhze, subject to payment of a make-whole premitihe
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes bear interest at thef&®0% and 5.25% per year, respectively. Intasggayable
semi-annually for the 2011 notes and 2016 notes.

The effective interest yields of the New 2009 Np#s10 Notes, 2011 Notes and 2016 Notes (colldgtiviee
Senior Notes) at May 31, 2007 were 5.38%, 5.429%9%.and 5.33%, respectively.

The Senior Notes rank pari passu with the Commigeeiper Notes and all existing and future senidebtedness
Oracle Corporation. All existing and future liabiés of the subsidiaries of Oracle Corporation Wwéleffectively
senior to the Senior Notes and the Commercial Peptas.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitslararketable securities and cash generated fpmratons will
be sufficient to meet our working capital, capéapenditures and contractual obligations. In addjtive believe w
could fund acquisitions, including the Agile acquiis, and repurchase common stock with our intéyrevailable
cash and investments, cash generated from opesatorounts available under our credit facilitiesjigonal
borrowings or from the issuance of additional sities:

Quarterly Results of Operations

Quarterly revenues and expenses have historicaliy laffected by a variety of seasonal factorsuting sales
compensation plans. These seasonal factors are @onmthe software industry. These factors haveseda
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decrease in our first quarter revenues as companeyenues in the immediately preceding fourthrguawhich
historically has been the highest revenue quafferexpect this trend to continue in the first geladf fiscal 2008.
In addition, our European operations generally jgledower revenues in our first fiscal quarter hessaof the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the simm

The following table sets forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal gteas. We believe
that all necessary adjustments, which consisteg @fmhormal recurring adjustments, have been ireduid the
amounts stated below to present fairly the resilsich periods when read in conjunction with tbrsolidated
financial statements and related notes includezdisre in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The safrthe
quarterly financial information may vary from theraal data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2007 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3C February 28 May 31

Revenue:! $ 3591 % 416: $ 441< $ 5,82¢
Gross profit $ 1666 $ 2022 $ 2197 $ 3,14
Operating incom: $ 94 3 1,357 $ 139 $ 2,281
Net income $ 67C $ 967 $ 1,03 $ 1,60/
Earnings per sha—Dbasic $ 01 % 0.1¢ $ 02 $ 0.31
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 01z $ 0.1¢ % 020 $% 0.31

Fiscal 2006 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 3C February 28 May 31

Revenue:! $ 2,76¢ % 3292 $ 347C $ 4,851
Gross profit $ 1311 % 1,70t $ 1,77¢ $ 2,60¢
Operating incom: $ 71z % 1,11¢ $ 1,052 $ 1,85i
Net income $ 51¢ % 79¢ % 765 $  1,30C
Earnings per sha—Dbasic $ 01C % 0.1t $ 0.1t $ 0.2f
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 01C % 0.1t  $ 014£  $ 0.24

Stock Options

Our stock option program is a key component ofcih@pensation package we provide to attract anéhritkented
employees and align their interests with the irgisref existing stockholders. We recognize thaibogtdilute
existing stockholders and have sought to cont®inilimber of options granted while providing conmpati
compensation packages. Consistent with these dadd,gour cumulative potential dilution for eachtiod last three
full fiscal years has been less than 2.0% and basiged 1.7% per year. The potential dilution petage is
calculated as the new option grants for the yeeding options assumed in acquisitions), netptioms forfeited
by employees leaving the company, divided by tial tmutstanding shares at the beginning of the. yidss
maximum potential dilution will only result if atiptions are exercised. Some of these options, wiavk

10-year exercise periods, have exercise pricedaniialy higher than the current market price Mdy 31, 2007,
12% of our outstanding stock options had exercigeeg in excess of the current market price. Cossisvith our
historical practices, we do not expect that dilutijom future grants before the effect of our stogurchase
program will exceed 2.0% per year for our ongoingibess. Over the last 10 years, our stock repsecheogram
has more than offset the dilutive effect of ouicktoption program; however, we may reduce the lefelur stock
repurchases in the future as we may use our al@ialsh for acquisitions, to repay indebtednegsrasther
purposes. At May 31, 2007, the maximum potentikitidin from all outstanding and unexercised optovards,
regardless of when granted and regardless of whedis¢ed or unvested and including options whegesthike price
is higher than the current market price, was 8.5%.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide sotion
grants to selected employees, all stock optiontgranexecutive officers and any individual stogition grants in
excess of 100,000 shares. A separate Plan Compmittéeh is an executive officer committee, approvelvidual
stock option grants of up to 100,000 shares toex@tutive officers and employees.
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Options activity from June 1, 2004 through May 2007 is summarized as follows:

(Shares
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 44C
Options grante: 171
Options assume 204
Options exercise (264)
Forfeitures and cancellatiol (119
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 434
Average annualized options granted, net of forfe& 86
Average annualized stock repurcha 16&
Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 5,107
Weightec-average shares outstanding from June 1, 2004 thrivlay 31, 200" 5,16¢
Options outstanding as a percent of shares ouistatl May 31, 200 8.5%
In the money options outstanding (based on our 8132007 stock price) as a percent of shares
outstanding at May 31, 20( 7.5%
Average annualized options granted and assumedf fatfeitures and before stock repurchases, as
percent of weighted average shares outstanding Jrome 1, 2004 through May 31, 2C 1.7%
Average annualized options granted and assumedf fatfeitures and after stock repurchases, as a
percent of average shares outstanding from Ju2@Q¥, through May 31, 20( -1.5%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuah@atzonwide option grants to selected employees during
ten business-day period following the two busirdesss after the announcement of our fiscal yearesmdings
report.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to new accounting pnamcements and the impact of these pronouncemerdsro
consolidated financial statements, see Note 1 ¢é&Ntw Consolidated Financial Statements.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Income Rate Rist In the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we beganigleating newly acquired fixed income
investments as available-for-sale. As a resulhefavailable-for-sale designation, all securitieschased after
May 31, 2006 are recorded on the balance sheairah&rket value. As of May 31, 2007, substantially
investments held are classified as available-fte-sa

We generally purchase investments with relativelyrsmaturities. Therefore, interest rate movemgatgerally do
not materially affect the valuation of our investrtge Auction rate securities are reported on tHarua sheet at par
value, which equals market value, as the rate oh sacurities re-sets generally every 7 to 28 dalianges in the
overall level of interest rates affect our interiesbme that is generated from our investmentsfisoal 2007, total
interest income was $295 million with investmeriedding an average 3.97% on a worldwide basis. eest
rate level was up approximately 93 basis points1fB04% for fiscal 2006. If overall interest rafel by a similar
amount (93 basis points) in fiscal 2008, our irgemecome would decline by approximately $70 milli@ssuming
consistent investment levels. The table below prissthe cash, cash equivalent and marketable siesusalances
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and the related weighted average interest ratesufioinvestment portfolio at May 31, 2007. The ¢astsh
equivalent and marketable securities balances ajppabe fair value at May 31, 2007:

Amortized Weighted Average
(Dollars in millions) Principal Amount Interest Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 6,21¢ 4.08%
Marketable securitie 80z 2.89%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 7,02( 3.95%

The following table includes the United States alo#quivalent of cash, cash equivalents and mdrkes®curities
denominated in foreign currencies. See discusdiauioforeign currency risk below for a descriptiohhow we
hedge net assets of certain international subgdifiom foreign currency exposure.

Amortized

Principal

Amount at

May 31,

(in millions) 2007

Euro $ 892
Japanese Ye 681
British Pounc 371
Chinese Renmint 33€
Canadian Dolla 237
Australian Dollar 21¢
South African Rani 11¢
Other currencie 1,35¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 4,212

Interest Expense Rate Ris Borrowings as of May 31, 2007 were $7.6 billioonsisting of $5.6 billion of fixed
rate borrowings and $2.0 billion of variable raterowings. Our variable rate borrowings were abofo$ at

May 31, 2007:

(Dollars in millions) Borrowings Effective Interest Rate

Floating rate senior notes due May 2(®) $ 1,00(¢ 5.38%

Floating rate senior notes due May 2() 1,00( 5.42%
Total borrowings subject to variable interest rfhietuations $ 2,00(

(1) The 2009 and 2010 Notes bear interest at a floatitegequal to three-month LIBOR plus 0.02% per yeal
0.06% per year, respective

Interest expense for fiscal 2007 was $343 millBased on effective interest rates at May 31, 2800 basis point
increase in interest rates on our borrowings stilbgecariable interest rate fluctuations would &e&se our interest
expense by approximately $17 million annually.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk. We transact business in various foreign currenare have established a
program that primarily utilizes foreign currencyvi@rd contracts to offset the risks associated thigheffects of
certain foreign currency exposures. Under this g increases or decreases in our foreign currexggsures are
offset by gains or losses on the forward contrdotsjitigate the possibility of foreign currencatisaction gains or
losses. These foreign currency exposures typieaife from intercompany sublicense fees and ottierdompany
transactions. Our forward contracts generally awas of 90 days or less. We do not use forwardraots for
trading purposes. All outstanding foreign currefayvard contracts (excluding our Yen equity hedgeatibed
below) are marked to market at the end of the gesitth unrealized gains and losses included in operating
income, net. Our ultimate realized gain or loshwéspect to currency fluctuations will depend los ¢urrency
exchange rates and other factors in effect asdheacts mature. Net foreign exchange transaciaomsg
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(losses) included in non-operating income, nehaaccompanying consolidated statements of opesatiere

$17 million, $15 million and $(28) million in fist2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The unrealgads (losses)
of our outstanding foreign currency forward contsagere $5 million and $(0.3) million at May 31,@0and 2006,
respectively.

The tables below present the notional amountsofatract exchange rates) and the weighted averageactual
foreign currency exchange rates for the outstanfiingard contracts as of May 31, 2007. Notionalgiéd
average exchange rates listed in the tables belewted using market conventions. All of our fard/contracts
mature within one year with the substantial majomitaturing within 90 days or less as of May 31,200

Tables of Forward Contracts:

United States Dollar Foreign Exchange Contracts

Exchange Exchange Notional
Foreign Currency U.S. Dollars for Weighted Average
for U.S. Dollars Foreign Currency Exchange Rate
(Dollars in millions) (Notional Amount) (Notional Amount) (Market Convention)
Functional Currency:
Australian Dollar $ 11 % 5 0.82
British Pounc — 6 1.9¢
Canadian Dolla 30 7 1.07
Chilean Pes: 3 — 526.1(
Chinese Renmint 177 — 7.51
Columbian Pes 6 — 1,925.0!
Indian Rupes 29 12: 45.8:
Israel Sheke — 4 4.01
Japanese Ye 25 — 120.2:
Korean Wor 18 — 926.9(
Mexican Pes: 7 — 10.8¢
New Zealand Dolla 4 — 0.72
Philippine Pes: 14 — 46.12
Saudi Arabian Riya 32 — 3.7
Singapore Dolla 2 84 1.52
South African Rant 12 — 7.1¢
Taiwan Dollar 4 — 32.7¢
Thai Baht 7 — 33.5(
Total $ 381 $ 22¢
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Euro Foreign Exchange Contract

Exchange Exchange Notional
Foreign Currency Euros for Weighted Average
for Euros Foreign Currency Exchange Rate
(Euros in millions) (Notional Amount) (Notional Amount) (Market Convention)
Functional Currency:
Swiss Frant € 5 € — 1.64
Danish Krone 3 — 7.4t
British Pounc 42 — 0.6¢
Indian Rupe — 4 54.31
Israeli Sheke 4 — 5.4
Norwegian Krone 4 — 8.11
Polish Zloty 5 — 3.8
Saudi Arabian Riya 3 — 5.07
Slovakian Korun: 1 — 34.0¢
Swedish Kron: 5 — 9.2¢
United States Dolla 19 — 1.3¢
South African Rant 27 — 9.7:
Total € 11€ € 4

Net Investment Risk Periodically, we hedge the net assets of cemdémnational subsidiaries (net investment
hedges) using foreign currency forward contracisfteet the translation and economic exposurese@to our
investments in these subsidiaries. We measurefisgtieeness of net investment hedges by usingltamges in
spot exchange rates because this method reflectsskumanagement strategies, the economics oethtrategies in
our financial statements and better manages intextesdifferentials between different countrieader this methoc
the change in fair value of the forward contrattlaitable to the changes in spot exchange rateseffective
portion) is reported in stockholders’ equity tosf the translation results on the net investm@iis.remaining
change in fair value of the forward contract (theffective portion) is recognized in non-operatimgome, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportsthakholder’ equity prior to tax effects were $45 million,
$23 million and $(23) million in fiscal 2007, 20@&d 2005, respectively. The net gain on investrhedges
reported in non-operating income, net were $28oniJl$24 million and $14 million in fiscal 2007, @® and 2005,
respectively.

At May 31, 2007, we had one net investment heddgajranese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimiresncy
risk arising from net assets held in Yen as a tegiéquity capital raised during the initial pubbffering and
secondary offering of Oracle Japan. The fair valueur Yen investment hedge was $0.2 million at Nay 2007
and 2006. As of May 31, 2007, the Yen investmendgkehas a notional amount of $548 million and artharge
rate of 120.22 Yen for each United States dollar.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The response to this item is submitted as a sepsaeation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Seg R/,

Item 15.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriRaport on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindar the
supervision and with the participation of our Dastire Committee and our management, including thiefC
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officef,the effectiveness of the design and operatiamuofdisclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange AletsRiBa-15(e) and 15d-15(&)isclosure controls are procedu
that are designed to ensure that information requio be disclosed in our reports filed under theusities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, sucthigsAnnual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, psses,
summarized and reported within the time periodsifipe by the Securities and Exchange Commissiasclbsure
controls are also designed to ensure that suchiafiion is accumulated and communicated to our gemant,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief kirtial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely dgens regardin
required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation stttisure controls includes an evaluation of sormepmments of
our internal control over financial reporting. Wle@perform a separate annual evaluation of intermatrol over
financial reporting for the purpose of providing tthanagement report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our impeatation of the
controls and the effect of the controls on therimfation generated for use in this Annual ReporForm 10-K. In
the course of the controls evaluation, we reviedatz errors or control problems identified and $bug confirm
that appropriate corrective actions, including pssimprovements, were being undertaken. Thisdfpgaluation
is performed on a quarterly basis so that the esimhs of management, including our Chief Execu¥icer and
Chief Financial Officer, concerning the effectives®f the disclosure controls can be reported irpetiodic
reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the ponents of our disclosure controls are also evatlah an
ongoing basis by both our internal audit and firaoanizations. The overall goals of these varexaduation
activities are to monitor our disclosure contraisl @ modify them as necessary. We intend to miairie
disclosure controls as dynamic systems that wesadpicircumstances merit.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®@ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded that disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of tloeoéithe period covered by this report.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, a
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}X5(fl 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Clirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wenducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intermaitrol over financial reporting as of May 31, 2a@5&ed on the
guidelines established in Internal Control—IntegdaFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.i@ernal control over financial reporting incliedpolicies
and procedures that provide reasonable assuragardieg the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation
of financial statements for external reporting msgs in accordance with U.S. generally acceptesuating
principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finaheporting
was effective as of May 31, 2007. We reviewed #wiits of management’s assessment with our Firemté\udit
Committee.

Managemens assessment of the effectiveness of our inteorgral over financial reporting as of May 31, 205
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independegistered public accounting firm, as stated inrtheport
which is included in Part IV, Item 15 of this AndlReport on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation
required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act RulesiBar 15d-15 that occurred during our last fispadrter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, believes that oisctbsure
controls and procedures and internal control owericial reporting are effective at the reasonakkurance level.
However, our management does not expect that salodure controls and procedures or our internatrobover
financial reporting will prevent all errors and &tud. A control system, no matter how well conediand
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absalstirance that the objectives of the controksysire met.
Further, the design of a control system must réflee fact that there are resource constraintsilamtenefits of
controls must be considered relative to their cadsause of the inherent limitations in all cohtiystems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assgrdimat all control issues and instances of friuahy, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include ttadities that judgments in decision-making can hétya and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple erroiistake. Additionally, controls can be circumventgdthe
individual acts of some persons, by collusion af v more people or by management override of ¢timérals. The
design of any system of controls also is base@rihypon certain assumptions about the likelihdoiditoire events,
and there can be no assurance that any desigaugikeed in achieving its stated goals under adir@t future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadegbacause of changes in conditions, or the degfree
compliance with policies or procedures may detatmrBecause of the inherent limitations in a effgetive
control system, misstatements due to error or fraagl occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference from the information containedun Broxy

Statement to be filed with the Securities and ErgeaCommission in connection with the solicitatadrproxies for

our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held orvé&aber 2, 2007.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference from the responsive informatioba@ontained

in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Related Stockholde
Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

May 31, 2007
Number of Number of Shares
Shares to be Issue: Weighted Average Remaining Available for
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Future Issuance Under
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Equity Compensation
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Plans®)
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholder 356,148,55 $ 13.52 432,842,962
Equity compensation plans not approvec
stockholder<® 79,802,81 $ 13.9¢ —
Total 435,951,37 432,842,96

(1) These numbers exclude the shares listed undeothmo heading Number of Shares to be Issued Upon Exe
of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Ri¢”

@ This number includes 84,212,131 shares availabléufare issuance under the Oracle Corporation Bygs
Stock Purchase Plan (199
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3 These options were assumed in connection with eguisitions in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fis2@D5. No
additional awards were or can be granted undepltives that originally issued these optic

Information required by this Item with respect to& Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Elggment is
incorporated herein by reference from the infororaprovided under the heading “Security Ownersliigertain
Beneficial Owners and Management” of our Proxy etent.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
Proxy Statement.

PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(@) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?eblic Accounting Firn 65
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2007 and - 67
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag®17, 2006 and 20( 68
Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 &ab. 69
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Ma2@17, 2006 and 20( 70
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 71
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is fiksla part of this report:
Page
Il Valuation and Qualifying Accouni 11C

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial
statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or areanrporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieth the SEC
(the original Exhibit number is referenced paretitiadly).
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
2.01@ Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Septefithet005, as amended, by and among Oracle
Systems Corporation (formerly named Oracle CorpamtSiebel Systems, Inc., Oracle Corporation
(formerly named Ozark Holding Inc.), Ozark Mergeh3nc. and Sierra Merger Sub Inc. (2
2.02(@ Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 287 28mong Oracle Corporation, Hyperion
Solutions Corporation and Hotrod Acquisition Codon (2.1)
3.01@ Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio®mcle Corporation and Certificate of
Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate adrmoration of Oracle Corporation (3.
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Exhibit
Number

3.020)
4.01®
4.02(M)
4.036)
4.046)
4.05(©)
4.07(
4.08®)
10.01O)*
10.0210)*
10.03@n*
10.04 12)*
10.0513)*
10.06 13)*
10.07 14)*

10.08 (19)*
10.09@9)*

10.105)*
10.11a5)*

10.1216)*
10.13019)*
10.1401*
10.15a7*
10.16a7*
10.17@8)

10.1808)

10.19419)

10.20(19)

Exhibit Title

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle CorporaBdiR|

Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stock (4.0:

Preferred Share Rights Agreement between OraclpdCation and Computershare Trust Company,
N.A., as rights agent, dated as of January 31, 2004.)

Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle®gsCorporation, Oracle Corporation and
Citibank, N.A. (10.34

Forms of Old 2011 Note and Old 2016 Note, toget¥idr the Officers’ Certificate issued January 13,
2006 pursuant to the Indenture dated January 18, 20nmong Oracle Corporation (formerly knowi
Ozark Holding Inc.) and Citibank, N.A. (10.3

Forms of New 5.00% Note due 2011 and New 5.25% No&2016 (4.4

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 an@racle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The
Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (4.

Forms of New Floating Rate Note due 2009 and Nexatitig Rate Note due 2001, together with
Officere’ Certificate issued May 15, 2002 setting forth thents of the Notes (4.0

Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rismmended and restated as of November 14,
2003 (10.17

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pla®1&s amended and restated as of February 8,
2005 (10.01

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Dirg€cBtock Plan, as approved on October 9,
2006 (10.29

The 1991 Lon-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through lst@8, 1999 (10.1!
Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated January 7, 2Q@000)

Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated June 2, 200011

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incer®han, as approved on October 29, 2004
(10.07)

Form of Stock Option Agreements for the 2000 L-Term Equity Incentive Plan (10.0

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Oracle Corpanathmended and Restated 1993 Directors’
Stock Plan (10.0¢

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors daxkcutive Officers (10.1(

Letter dated September 15, 2004 confirming severan@ngement contained in Offer Letter dated
May 14, 2003 to Charles E. Phillips, Jr. and empleyt agreement dated May 15, 2003 (10
Amendment dated August 26, 2005, to the Offer kettged May 14, 2003, to Charles E. Phillips, Jr.
(10.25)

Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 to JuergetidR@ind employment agreement dated
September 3, 2004 (10.1

Description of the Fiscal Year 2007 Executive BoRiem (10.28

Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreements for thecl@r&xecutive Bonus Plan, N-Sales (10.29
Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreement for the @r&xecutive Bonus Plan, Sales and Consulting
(10.30)

$700,000,000 Facility Agreement dated May 20, 2@@Bwveen Oracle Technology Company and
ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (10.23

Guaranty dated May 20, 2005, by Oracle Corpordtiothe benefit of ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
(10.24)

First Amendment dated as of January 5, 2006, té-#udity Agreement between Oracle Technology
Company and ABN AMRO Bank, N.V. and the Guarantyracle Systems Corporation for the
benefit of ABN AMRO Bank, N.V., each dated as ofyv20, 2005 (10.32

$5,000,000,000 364-Day Term Loan Agreement dated danuary 5, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation, Oracle Systems Corporation and thédehand agents named therein (10
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

10.212% Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement relatindpe $3,000,000,000 Commercial Paper
Program (10.2

10.22(29) Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between Of@alporation and JP Morgan Chase Bank,
National Association dated as of February 3, 20@W63)

10.23(21)  $3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreememédas of March 15, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation and the lenders and agents named th@@i4)

10.24@2)* Offer Letter dated June 20, 2005 to Gregory B. Eiedihd employment agreement dated June 21,
2005 (10.24

10.25@3)* Amendment dated September 8, 2005, to the Offdet dated June 20, 2005, to Gregory B. Maffei
(10.26)

10.26 @24* Resignation Agreement dated November 3, 2005, efj@w B. Maffei (10.28

10.27 @5)* Offer letter dated January 31, 1997 to Sergio Ga&tmand employment agreement dated
February 20, 1997 (10.2

21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registre

23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registd?tablic Accounting Firn

31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act—Lawrence J. Ellisol

31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act—Safra A. Cat:

32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer

(@) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corpores Current Report on For8-K12G3filed on February 6, 200
@ Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report on For8-K filed on March 6, 200

®) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corpor¢s Current Report on For8-K filed on July 14, 200!

@ Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corpores Annual Report on Fori10-K filed July 21, 200¢

®) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipara Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Januagy
2006

®) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corpores Form $-4/A filed on April 14, 200¢
(M Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Form ¢-3ASRfiled on May 10, 200°
®) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report on For8-K filed on May 15, 200°

O Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed DecemB2y
2004

(10) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Catipora Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Septem®@,
2005

(1) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report on For8-K filed on October 12, 200

(12) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipota Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Januady
2000

(13) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipo’s Annual Report oForm 1(-K filed August 28, 200!
(14) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipn’'s Current Report oForm &K filed November 4, 200

(%) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipota Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Septembeg,
2004

(16) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipo’'s Current Report oForm &K filed August 30, 200!
(A7) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipn’s Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q filed January 5, 200
(18) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipo’'s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on May 26, 200!
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(19) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipn’'s Current Report oForm &K filed January 11, 200
(20) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé's Current Report on For8-K filed on February 9, 20C

(1) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report on For8-K filed March 21, 200t

(22) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipn’'s Current Report oForm &K filed June 27, 200

)

(23) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Septemége
2005

24 Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotijpora Current Report on Form 8-K filed on NovemBer
2005

(29) Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q filed December 21, 20C
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20@72006,
and the related consolidated statements of opastatockholdersquity, and cash flows for each of the three 'y
in the period ended May 31, 2007. Our audits alstuded the financial statement schedule listatiénindex at
Item 15(a) 2. These financial statements and s¢beda the responsibility of the Company’s managsmeur
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements and schedulereeeof material misstatement. An audit includesmrang, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts awctbdiges in the financial statements. An audit alstudes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirg the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated
financial position of Oracle Corporation at May 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results ofsations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in thigogol ended May 31, 2007, in conformity with U.8ngrally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinithe related financial statement schedule, wioasidered in
relation to the basic financial statements takea @a#$ole, presents fairly in all material respebtsinformation set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the effectiveness of Oracle Corporationi&rnal control over financial reporting as of M2y, 2007, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-IntegchFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and gpontedated June 28, 2007 expressed an unqualifiedon
thereon.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, under the heading Stock-Based Corafiensthe
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounttagdards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Patyine
effective June 1, 2006. As discussed in Note taconsolidated financial statements, the Comppaiopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 1Bployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiand
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FAG&®ents No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” in fiscdl20

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

June 28, 2007
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited management’s assessment, whiohtaiged in Part I, tem 9A of this Annual Repont o

Form 10-K under the heading “Management’s Repotinternal Control Over Financial Reporting,” thata®le
Corporation maintained effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of May 31, 2007, basediteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). OraclepGration’s management is responsible for maintginin
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efniat control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to expsean opinion on management’s assessment andrdnropi the
effectiveness of the company’s internal controlrdigancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control daincial reporting, evaluating management’s assest, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectisené internal control, and performing such othecpdures as v
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audit provides a reasonable basisupbopinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Itajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementadcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesnés future periods are subject to the risk thatids may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btttbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, managemestassessment that Oracle Corporation maintainedtefé internal control over financ
reporting as of May 31, 2007, is fairly statedalhmaterial respects, based on the COSO critatsn, in our
opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, in all mitlerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as
of May 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the 2007 consolidated financial statemarByracle Corporation and our report dated June@87
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

June 28, 2007
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2007 and 2006

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 6,21¢ $ 6,65¢
Marketable securitie 802 94¢€
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $306 ar2b $3 of May 31, 2007
and 200¢ 4,074 3,022
Other receivable 51E 39¢
Deferred tax asse 96¢ 714
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 30€ 23E
Total current asse 12,88: 11,974
Non-current assett
Property, ne 1,60: 1,391
Intangible assets: software support agreementsedatgd relationships, n 3,00z 2,62(
Intangible assets: other, r 2,962 1,90¢
Goodwill 13,47¢ 9,80¢
Other asset 642 1,32i
Total nor-current assel 21,68¢ 17,05¢
Total asset $34,57: $29,02¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Shor-term borrowings and current portion of l-term debt $ 1,35¢ $ 15¢
Accounts payabl 31t 26¢
Income taxes payab 1,237 81C
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,34¢ 1,172
Accrued restructurin 201 412
Deferred revenue 3,492 2,83(
Other current liabilitie: 1,43¢ 1,27¢
Total current liabilities 9,381 6,93(
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and lo-term debt, net of current portic 6,23¢ 5,73t
Deferred tax liabilities 1,121 564
Accrued restructurin 25¢ 27%
Deferred revenue 93 114
Other lon¢-term liabilities 55¢ 401
Total nor-current liabilities 8,26¢ 7,087
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par ve—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized:
11,000 shares; outstanding: 5,107 shares and 5(282s as of May 31, 2007 and
2006 10,29: 9,24¢
Retained earning 6,22 5,53¢
Deferred compensatic — (30
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 402 25¢
Total stockholder equity 16,91¢ 15,017
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $34,57:  $29,02¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005
Revenues
New software license $588: $490t $ 4,091
Software license updates and product sug 8,32¢ 6,63¢€ 5,33(
Software revenue 14,21 11,54 9,421
Services 3,78 2,83¢ 2,37¢
Total revenue 17,99¢ 14,38( 11,79¢
Operating expense
Sales and marketir 3,901 3,171 2,511
Software license updates and product sug 842 71¢ 61€
Cost of service 3,34¢ 2,51¢ 2,03
Research and developm 2,19t 1,872 1,491
General and administrati\ 692 55& 55C
Amortization of intangible asse 87¢ 583 21¢
Acquisition relatec 14C 137 20¢
Restructuring 19 85 147
Total operating expens 12,02: 9,64 7,77
Operating incom: 5,974 4,73¢€ 4,027
Interest expens (343 (169 (13%)
Non-operating income, ne
Interest incom: 29t 17¢ 18t
Net investment gair 22 25 2
Other 38 48 (23
Total nor-operating income, n¢ 35E 243 164
Income before provision for income ta 5,98¢ 4,81( 4,051
Provision for income taxe 1,717 1,42¢ 1,165
Net income $ 427/ $ 3,381 $ 2,88¢
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 08: $ 065 $ O0.5¢
Diluted $ 081 $ 064 $ 0.5F
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 5,17(C 5,19¢ 5,13¢
Diluted 5,26¢ 5,287 5,231

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Common Stock and

Accumulated

Additional Paid in Capital Other
Comprehensive  Number of Retained Deferred Comprehensive

(in millions) Income Shares Amount Earnings  Compensatior Income Total
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5171 $ 545¢ $ 2,38: $ — $ 15€ 7,995
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 71 46¢€ — — — 46€
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 17 161 — — — 161
Issuance of stock and assumption of stock awards in

connection with acquisitior — 1 504 — (129%) — 381
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic — — (6) — 78 — 72
Repurchase of common sto — (11%) (117) (1,22¢) — — (1,349
Tax benefits from stock pla — — 13C — — — 13C
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen (16) — — — — (16) (16)
Foreign currency translatic 111 — — — — 111 111
Equity hedge loss, net of ti (14) — — — — (14) (14)
Net unrealized gains on equity securities, neag 6 — — — — 6
Net income 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢
Comprehensive incorr $ 2,97:
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5,14¢ 6,59¢ 4,043 (45) 242 10,83
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 87 573 — — — 573
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 6 59 — — — 59
Issuance of stock and assumption of stock awards in

connection with acquisitior — 141 2,04z — (39) — 2,00z
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic — — 5) — 54 — 49
Repurchase of common sta — (247 (182) (1,88¢) — — (2,067)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 162 — — — 162
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen 3 — — — — 3 3
Foreign currency translatic 7 — — — — 7 7
Equity hedge gain, net of t: 14 — — — — 14 14
Net unrealized losses on equity securities, néx 3) — — — — ?3) ?3)
Net income 3,381 — — 3,381 — — 3,381
Comprehensive incorr $ 3,39¢
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5,23z 9,24 5,53¢ (30) 25¢ 15,017
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 10€ 87:& — — — 873
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 3 51 — — — 51
Assumption of stock awards in connection with

acquisitions — — 97 — — — 97
Reclassification of deferred compensation upon dop

of Statement 123| — — (30 — 30 — —
Stocl-based compensatic — — 207 — — — 207
Repurchase of common sto — (239 (395) (3,589 — — (3,989
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 244 — — — 244
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen 10 — — — — 10 10
Adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive ikcom

upon adoption of Statement 1 — — — — — 29 29
Foreign currency translatic 82 — — — — 82 82
Equity hedge gain, net of t 28 — — — — 28 28
Net unrealized losses on marketable and equityriesy

net of tax (4) — — — — 4) 4)
Net income 4,27¢ — — 4,274 — — 4,27¢
Comprehensive incon $ 4,39(
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5107 $ 10,29 $ 6,22¢ $ — 3 40 $ 16,91¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $4,27¢ $338] $ 2,88¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 24¢ 228 20¢€
Amortization of intangible asse 87¢ 58¢ 21¢
Provision for trade receivable allowan( 244 241 197
Deferred income taxe 56 (40) (66)
Minority interests in incom 71 41 42
Non-cash restructurin — — 33
Stock-based compensatic 207 49 72
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock aw: 33¢ 162 13C
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic (259 — —
In-process research and developn 151 78 46
Net investment gains related to equity secur (22) (39 2
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effacisifacquisitions
Increase in trade receivabl (72%) (355) (88)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and athetc (159 14 164
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and dbdities (345 23 (539
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay 167 (98) (14¢)
Increase in deferred revent 387 27¢ 394
Net cash provided by operating activit 5,52( 4,541 3,55¢
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securi (5,389 (2,12¢) (7,107
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketablerges 5,75¢ 3,67¢ 12,19
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (5,005 (3,959  (10,65¢)
Purchases of equity and other investm (22 (85€) 2
Capital expenditure (319 (236€) (18¢)
Proceeds from sale of prope 2 14C —
Net cash used for investing activiti (4,97)) (3,359 (5,759
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchase of common sl (3,937 (2,067) (1,349
Proceeds from issuance of common si 924 632 59¢
Proceeds from borrowings, net of financing ct 4,07¢ 12,63¢ 12,50¢
Payments of del (2,419 (9,635 (9,830
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic 25¢ — —
Distributions to minority interes: (46) (39 (44)
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actia (1,139 1,527 1,88¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and caslaénts 14¢ 56 73
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (441 2,76t (249
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 6,65¢ 3,89¢ 4,13¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $6,21¢ $6,65¢ $ 3,894

Non-cash financing transactior

Fair value of stock awards and stock issued in ection with acquisition $ 97 $204: $ 504

Unsettled repurchases of common st $ 47 $ — 9 —

Debt issued in connection with acquisitic $ 13 $ — % —
Supplemental schedule of cash flow d

Cash paid for income tax: $1,197 $ 141 $ 1,26¢

Cash paid for intere: $ 3%4 $ 74 $ 1i¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2007

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, markligjbutes and services database, middlewarepplications
software that helps organizations manage and dgnew businesses. Database and middleware softwarsed for
developing and deploying applications on the inteand on corporate intranets. Applications sofén@n be used
to automate business processes and to providedsssimelligence. We also offer software licenseatgs and
product support (including support for the Linuxedgting System), and other services including ciingy On
Demand, and education.

Oracle Corporation is a holding corporation withn@nship of its direct and indirect subsidiariesjalitinclude
Oracle Systems Corporation (Old Oracle), Siebete3ys, Inc. (Siebel) and each of their domesticfaneign
subsidiaries around the world. Oracle CorporatisrQracle, was initially formed as a direct whotiwned
subsidiary of Old Oracle. Prior to January 31, 2@facle’s name was Ozark Holding Inc. and Old @’acmame
was Oracle Corporation. On January 31, 2006, imection with the acquisition of Siebel, which isdebed in
Note 2, a wholl-owned subsidiary of Oracle was merged with and @id Oracle, with Old Oracle surviving as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle (the Reorganmal}i In addition, another wholly-owned subsidiafyOsacle
was merged with and into Siebel, with Siebel sungwas a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle. As sutg Oracle
became the parent company of Old Oracle and Siabdlthe changes to the names of Oracle and OlcléOneere
effected.

Basis of Financial Statemer

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and the accounts of our wholly- and majaritned
subsidiaries. We consolidate all of our majorityraa subsidiaries and reflect as minority interiestgortion of
these entities that we do not own in other longatéabilities on our consolidated balance sheetsViay 31, 2007
and 2006, the balance of minority interests was$$8illion and $209 million, respectively. Intercoeny
transactions and balances have been eliminatethi€erior year balances have been reclassifi@bitdorm to the
current year presentation. Such reclassificatiotisdt affect total revenues, operating incomeedrincome.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us ikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasealieve
that the estimates, judgments and assumptionswhpim we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable
to us at the time that these estimates, judgment@asumptions are made. These estimates, judgarghts
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaard liabilities as of the date of the finansi@tements as well
as the reported amounts of revenues and expensag the periods presented. To the extent therenaterial
differences between these estimates, judgmentssongtions and actual results, our financial statgswill be
affected. In many cases, the accounting treatnfemparticular transaction is specifically dictatsdGAAP and
does not require management’s judgment in its egipdin. There are also areas in which managemmiggnent in
selecting among available alternatives would notlpce a materially different result.

Revenue Recognitic

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@jware, which includes new software license afthare
license updates and product support revenues 2arsgivices, which include consulting, On Demand @tlucation
revenues.

New software license revenues represent fees efnaradyranting customers licenses to use our datg
middleware and applications software, and excledemues derived from software license updates,hndrie
included in software license updates and prodympbed. While the basis for software license reverag@gnition is
substantially governed by the provisions of Stateneé Position No. 97-2Software Revenue Recognitiossued
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2007

by the American Institute of Certified Public Acctants, we exercise judgment and use estimatemnimection
with the determination of the amount of softward aarvices revenues to be recognized in each atogyeriod.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying
software, we recognize new software license revemiben: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangat with a
customer for the license of software; (2) we delie products; (3) customer payment is deemedi fote
determinable and free of contingencies or signifiemcertainties; and (4) collection is probableb8antially all of
our new software license revenues are recognizédimanner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygat, which
are recognized ratably over the term of the arraragg, typically one year. Software license updateside
customers with rights to unspecified software patdiypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesaeldaring
the term of the support period. Product suppottiges internet access to technical content, asagahternet and
telephone access to technical support personntiv&e license updates and product support arergliyericed a:
a percentage of the net new software license fagsstantially all of our customers purchase boftwswe license
updates and product support when they acquire néware licenses. In addition, substantially albof customers
renew their software license updates and prodygiat contracts annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyllimplementation services sold separately undeswting
engagement contracts. Consulting revenues frone thieangements are generally accounted for sepafiam new
software license revenues because the arrangemealify as service transactions as defined in SOR.The more
significant factors considered in determining wieetthe revenues should be accounted for sepaiatdlide the
nature of services (i.e., consideration of whetherservices are essential to the functionalittheflicensed
product), degree of risk, availability of servidemm other vendors, timing of payments and impdchibestones or
acceptance criteria on the realizability of thetwafe license fee. Revenues for consulting senacegenerally
recognized as the services are performed. If tisegissignificant uncertainty about the project ctatipn or receipt
of payment for the consulting services, revenuesiaferred until the uncertainty is sufficienthpob/ed. We
estimate the proportional performance on contraits fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isastilizing
hours incurred to date as a percentage of totamhattd hours to complete the project. We recognizenore than
90% of the milestone or total contract amount yrilject acceptance is obtained. If we do not lmseafficient
basis to measure progress towards completion, vegeare recognized when we receive final accepfaocethe
customer. When total cost estimates exceed reveweesccrue for the estimated losses immediatehgu=ost
estimates that are based upon an average fullyehadidaily rate applicable to the consulting orggation
delivering the services. The complexity of therastion process and factors relating to the assomptrisks and
uncertainties inherent with the application of pneportional performance method of accounting aféfte amount
of revenues and related expenses reported in msotidated financial statements. A number of irdaéemd extern:
factors can affect our estimates, including lalates, utilization and efficiency variances and Hpation and
testing requirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separateanting of the software license and consultinggeations, then
new software license revenue is generally recogrtiagether with the consulting services based mtracot
accounting using either the percentage-of-compiatiocompleted-contract method. Contract accounsirapplied
to any arrangements: (1) that include milestonesustomer specific acceptance criteria that magcaffollection o
the software license fees; (2) where services dechkignificant modification or customization of theftware;

(3) where significant consulting services are puedi for in the software license contract withouliidnal charge
or are substantially discounted; or (4) where tifensare license payment is tied to the performasfasonsulting
services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand, CRMD&mand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle On
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for ouradstab
middleware and applications software. CRM On Demiaradservice offering that provides our custonveth our
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Siebel CRM Software functionality delivered via@sted solution that we manage. Advanced Customeicgs
provide customers configuration and performancdyaisa personalized support and annual on-sitentieah
services. Revenues from On Demand services argmzea over the term of the service period, whichanerally
one year or less.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medisebaand internet-based training in the use of oodlyxts.
Education revenues are recognized as the classgtesreducation offerings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we al®cavenues to each element of a transaction basedits fair
value as determined by “vendor specific objectivielence.” Vendor specific objective evidence of falue for all
elements of an arrangement is based upon the n@noalg and discounting practices for those prasland
services when sold separately and for softwaradieaipdates and product support services, is addily measure
by the renewal rate offered to the customer. We maglify our pricing practices in the future, whicbuld result in
changes in our vendor specific objective eviderfdaiovalue for these undelivered elements. Assult, our future
revenue recognition for multiple element arrangetmenould differ significantly from our historicatsults.

We defer revenues for any undelivered elementsregmhnize revenues when the product is delivereer the
period in which the service is performed, in acamak with our revenue recognition policy for sutghment. If we
cannot objectively determine the fair value of amgelivered element included in bundled software service
arrangements, we defer revenue until all elemeetsi@livered and services have been performedtdrfair value
can objectively be determined for any remainingalinvéred elements. When the fair value of a deidezlement
has not been established, we use the residual ch&gtrecord revenue if the fair value of all undeted elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the falmer of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining
portion of the arrangement fee is allocated todiblevered elements and is recognized as revenues.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetselo not include acceptance provisions. Howefatceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for exalmin agreements with government entities wherpteace
periods are required by law, or within previouskgeuted terms and conditions that are referencéukicurrent
agreement and are short-term in nature, we prdeide sales return allowance in accordance with BAfatement
No. 48,Revenue Recognition when Right of Return Exi$tacceptance provisions are lotegm in nature or are r
included as standard terms of an arrangementveg ifannot reasonably estimate the incidence ofrretuevenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof
convenience” provisions, when such provisions ageired by law, to determine the probability of gibke
cancellation. We consider multiple factors, inchglthe history with the customer in similar trartgats, the
“essential use” of the software licenses and thamhg, budgeting and approval processes undertakére
governmental entity. If we determine upon executibthese arrangements that the likelihood of cliatien is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suakterchination
cannot be made, revenues are recognized upontie ehcash receipt or approval of the applicdbileding
provision by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenue if all otbeenue
recognition requirements are met. Our standard payterms are net 30; however, terms may vary basede
country in which the agreement is executed. Paysbiat are due within six months are generally dekta be
fixed or determinable based on our successful citle history on such arrangements, and thereligfgahe
required criteria for revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-
term financing to credit worthy customers througin financing division. Since fiscal 1989, when @inancing
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division was formed, we have established a histégollection, without concessions, on these reatdi®s with
payment terms that generally extend up to five yéam the contract date. Provided all other reeermcognition
criteria have been met, we recognize new softweease revenues for these arrangements upon dglivetrof any
payment discounts from financing transactions. \Aleetgenerally sold receivables financed througtfioancing
division on a non-recourse basis to third partgficing institutions and we classify the proceedmfthese sales as
cash flows from operating activities in our condated statements of cash flows. In fiscal 2007620t 2005,
$891 million, $618 million and $456 million or agximately 15%, 13% and 11% of our new softwarerigze
revenues were financed through our financing divisWe account for the sale of these receivabléges sales’as
defined in FASB Statement No. 148;counting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and
Extinguishments of Liabilitie:

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ntare occasion, we have purchased goods or ssrfac our
operations from these vendors at or about the smmecthat we have licensed our software to theseessompanies
(Concurrent Transaction). Software license agreésitbat occur within a three-month time period fribra date we
have purchased goods or services from that santenceisare reviewed for appropriate accounting tneat and
disclosure. When we acquire goods or services Ea@mstomer, we negotiate the purchase separatetydny
software license transaction, at terms we consalbe at arns length, and settle the purchase in cash. We nize
new software license revenues from Concurrent Beimns if all of our revenue recognition criteai®@ met and tr
goods and services acquired are necessary foruotent operations.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Retu

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseuhgpspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For
those invoices not specifically reviewed, provisi@re provided at differing rates, based upon g¢jeecd the
receivable, the collection history associated whth geographic region that the receivable was datbin and
current economic trends. We also record a provigoestimated sales returns and allowances onugtahd
service related sales in the same period the tetateenues are recorded in accordance with FAS®@&&nt No. 4¢
Revenue Recognition When Right of Return E. These estimates are based on historical salamsethe volume
and size of our larger transactions and other kniawtors.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeaoncentrations of credit risk consist primaofycash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and trade rabédg. Investment policies have been implementadithit
investments to investment grade securities. Weodoequire collateral to secure accounts receivatie risk with
respect to trade receivables is mitigated by cedituations we perform on our customers, the shastion of our
payment terms and by the diversification of ourteoer base. No single customer accounted for 10ftooe of
revenues in fiscal 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax ard &at receivables associated with the sale ofvaodtand
services to third parties.

Marketable Securitie

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 1A8counting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgB8ecuritiesand
based on our intentions regarding these instrumesg€lassify our marketable debt and equity séesras
available-forsale. Prior to fiscal 2007, marketable debt seiesrivere classified as held to maturity. Marketalab
and equity securities are reported at fair valu#) all unrealized gains (losses) reflected netafin stockholders’
equity. If we determine that an investment hastaerahan temporary decline in fair value, gengrall
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defined as when our cost basis exceeds the faievfal approximately six months, we recognize thestment los
in non-operating income, net in the accompanyingsotidated statements of operations. We periogiealaluate
our investments to determine if impairment cham@esrequired.

The net carrying value of our marketable equityusiéies and other investments, which approximagedvalue, as
of May 31, 2007 and 2006 was $67 million and $8llioni, respectively. Marketable equity securities ancluded
in other assets in the accompanying consolidatithba sheets. Unrealized gains (losses) in stodkhsilequity,
net of tax associated with marketable equity séesrivere $(4) million, $(3) million and $6 millidor fiscal 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. We had nominal impaitnhosses related to marketable equity secuatielsother
investments in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Property

Property is stated at the lower of cost or realzahlue, net of accumulated depreciation. Deptiecias computed
using the straight-line method based on estimaseflllives of the assets, which range from onftipyears.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over therledsstimated useful lives or lease terms, as@pjate.
Property is periodically reviewed for impairmenteviever events or changes in circumstances indicatehe
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoversdedid not recognize any property impairment charig fiscal
2007, 2006 or 2005.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueeatftangible an
intangible assets acquired. Goodwill amounts atemmrtized, but rather are tested for impairmehtast
annually. Intangible assets that are not consideréadve an indefinite useful life are amortize@otheir useful
lives, which range from one to ten years. The égagramount of these assets is reviewed wheneveiteoe
changes in circumstances indicate that the carnyahge of an asset may not be recoverable. Redoligyaf these
assets is measured by comparison of the carryimyahof the asset to the future undiscounted das¥sfthe asset
is expected to generate. If the asset is considerkd impaired, the amount of any impairment isisueed as the
difference between the carrying value and thevialue of the impaired asset. We did not recognigegoodwill or
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2@Q0D6 or 2005.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The carrying value of our cash, cash equivalendsséwort-term borrowings approximates fair value ttughe short
period of time to maturity. We record changes invalue for our marketable securities, publiclgeted equity
securities, foreign currency forward contracts enveéstment hedge based on quoted market pricesdBasthe
trading prices of our $6.25 billion and $5.75 billisenior notes outstanding as of May 31, 20072806,
respectively, and the interest rates we could obftai other borrowings with similar terms at thaksges, the
estimated fair value of our borrowings at May 3002 and 2006 was $6.16 billion and $5.73 billi@spectively.

Legal Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach
significant matter and assess our potential firereiposure. If the potential loss from any claintegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rablyoastimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currendgiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the
local country’s currency. Consequently, revenuaesexpenses of operations outside the United Staesanslated
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into United States dollars using weight@gerage exchange rates while assets and liabitifieperations outside ti
United States are translated into United Statdaudolising year-end exchange rates. The effedts@fn currency
translation adjustments are included in stockhaldeguity as a component of accumulated other cehgnsive
income in the accompanying consolidated balancetshEoreign currency transaction gains (lossesjnaiuded in
non-operating income, net in our consolidated statés of operations and were $45 million, $39 wrilland

$(14) million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respety.

Stock-Based Compensation

On June 1, 2006, we adopted FASB Statement No. 128&e-Based Paymentnder the modified prospective
method. Statement 123R generally requires sharedhzsyments to employees, including grants of eyggstock
options and purchases under employee stock purghes®, to be recognized in our consolidated statesnof
operations based on their fair values. Under thdifiedl prospective method, prior period financi@tements are
not restated.

Prior to June 1, 2006, we accounted for our staded compensation plans under the intrinsic vakthoad of
accounting as defined by Accounting Principles Bldapinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees
and applied the disclosure provisions of FASB $tatet No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatian
amended. Under Opinion 25, we generally did nabgaeze any compensation expense for stock opticarsted to
employees or outside directors as the exercise pfiour options was equivalent to the market poiceur common
stock on the date of grant. However, we recordecksbased compensation for the intrinsic value @ased with
unvested options assumed in connection with adepnsi For pro forma disclosures of stock-basedpmamsation
prior to June 1, 2006, the estimated fair value®figions granted and options assumed were amdrtigieg the
accelerated expense attribution method. In additienreduced pro forma stock-based compensatioensepfor
actual forfeitures in the periods they occurredvilerch 2005, the United States Securities and Exgba
Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB).NLO7, which provides supplemental implementation
guidance for Statement 123R. We have applied theigions of SAB 107 in our adoption of Statemer@R2See
Note 7 for information on the impact of our adoptmf Statement 123R and the assumptions we usEdolate the
fair value of share-based employee compensation.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred efibing expenses, which are included within sale$ marketing
expenses, were $91 million, $106 million and $6¥Wiomi in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Research and Developme

All research and development costs are expenset@sed. Costs eligible for capitalization und&3IB Statemen
No. 86,Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software t&Blel, Leased, or Otherwise Marketeslere not
material to our consolidated financial statements.

Nor-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of insti@come, net foreign currency exchange gainséles net
investment gains related to marketable equity $éesiand other investments and the minority irdeshare in the
net profits of Oracle Japan and i-flex solutiomsiled (see Note 2).
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Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Interest incom $295 $17C $18¢
Foreign currency gains (loss¢ 45 39 (14)
Net investment gains related to marketable eqeitysties and other investmel 22 25 2
Minority interest (77) (47) (42
Other 64 50 33

Total nor-operating income, n $35E $24Z $164
Income Taxe

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA&Bement No. 10%ccounting for Income Taxe®eferred
income taxes are recorded for the expected taxegesices of temporary differences between theasasiof
assets and liabilities for financial reporting pagps and amounts recognized for income tax purp@éesecord a
valuation allowance to reduce our deferred taxtageehe amount of future tax benefit that is miely than not
to be realized.

New Accounting Pronouncemel

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax: In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation48Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation &f3B Statement No. 108terpretation 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in atitgs financial statements in accordance with &ta¢nt 109 and
prescribes a recognition threshold and measureattiitute for financial statement recognition angasurement of
a tax position taken or expected to be taken axadturn. Additionally, Interpretation 48 providggidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and pesaltaccounting in interim periods, disclosure aaddition.
Interpretation 48 is effective for fiscal years tmjng after December 15, 2006, with early adoppenmitted. We
will adopt Interpretation 48 for our fiscal yeardamg May 31, 2008 and are currently evaluatingithgact of the
adoption of Interpretation 48 on our consolidatedricial statements.

How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitt&bternmental Authorities Should Be Presented irrtbeme
Statement: In June 2006, the FASB reached a consensus on Emésgues Task Force (EITF) Issue

No. 0¢-3, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitt€&biernmental Authorities Should Be Presented in
the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus NeeRtationEITF 06-3). EITF 06-3 indicates that the income
statement presentation on either a gross basisier lzasis of the taxes within the scope of thediss an accounting
policy decision that should be disclosed. EITF 06-8ffective for interim and annual periods begigrafter
December 15, 2006. The adoption of EITF 06-3 didah@ange our policy of presenting our taxes withi& scope of
EITF 06-3 on a net basis and, therefore, had n@éthpn our consolidated financial statements.

Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatemevtien Quantifying Misstatements in Current Yeamhirial
Statements:In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accouinlgetin No. 108,Considering the Effects of Pri
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatemen@uirent Year Financial Stateme&AB 108). SAB 108
addresses the diversity in practice in quantififingncial statement misstatements and establishepproach that
requires quantification of financial statement r@gmments based on the effects of the misstaternardascompanyg
financial statements and related disclosures. SB8i4 effective for fiscal years ending after Novem15, 2006.
The application of SAB 108 did not have a matdrigdact on our consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement: In September 2006, the FASB issued Statemeni Bl Fair Value Measurements.
Statement 157 defines fair value, establishesmadweork for measuring fair value and expands faluea
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measurement disclosures. Statement 157 is effdatifescal years beginning after November 15, 200¢ are
currently evaluating the impact of the adoptiorstdtement 157 on our consolidated financial statésne

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finardisabilities: In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement
No. 159,The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fiogl Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 11%hich allows an entity the irrevocable option teatlfair value for the initial and subsequent
measurement for certain financial assets and ifisilon an instrument-by-instrument basis. Subsetju
measurements for the financial assets and liadslin entity elects to record at fair value willbeognized in
earnings. Statement 159 also establishes addititiszlbsure requirements. Statement 159 is effedtv fiscal
years beginning after Novemkt15, 2007, with early adoption permitted providedttthe entity also adopts
Statement 157. We are currently evaluating the anpbthe adoption of Statement 159 on our conatdid financie
statements.

2. ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions
Hyperion Solutions Corporatior

On April 13, 2007, we obtained majority ownershfghe outstanding common stock of Hyperion Solugion
Corporation via a cash tender offer as agreedtiwdss us and Hyperion pursuant to an AgreemenPéand of
Merger dated February 28, 2007 (Merger Agreem&w) acquired Hyperion to extend our reach of product
offerings into the enterprise performance managémenketplace, as well as to expand our presentteeibusines
intelligence software marketplace.

On April 19, 2007, we completed the merger of oholly-owned subsidiary with and into Hyperion armheerted
each remaining outstanding share of Hyperion comstock not tendered, into a right to receive $5€0share in
cash, without interest. We have included the fir@rresults of Hyperion in our consolidated finaal@tatements as
of April 13, 2007. The minority interest in the egrgs of Hyperion for the period from April 13, 20 April 19,
2007 was nominal.

The total purchase price for Hyperion was approxétya$3.3 billion and is comprised of:

(in_millions)

Acquisition of 61 million shares of outstanding aown stock of Hyperion at $52.00 per sharein« $ 3,171
Fair value of vested Hyperion stock awards exchdi 51
Acquisition related transaction co: 29
Total purchase pric $ 3,251

Fair value of estimated options assumed and rdstlistock awards/units exchangAs of April 19, 2007,
Hyperion had approximately 6 million stock optiorsstricted stock awards and restricted stock umitstanding. |
accordance with the Merger Agreement, the convengidue of each option assumed was based on theisxe
price of each Hyperion option multiplied by the gersion ratio of 0.3598, which was calculated asaherage
Oracle stock price for 10 days prior to the clogitage of April 19, 2007 divided by the consideratice of $52.01
paid by Oracle for each Hyperion common share anthng.

The fair value of options assumed and awards exghthwas determined using a Black-Scholes-Mertonatiin
model with the following assumptions: expected difel.5 to 4.4 years, risk-free interest rate 6046 to 4.57%,

expected volatility of 26% and no dividend yieldhéelfair value of unvested Hyperion options andrietsd stock
awards related to future service is being amortaed straight-line basis over the remaining serpieriod, while
the value of vested options is included in totaichase price.
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Acquisition related transaction cost Acquisition related transaction costs includénested investment banking
fees, legal and accounting fees and other exteos$ directly related to the acquisition.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocatic

Under business combination accounting, the totedhmse price was allocated to Hyperion’s net tdegind
identifiable intangible assets based on their esdtih fair values as of April 13, 2007 as set folow. The excess
of the purchase price over the net tangible anutifileble intangible assets was recorded as godditike
preliminary allocation of the purchase price wasdihupon a preliminary valuation and our estimates
assumptions are subject to change. The primary afethe purchase price allocation that are nofigatized relate
to restructuring costs, the valuation of consultiogtract obligations assumed, the valuation @frigible assets
acquired, certain legal matters, income and noorirebased taxes and residual goodwill.

(in_ millions)

Cash and marketable securit $ 51¢€
Trade receivable 227
Goodwill 1,67:
Intangible asset 1,46(C
Other asset 10E
Accounts payable and other liabiliti (24¢)
Restructuring (see Note (10¢)
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (359
Deferred revenue (74)
In-process research and developn 56
Total purchase pric $ 3,251

Intangible Asset

In performing our preliminary purchase price allbma, we considered, among other factors, our tarfor future
use of acquired assets, analyses of historicah€iahperformance and estimates of future perfocaaf
Hyperion’s products. The fair value of intangibksats was based, in part, on a valuation complstedthird party
valuation firm using an income approach and estsiahd assumptions provided by management. Treutlieed
to discount net cash flows to their present valuese based on our weighted average cost of caithtanged fror
10% to 22%. These discount rates were determirted @insideration of our rate of return on debitehpnd equit
and the weighted average return on invested cafital following table sets forth the componentstdngible
assets associated with the Hyperion acquisition:

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value  Useful Life

Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 50C 9 year:

Developed technolog 521 5 year

Core technolog 211 7 year:

Customer relationshig 182 9 year:

Trademarks and othi 46 10 year
Total intangible asse $ 1,46(

Customer relationships and software support agretenaad related relationships represent the undgrly
relationships and agreements with Hyperion’s itestiatustomer base. Developed technology, which cizep
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products that have reached technological feasipiticludes products in most of Hyperion’s prodii¢s. Core
technology represents a combination of Hyperiort@sses, patents and trade secrets related tosiym dad
development of its software products. This proprigknow-how can be leveraged to develop new tdolgyand
improve Oracle’s software products.

In-Process Research and Development

We expense in-process research and developmen&[IP&®oon acquisition as it represents incompletg@éhon
research and development projects that had ndtedaechnological feasibility and had no alterrafivture use as
of the date of our acquisition. Technological fediy is established when an enterprise has coteglall planning,
designing, coding, and testing activities thatra@eessary to establish that a product can be peddiocmeet its
design specifications including functions, featuaesd technical performance requirements. The vadsgned to
IPR&D of $56 million was determined by considerthg importance of each project to our overall depeient
plan, estimating costs to develop the purchase&IPRto commercially viable products, estimating tresulting
net cash flows from the projects when completeddiscounting the net cash flows to their presehiesdased on
the percentage of completion of the IPR&D projects.

Deferred Revenue

In connection with the preliminary purchase prilecation, we have estimated the fair value ofghpport
obligations assumed from Hyperion in connectiorhwlite acquisition. We based our determination effétr value
of the support obligation, in part, on a valuattampleted by a third party valuation firm usingiresttes and
assumptions provided by management. The estimatedalue of the support obligations was determingizing a
cost build-up approach. The cost build-up appratetermines fair value by estimating the costs irgab fulfilling
the obligations plus a normal profit margin. Thensof the costs and operating profit approximateshéeory, the
amount that we would be required to pay a thirdyptar assume the support obligations. The estimedsts to
fulfill the support obligations were based on tligtdrical direct costs related to providing the jsoip services and -
correct any errors in Hyperion software producte i not include any costs associated with sebifigrts or
research and development or the related fulfillmmatgins on these costs. Profit associated witlngedffort is
excluded because Hyperion had concluded the sedffiogt on the support contracts prior to the dsteur
acquisition. The estimated research and developousts have not been included in the fair valuerdanation, as
these costs were not deemed to represent a leligdtidn at the time of acquisition. As a resuttallocating the
purchase price, we recorded an adjustment to retthecearrying value of Hyperion’s April 13, 200 7feleed
support revenue by $137 million to $69 million, einirepresents our estimate of the fair value oftigport
obligation assumed. The total estimated fair valugeferred revenues assumed in the acquisitidyperion is
$74 million.

Pre-Acquisition Contingencies

As a part of our preliminary review and purchasegallocation, as of May 31, 2007 we had not idiext any
material pre-acquisition contingencies relatingdtgerion that were both probable of occurrenceestimable. If
pre-acquisition contingencies become probable fareaand estimable during the remainder of thelmge price
allocation period, amounts recorded for such mattet be made in the purchase price allocation.

i-flex solutions limited

In November 2005, we obtained a 42.8% interesfliexi solutions limited, a provider of software gtibns and
services to the financial services industry (BomB&yck Exchange: IFLX.BO and National Stock Excheanf
India: IFLX.NS) pursuant to a Share Purchase Agm@mith OrbiTech Limited, a subsidiary of Citigminc., for
$593 million and through an initial open offer ict®ber 2005. We made additional purchases of idtaxmon
stock through ordinary brokerage transactions fkdanch 2006 to June 2006. During this period, weiistd a
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majority interest in i-flex and began consolidatthg financial results of i-flex’s operations otwao months in
arrears basis (our reporting periods differ fromwsth of i-flex) with our financial results in ourdt quarter of fiscal
2007. Prior to obtaining our majority interest ifiedx we accounted for our investment in i-flex puant to the
equity method of accounting. We acquired i-flexetgpand our reach into the marketplace for finarsgavices
applications.

On August 14, 2006, the i-flex board of directoppved, and on September 14, 2006, i-flex issppdeximately
4.45 million shares of common stock at a purchase pf 1,307.5 Indian rupees per share (PrefakAtiotment).
We purchased the Preferential Allotment for apprately $126 million and increased our ownership to
approximately 55%. i-flex used the proceeds fromPRneferential Allotment to fund the acquisitionMéintas, Inc.,
a financial services application software compamy)ctober 2006.

As required by Indian law, we published an annoorar@ on September 12, 2006 notifying the publicethalders
of i-flex of our intention to make an open offergorchase up to 20% of the outstanding equityfteifor 1,475
Indian rupees per share. On December 7, 2006, eveansed the price of our open offer by 42% to 2)bdtan
rupees per share including interest, and incredsedumber of incremental shares that we werengilio purchase
to 35%. We also publicly announced at that timé the offer was the last opportunity for i-flex shholders to
tender their shares to us for the foreseeabledwswe had no intention of soliciting any addiiloopen offers or
delisting i-flex shares for at least the next fixgars unless i-flex shares were selling at a power than our offer
price of 2,100 Indian rupees per share. On Jarua2907 we accepted the 23 million shares tendert offer fo
approximately $1.1 billion and we increased our exghip in i-flex to approximately 83%.

Our cumulative investment in i-flex as of May 3D0Z was approximately $2.1 billion, which consistéd
$2,039 million of cash paid for common stock an@ #8llion in transaction costs and other expenses.

Our cumulative investment in i-flex has been altedato i-flex’s net tangible and identifiable intangible assetsel
on their estimated fair values as of the respectates of acquisition of the interests. The miariterest in the net
assets of i-flex has been recorded at historicakh@lues. The excess of the cumulative purchase pwer our
interest in the net tangible and identifiable imfilote assets was recorded as goodwill. Our prehmyimllocation of
the cumulative purchase price including the miwydriterest in the net assets of i-flex is as fobow

(in_millions)

Cash and marketable securit $ 14E
Trade receivable 141
Goodwill 1,56/
Intangible asset 281
Other asset 12F
Accounts payable and other liabiliti (53
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (93
Deferred revenue (25)
In-process research and developn 46
Minority interests (62)
Total purchase pric $ 2,06¢

The preliminary allocation of the purchase pricesWwased upon a preliminary valuation and our estisnand
assumptions are subject to change. The primaryg afethe purchase price allocation that are nofigatized relate
to identifiable intangible assets, certain legattera, income and non-income based taxes and edgjdodwill.
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Other Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions

A summary of our fiscal 2007 acquisitions and apsethases other than the Hyperion and i-flex astjomns is as

follows:
Cash Fair Value of Total Net Tangible IPR&D Intangible

(in millions) Consideration Options Assume( Consideration Assets Expense Assets Goodwill
Portal Software, Inc $ 21t $ 8 % 228 $ 10€ $ 20 $ 92 $ 5
Stellent, Inc. 42¢% 18 44% 77 17 182 167
MetaSolv, Inc. 21¢ 9 227 43 4 91 89
Other 40C 11 411 (93) 8 20¢€ 28¢€

Total $ 125¢ % 446 $ 130: % 13 $ 49§ 57 § 54¢C

Our acquisitions of Portal Software in July 2006 &fetaSolv in December 2006 were to expand ouricgin
offerings to the telecommunications industry. Oenjusition of Stellent in December 2006 was totartextend ot
enterprise content management product offeringsh@ve included the financial results of the relateduired
companies in our consolidated financial statemastsf each acquisition date. The preliminary pusehaice for
each of these acquisitions was based upon a pnaignivaluation and our estimates and assumpti@nsudiject to
change. The primary areas of the purchase prioealbn that are not yet finalized relate to idésmitie intangible
assets, certain legal matters, income and non-iadmsed taxes and residual goodwill.

In May 2007, we entered into an agreement to aecuiile Software Corporation, a leading providepodduct
lifecycle management software, for $8.10 per siracash, or approximately $495 million. The mergesubject to
stockholder and regulatory approval and other enatg closing conditions and is expected to closmithto late
July 2007.

Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions
Siebel Systems, Ini

On January 31, 2006, we completed our acquisitidiebel pursuant to our Merger Agreement datededelper 12
2005. We acquired Siebel to expand our presenteionustomer relationship management (CRM) apjdicat
software market.

The total purchase price for Siebel was $6.1 lillihich consisted of $4,073 million in cash paigbguire the
outstanding common stock of Siebel, $1,763 milfienthe value of our common stock issued in exclediog Siebe
outstanding common stock, $245 million for the faifue of Siebel options assumed and restrictezk stwards
exchanged and $50 million for transaction costslliocating the purchase price based on estimaieddlues, we
recorded approximately $2,451 million in goodwdil,,564 million of identifiable intangible asset®,@2 million o
net tangible assets and $64 million of IPR&D exgens

Other Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2006, we acquired several softwanmjganies and purchased certain technology and develat
organizations for approximately $682 million, indlog transaction costs, which included cash paig6af8 million
and the fair value of options assumed of $34 mmilli/e recorded approximately $469 million of gooltwi

$173 million of identifiable intangible assets, $hdlion of IPR&D expense and $26 million of nehtable assets
connection with these acquisitions during fiscad@0We have included the effects of these trarmsastin our
results of operations prospectively from the reipealates of the acquisitions.
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Fiscal 2005 Acquisitions
PeopleSoft, Inc

We acquired approximately 75% and 97% of the ontitey common stock of PeopleSoft, Inc. for $26.80 ghare
in cash as of December 29, 2004 and January 6, 28§%ectively. On January 7, 2005, we completedrtbrger of
our wholly-owned subsidiary with and into Peopld%ofd converted each remaining outstanding share of
PeopleSoft common stock not tendered, into a tghéceive $26.50 per share in cash, without istere

The total purchase price was $11.1 billion, whiohsisted of $10,576 million in cash paid to acqthes outstandir
common stock of PeopleSoft, $492 million for thi felue of options assumed and $12 million in csh
transaction costs. In allocating the purchase fvésed on estimated fair values, we recorded appabely

$6,253 million of goodwill, $3,384 million of ideifiable intangible assets, $1,410 million of naidéle assets and
$33 million of IPR&D expense.

Retek Inc.

We purchased 5.5 million shares of common stodRaiék Inc. on March 7 and 8, 2005, through ordirtmokerag
transactions at prevailing market prices for a Wwiag-average price of $8.82 per share. In April kiagy 2005, we
acquired the remaining outstanding common stodReték for $11.25 per share, or $584 million.

The total purchase price was $701 million, comprigE$633 million of cash paid to acquire the cansting
common stock of Retek, $32 million of cash paiddatstanding stock options and $36 million of asgian relatec
transaction costs. In allocating the purchase frésed on estimated fair values, we recorded appately

$434 million of goodwill, $133 million of identifiale intangible assets, $127 million of net tangénsets and

$7 million of IPR&D expense.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited financial information in the tabléowesummarizes the combined results of operatidr3racle,
Hyperion, Siebel and other collectively significaoimpanies acquired, on a pro forma basis, as ththey
companies had been combined as of the beginniegalf of the periods presented. The pro forma fiahnc
information is presented for informational purposaly and is not indicative of the results of opienas that would
have been achieved if the acquisitions and ourtg¢bom and long-term borrowings (see Note 5) hadraglace at
the beginning of each of the periods presented.pfbdorma financial information for all periodsgsented also
includes the business combination accounting eéfedtistorical Hyperion, Siebel and other colleelyvsignificant
companies’ support revenues, amortization chamges &cquired intangible assets, stock-based comafiens
charges for unvested options assumed (pursuartatensent 123R and APB 25 for fiscal 2007 and fi2€6,
respectively), Oracle restructuring costs, adjustsieo interest expense and related tax effects.

The unaudited pro forma financial information fbetyear ended May 31, 2007 combines the histomsallts of
Oracle for the year ended May 31, 2007 and, dwifferences in our reporting periods, the histdrieaults of
Hyperion for the 10.5 months ended March 31, 20@i¥the historical results of other collectivelyrsfgcant
companies acquired based upon their respectivégueveporting periods and dates acquired by Ordtle
unaudited pro forma financial information for theay ended May 31, 2006 combines the historicaltsefar
Oracle, with the historical results of Hyperion the year ended June 30, 2006, the historicaltsestibther
collectively significant companies acquired baspdrutheir respective previous reporting periods @eies acquire
by Oracle, and due to differences in our reporgiagods, the historical results of Siebel for tighemonths ended
December 31, 2005.

83




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

May 31, 2007
Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006
Total revenue $18,63¢  $16,48¢
Net income $ 4,01z $ 2,90¢
Basic net income per she $ 07¢ $ 0.5t
Diluted net income per sha $ 07¢ $ 0.5¢

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2007 Restructuring Plan

During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year 206nagement approved and initiated plans to resticertain
operations of pre-merger Hyperion to eliminate rethnt costs resulting from the acquisition of Hyper=nd
improve efficiencies in operations. The cash restming charges recorded are based on restructplamg that hav
been committed to by management.

The total estimated restructuring costs associatddexiting activities of Hyperion are $108 millipconsisting
primarily of excess facilities obligations throufigcal 2019 as well as severance and other restingtcosts. Thes
costs were recognized as a liability assumed impthiehase business combination and included imaltbeation of
the cost to acquire Hyperion and, accordingly, hageilted in an increase to goodwill. Our restriinexpenses
may change as management executes the approvedrptare decreases to the estimates of executegiyperion
restructuring plan will be recorded as an adjustrtegoodwill indefinitely, whereas increases te #stimates will
be recorded as an adjustment to goodwill duringptitehase accounting allocation period, and aglarsement to
operating expenses thereafter.

Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plans

During the third quarter of our fiscal year 200@magement approved and initiated plans to restrictrtain
operations of Oracle and pre-merger Siebel to alite redundant costs resulting from the acquisiifd®iebel and
improve efficiencies in operations. The cash restming charges recorded are based on restructplamg that hav
been committed to by management.

The total estimated severance costs associatedheithiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plan areriion, all of
which have been incurred to date and were recaa#te restructuring expense line within our corsded
statements of operations. Any changes to the etgid executing the Fiscal 2006 Oracle RestruaguiFilan will b
reflected in our future results of operations.

The total estimated restructuring costs associatttdexiting activities of Siebel are $574 millioconsisting
primarily of excess facilities obligations throufibcal 2022 as well as severance and other regtingtcosts. Thes
costs were recognized as a liability assumed impthiehase business combination and included imaltbeation of
the cost to acquire Siebel and, accordingly, haselted in an increase to goodwill. Our restruagiexpenses may
change as management executes the approved ptare Becreases to the estimates of executing #iBi
restructuring plan will be recorded as an adjustrtegoodwill indefinitely, whereas increases te #stimates will
be recorded as operating expenses.

Fiscal 2005 Restructuring Plans

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, managenapyroved and initiated plans to restructure threratons of
Oracle, PeopleSoft, and Retek Inc. Total estimegstiucturing costs associated with the Fiscal 20€¥gle
Restructuring Plan were $158 million and were rdedrto the restructuring expense line within oursmbidated
statements of operations. Total estimated restrimgiiwosts associated with exiting activities obpleSoft and

84




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2007

Retek are $401 million, consisting primarily of doyee severance costs as well as excess facoitigations
through fiscal 2013 and other restructuring costs.

Summary of All Plans

Total Total
Accrued _ Year Ended May 31, 200 Accrued Costs  Expectec
May 31, Initial  Adj. to Cash May 31, Accrued Program
(in millions) 2006®)  Costs® Cost®) Payments Other ® 20073  to Date Costs
Fiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ 25 2% — 3% 260 1O — $ 3B $ 35
Software license updates and product sug 1 — — — — 1 2 2
Services, principally consultir 8 4 — (12 — — 17 17
Other(®) 8 13 — (15) (1) 5 38 38
Total Fiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuri $ 42 $ 198 —3$ B3 % 6% 92 3% 92
Fiscal 2005 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ 38 —%—3% % — 3 1% 337% 37
Software license updates and product sug — — — — — — 6 6
Services, principally consultir 2 — — (1) — 1 28 28
Other(®) 2 — — (2) — — 66 66
Total severanc 7 — — (5) — 2 137 137
Total facilities® 18 — — — — 18 21 21
Total Fiscal 2005 Oracle Restructuri $ 25 —$ — % (B — $ 20 $ 156 $ 15€
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ — $ 45 3% — 3% — $ — $ 45 % 45 $ 45
Facilities — 47 — @ — 46 47 47
Contracts and othe — 16 — — — 16 16 16
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ — $106$ — % (DS — $ 107 $ 1068 $ 10€
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ 37.%$ —$ 8% (9% 1% 6 3% 63 % 63
Facilities 44¢ — (12 (20¢) 4 23C 472 472
Contracts and othe 26 — 4 (20 — 10 39 39
Total Siebel Restructurin $ 50 $ — $(16 % (2520 5 $ 24€ $ 574 $ 574
PeopleSoft and Retek Restructuring Plat
Severanct $ 3% — % 2% DS —$ — $ 19 8% 19
Facilities 95 — — (28) 3 70 157 157
Contracts and othe 11 — — (1) — 10 51 51
Total PeopleSoft and Retek Restructut $ 10 $ —3$ 3% B0 3 $ 80 $ 401 $ 401
Total All Restructuring Plans $ 685 $ 127 $ (18 $ (34))$ 6 $ 45€
(1) Other includes costs associated with research emelapment, general and administrative and maretin
functions.
(@) Allocation of facility costs to operating lines lafisinesses and other functions was approximateanfi3516,
respectively

(3 Accrued restructuring at May 31, 2007 and 2006 $4&9 and $685, respectively. The balances incl2@d $ind
$412 recorded in accrued restructuring, current$#&8 and $273 recorded in accrued restructuriog;aurrent
in the accompanying condensed consolidated baktmets at May 31, 2007 and 2006, respecti

4 Costs associated with initial restructuring pl
®) Primarily relates to the renegotiation of faciligases acquired in the Siebel acquisit
(6) Represents foreign currency translation adjustm
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4. ACQUISITION RELATED CHARGES

Acquisition related charges primarily consist ofirocess research and development expenses, itegrelated
professional services, stock-compensation expearsgepersonnel related costs for transitional emgsey Stock-
based compensation included in acquisition relakeatges resulted from unvested options assumed from

acquisitions whose vesting was fully accelerateashugrmination of the employees pursuant to thegsesf these

options.
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
In-process research and developn $151 $ 78 $ 46
Transitional employee related co 24 30 52
Stocl-based compensatic 9 18 47
Professional fee 8 11 63
PeopleSoft pr-acquisition legal contingency accrt (52 — —

Total acquisition related charg $14C $137 $20¢

For the year ended May 31, 2007, acquisition rdlatearges included a benefit related to the settferof a lawsuit
filed against PeopleSoft, Inc. on behalf of the lg4g@/ernment. This lawsuit was filed in October 200rior to our
acquisition of PeopleSoft. The lawsuit alleged PeBpft made defective pricing disclosures to thaedsal Services
Administration. This lawsuit represented a pre-asitjan contingency that we identified and assunmeconnection
with the PeopleSoft acquisition. On October 10,80@e agreed to pay the U.S. government $98 mitlosettle
this lawsuit. Business combination accounting stadsl require that after the end of the purchase @liocation
period, any adjustment to amounts recorded thateéb a pre-acquisition contingency should beuithet! as an
element of net income in the period of settlemeatsus an adjustment to the original purchase pitloeation.
Since the purchase price allocation period for Reqft ended in the third quarter of our fiscaliy2@06, the
favorable difference of $52 million between tharaasted exposure recorded for this lawsuit durireyghrchase
price allocation period and the actual settlememiunt has been included in our consolidated stateofe
operations for the year ended May 31, 2007.
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5. BORROWINGS
Borrowings consisted of the following:
May 31, May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2007 2006
Commercial paper nott $1,358 $ —
Floating rate senior notes due May 2! 1,00 —
Floating rate senior notes due May 2! 1,00 —
Floating rate senior notes due January Z — 1,50C
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of dis@f$6 and $8 as of May 31, 2007 and
2006 2,24¢ 2,24:
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disai$® and $11 as of May 31, 2007 and
2006 1,991 1,98¢
6.91% senior notes due February 2 — 15C
Notes payable due June 2( — 6
Capital lease 3 7
Total borrowings $7,59: $5,89
Borrowings, current portio $1,35¢ $ 15¢€
Borrowings, loni-term portion $6,23t  $5,73¢

Short-Term Borrowings
Commercial Paper Program

In February 2006, we entered into dealer agreenveittsvarious financial institutions and an Issuangd Paying
Agency Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Natiésabciation, relating to a $3.0 billion commergalper
program (CP Program). Under the CP Program, weissay and sell unsecured short-term promissorysnote
pursuant to a private placement exemption fronreéigéstration requirements under federal and sttargies laws.
In fiscal 2007, we issued approximately $2.1 billf short-term promissory notes (Commercial P&jies)
pursuant to our CP Program. As of May 31, 2007 ntlaturities of the Commercial Paper Notes rangdgdsen twc
weeks and three months. The weighted average gid¢lte Commercial Paper Notes, including issuanstsovas
5.33% and we had $1.6 billion of capacity remainimger our CP Program at May 31, 2007. We did agetany
outstanding borrowings under our CP Program at B1gy2006.

Long-Term Borrowings
Senior Notes Payabl

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatingeatenior notes, of which $1.0 billion is due MaY2{New 2009
Notes) and $1.0 billion is due May 2010 (2010 Npt@#¢e issued the New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notesno the
redemption of the $1.5 billion of senior floatirate notes that we issued in fiscal 2006 (see bedo)for general
corporate purposes. The New 2009 Notes and 201€sNbatar interest at a rate of three-month USD LIBDRR
0.02% and 0.06%, respectively, and interest is lplayguarterly. The New 2009 Notes and 2010 Noteg moabe
redeemed prior to their maturity.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes consisting of $1.5 billion of floating raensor notes due
2009 (Original 2009 Notes), $2.25 billion of 5.0@#nior notes due 2011 (2011 Notes) and $2.0 bitifon
5.25% senior notes due 2016 (2016 Notes and togeitiethe Original 2009 Notes and the 2011 No@sginal
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Senior Notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitionfandjeneral corporate purposes. On June 16, 200@ompleted
registered exchange offer of the Original Seniotdddor registered senior notes with substantidiytical terms t
the Original Senior Notes.

In May 2007 we redeemed the Original 2009 NotegHeir principal amount plus accrued and unpaidrasgt. Our
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes may also be redeemey éhze, subject to payment of a make-whole premitihe
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes bear interest at thef&®0% and 5.25% per year, respectively. Intésegayable
semi-annually for the 2011 notes and 2016 notes.

The effective interest yields of the New 2009 Np2k10 Notes, 2011 Notes and 2016 Notes (colldgtiviee
Senior Notes) at May 31, 2007 were 5.38%, 5.42%9%.and 5.33%, respectively.

The Senior Notes rank pari passu with the CommigReiper Notes and all existing and future senidelrtedness
Oracle Corporation.

We were in compliance with all debt-related coveaat May 31, 2007. Future principal payments af ou
borrowings at May 31, 2007 are as follows: $1.4dsilin fiscal 2008, $1.0 billion in fiscal 20091® billion in
fiscal 2010, $2.25 hillion in fiscal 2011 and $®i0ion in fiscal 2016.

Other Debt Facilities and Related Information
5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement

In March 2006, we entered into a $3.0 billion, 5a¥ ®evolving Credit Agreement with Wachovia Banlatidnal
Association, Bank of America, N.A. and certain otlemders (Credit Agreement). The Credit Agreenpeavides
for an unsecured revolving credit facility whichdae used to backstop any commercial paper thamayeissue
(see above) and for working capital and other gdrearporate purposes. Subject to certain conditgated in the
Credit Agreement, we may borrow, prepay and redvo@mounts under the facility at any time during tarm of
the Credit Agreement. Any amounts drawn pursuattédCredit Agreement are due on March 14, 201fhd€no
outstanding at May 31, 2007 and 2006). Interekased on either (a) a LIBOBased formula or (b) a formula ba:
on Wachovia’'s prime rate or on the federal fundsative rate.

The Credit Agreement also provides that (i) stanekters of credit may be issued on behalf of Gragd to

$500 million; and (ii) any amounts borrowed anddet of credit issued may be in Japanese Yen, Robtatling
and Euros up to $1.5 billion. We may also, upondbesent of either then existing lenders or of talgial banks not
currently party to the agreement, increase the doments under this facility up to $5.0 billion. Tagreement
contains certain customary representations andawies, covenants and events of default, incluthiegequiremel
that the total net debt to total capitalizatioriaatf Oracle not exceed 45%. We have not borrowsdfands under
the Credit Agreement.

$150 Million Senior Notes

We had $150 million in 6.91% senior notes that wire in February 2007 and also had an interestsredp
agreement that had the economic effect of modiftfireginterest obligations associated with thes@se&iotes so
that the interest payable on the senior notes tafedg became variable based on the three-monttORBset
quarterly until maturity. Both the senior notes amgrest-rate swap agreement were settled andenes
outstanding as of May 31, 2007.
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6. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Software license updates and product sug $3,07¢  $2,501
Services 27¢ 24¢€
New software license 134 83

Deferred revenues, curre 3,49: 2,83(

Deferred revenues, n-current 93 114

Total deferred revenu $3,588 $2,94¢

Deferred software license updates and product suppgenues represent customer payments made anaehfor
annual support contracts. Software license updatdgproduct support are typically billed on a paman basis in
advance and revenue is recognized ratably ovesupport period. The deferred software license wgxand
product support revenues are typically higheshateind of our first fiscal quarter due to the aulten of cash from
the large volume of service contracts that are eplgnewed in the fiscal quarter ending in Magath year due to
the peak in sales surrounding our fiscal year-Bderred service revenues include prepaymentsdiosudting, On
Demand and education services. Revenue for thegeewis recognized as the services are perforefirred
new software license revenues typically result fromdelivered products or specified enhancemensipmer
specific acceptance provisions or software licaragsactions that cannot be segmented from congudérvices.
Deferred revenues, non-current are comprised pilyrafrdeferred software license updates and produpport
revenues to be delivered beyond the next 12 months.

In connection with purchase price allocations ealab our acquisitions in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2@0®I fiscal 2005,
we have estimated the fair values of the suppdigations assumed. The estimated fair values o§thmport
obligations assumed were determined using a colt-jo approach. The cost-build up approach deteemfair
value by estimating the costs relating to fulfijlithe obligations plus a normal profit margin. Buen of the costs
and operating profit approximates, in theory, thwant that we would be required to pay a thirdyptotassume th
support obligations. Over the past three fiscatgeae recorded adjustments that have, or willltésweduction in
deferred software license updates and product stippeenues recorded on the books of the entitesequired of
$1.0 billion. This amount represents fair valueuatihents relating to future support obligationseSénfair value
adjustments reduce the revenues recognized oveufpport contract term of our acquired contracts as a result,
we did not recognize software license updates andugt support revenues related to support comstisgumed in
business acquisitions in the amount of $212 miJl&801 million and $320 million, which would havedn
otherwise recorded by the acquired entities, icafi2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
Adoption of Statement 12:

On June 1, 2006, we adopted FASB Statement No. 128&e-Based Paymentnder the modified prospective
method. Statement 123R generally requires sharedh@syments to employees, including grants of eyaglstock
options and purchases under employee stock purgiess, to be recognized in our consolidated stetgsnof
operations based on their fair values. Under thdifiedl prospective method, prior period financig@tements are
not restated.

Prior to June 1, 2006, we accounted for our staadetd compensation plans under the intrinsic vakethod of
accounting as defined by Accounting Principles Bldapinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees
and applied the disclosure provisions of FASB $tatet No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatian
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amended. Under Opinion 25, we generally did nabgaeze any compensation expense for stock opticarsted to
employees or outside directors as the exercise pfiour options was equivalent to the market poiceur common
stock on the date of grant. However, we recordecksbased compensation for the intrinsic value @asad with
unvested options assumed in connection with adépnisi For pro forma disclosures of stock-basedpmamsation
prior to June 1, 2006, the estimated fair value®fiions granted and options assumed were amadrtigieg the
accelerated expense attribution method. In additienreduced pro forma stock-based compensatioansepfor
actual forfeitures in the periods they occurred.

In accordance with Statement 123R, we recognizzkdtased compensation for grants issued or assafterd
June 1, 2006 for awards that we expect to vestsiraght-line basis over the service period ofdterd, which is
generally four years. In determining whether anravisiexpected to vest, we use an estimated, forhoaking
forfeiture rate based upon our historical forfedtuates. Stock-based compensation expense recosdegdan
estimated forfeiture rate is updated for actudiitures quarterly. We also consider whether tenee been any
significant changes in facts and circumstanceswoald affect our forfeiture rate quarterly. Théeet of forfeiture
adjustments based on actual results was nominéikfad 2007. The fair value of the unvested portd awards
granted prior to June 1, 2006 will continue to éeognized over the remaining service period udiegtcelerated
expense attribution method, net of estimated farfes.

Stock-based compensation recognized in our coradelidstatements of operations is as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Issued option: $15¢ $— $—
Assumed options from acquisitio 49 49 72
Stocl-based compensation, recorded in operating exps 207 49 72
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (70 (10 (22
Stock-based compensation, net of estimated t: $137 $3¢ $5C

If we had continued to account for stock-based amsption in accordance with Opinion 25 for fisda0?2, income
before provision for income taxes would have bekdil$nillion higher and net income would have been

$109 million higher, respectively, than the amowmésrecognized in accordance with Statement 122RicBand
diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2007 wouldehldeen $0.02 higher if we had continued to acctarrgtock-
based compensation under Opinion 25.
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The following table presents the effect on reportetincome and earnings per share if we had ateddar our
stock options under the fair value method of actiagrfor fiscal 2006 and 2005:

Year Ended May 31

(in millions, except for per share data 2006 2005
Net income, as reporte $3,381 $2,88¢
Add: Stock-based employee compensatipemse included in net income, net of related
tax effects 39 70
Deduct:  Stock-based employee compensationmnsrpdetermined under the fair value
method, net of related tax effes (1598 (205
Pro forma net incom $3,26:  $2,751
Earnings per shar
Basic—as reportes $ 0.6 $ 0.5¢
Basic—pro forma $ 0.6 $ 0.54
Diluted—as reporte: $ 064 $ 0.5¢
Diluted—pro forma $ 0.6z $ 0.52

Stock Option Plans

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bauitentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which replaced1891
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the 1991 Plan) aravides for the issuance of non-qualified stopkans and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchiagds, stock appreciation rights and lolegm performance awar
to our eligible employees, officers, directors vére also employees or consultants, independenultants and
advisers. In fiscal 2005, the 2000 Plan was ameadddestated to, among other things, eliminataHilgy to
reprice options without stockholder approval, toyile the Board of Directors (Board) with the dlilio grant
restricted stock awards, to permit us to grantquerdnce-based equity awards for eligible tax debility, to
provide the Board with the ability to issue tramafde equity awards and to eliminate the abilitptiyout
employees’ options with cash or common stock. Utlderterms of the 2000 Plan, options to purchasenoon
stock generally are granted at not less than faiket value, become exercisable as establishelebBaard
(generally over four years under our current pcagtiand generally expire no more than ten years the date of
grant. Options granted under the 1991 Plan wenetggeon similar terms. If options outstanding urither 1991 Pla
are forfeited, repurchased, or otherwise termindtieout the issuance of stock, the shares undeylguch options
will also become available for future awards uritier2000 Plan. As of May 31, 2007, options to paseh

353 million shares of common stock were outstandimder both plans, of which 229 million were vested
Approximately 346 million shares of common stock available for future awards under the 2000 Plardate, we
have not issued any stock purchase rights, stogkeajation rights, restricted stock awards or |teign
performance awards under this plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirectStock Option Plan (the Original Directors’ Plamhich
provided for the issuance of non-qualified stockays to non-employee directors. In fiscal 2004, @riginal
Directors’ Plan was amended and restated to eli@miagerm limit on the plan, eliminate the abitibyreprice
options without stockholder approval, decreasentiaber of shares of common stock reserved for ieuander
the Original Directors’ Plan, provide the Boardiwihe ability to make grants of restricted stoélstricted stock
units or other stock-based awards instead of thanzatic option grants and rename the Original Diext Plan, the
1993 Directors’ Stock Plan. In fiscal 2007, thegdval Directors’ Plan was further amended to, amaifgr things,
increase the amounts of the annual stock optiontgta directors, permit pro rata option grantshairs of Board ¢
Directors’ committees and to provide that the Baafr®irectors or the Compensation Committee mayhénfuture,
change the option grant policy for non-employeedirs (the Directors’ Plan) Under the terms offirectors’
Plan, options to purchase 8 million shares of comstock were reserved for issuance, options are

91




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

May 31, 2007

granted at not less than fair market value, becexeecisable over four years, and expire no mone tba years
from the date of grant. The Directors’ Plan progid@ automatic grants of options to each non-eggsalirector
upon first becoming a director and thereafter oaramual basis, as well as automatic nondiscretyogiants for
chairing certain Board committees. The Board haglihcretion to replace any automatic option gustker the
Directors’ Plan with awards of restricted stoclstrieted stock units or other stock-based awartle.Aumber of
shares subject to any such stock award will be acerthan the equivalent value of the options, &srdgned on an
reasonable basis by the Board, which would otherlvé&/e been granted under the applicable autowmatiien
grant. The Board will determine the particular terofi any such stock awards at the time of grartthmuterms will
be consistent with those of options, as descrilsdoly granted under the Directors’ Plan with respewesting or
forfeiture schedules and treatment on terminatfostatus as a director. At May 31, 2007, optionpucchase
approximately 3 million shares of common stock wauestanding under the 1993 Directo®$an, of which less thi
3 million were vested. Approximately 3 million skarare available for future option awards undey plan;

however, no more than 2 million shares may be fsegrants other than options.

In connection with certain of our acquisitionsngipally PeopleSoft, Siebel and Hyperion, we asslaieof the
outstanding stock options and restricted stockefacquiree’s respective stock plans. These stpi&s and

restricted stock generally retain all of the righésms and conditions of the respective plans unthéch options
were originally granted. As of May 31, 2007, op8do purchase 78 million shares of common stock2amdllion

shares of restricted stock were outstanding urieset plans.

The following table summarizes stock options attifor our last three fiscal years ended May 310720

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Shares Unde Average
(in millions, except exercise price) Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 44C $ 11.61
Granted 42 % 10.3¢
Assumed in connection with acquisitic 97 $ 12.2¢
Exercisec (7)) $ 6.1€
Cancelec 39 s 18.01
Balance, May 31, 200 46 $ 11.92
Granted 68 $ 12.3i
Assumed in connection with acquisitic 82 % 17.22
Exercisec @87n $ 6.5€
Cancelec 59 $ 16.64
Balance, May 31, 200 47 $ 13.2¢
Granted 61 $ 14.81
Assumed in connection with acquisitic 25 % 11.2%
Exercisec (10¢) $ 8.22
Cancelec 19 s 34.57
Balance, May 31, 200 434 % 13.6¢

The range of exercise prices for options outstapdirMay 31, 2007 was $0.13 to $126.59. The rahgsearcise
prices for options is due to the fluctuating prideur stock over the period of the grants and ftbenconversion of

options assumed from acquisitions.
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Weighted Average

Remaining

Contractual Life

Weighted Average

Options Exercisable
as of May 31, 200"

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of

Range of Exercise Price (in millions) (in years) Exercise Price (in millions) Exercisable Options
$0.1:—% 6.60 34 1.2¢$ 4,52 34% 4,53
$6.6—% 6.87 71 2.01% 6.87 71% 6.87
$6.8—% 9.90 60 5.5t$ 8.9¢ 453% 8.7¢
$9.9-%$11.85 30 45¢3 10.7¢ 18% 10.8¢
$11.8¢—%$12.34 49 7.85% 12.32 12% 12.3(
$12.3—%$14.26 41 6.3¢$ 12.8¢ 24% 12.91
$14.2—$14.57 55 8.8($ 14.57 2% 14.5%
$14.5¢—%$20.64 54 4.71% 17.4C 46 3% 17.4(C

$20.6:—%$126.59 40 2.87% 38.7¢ 403 38.8¢
$0.1:—%$126.59 434 497% 13.6¢ 292 % 13.9:

Options outstanding that have vested and thatqrected to vest as of May 31, 2007 are as follows:

Weighted
Average In-the-Money Aggregate
Outstanding Weighted Remaining Options as of Intrinsic
Options Average Contract Term  May 31, 2007 Value @
(in millions) Exercise Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 29z $ 13.9¢ 315 241% 2,37¢
Expected to ve<«? 12C $ 12.97 7.8 12C 75¢
Total 412 $ 13.6¢ 4.8 361% 3,13¢

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basdtie difference between our closing stock pricéviay 31,
2007 of $19.38 and the exercise prices for i-the-money options outstandin

@ The unrecognized compensation expense calculatet time fair value method for shares expected $0 ve
(unvested shares net of expected forfeitures) dagf31, 2007 was approximately $356 million andxpected
to be recognized over a weighted average peridd3fears. Approximately 22 million shares outstagas of
May 31, 2007 are not expected to v:

Valuation of Options Granted

We estimate the fair value of our options usingBleck-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, whichsv
developed for use in estimating the fair valuerafléd options that have no vesting restrictionsaaedully
transferable. Option valuation models require tiput of assumptions, including stock price volgtilChanges in
the input assumptions can materially affect thevalue estimates. The fair value of employee arettbr stock
options granted, including options assumed fronuisitipns, were estimated at the date of grantlé&te of
acquisition for acquired options assumed). The hteid average assumptions used were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected life (in years 4. 4.5 4.7
Risk-free interest rat 504 4.3% 3.0%
Volatility 26% 26% 33%
Dividend yield — — —
Weightec-average fair value of gran $6.17 $3.8¢ $4.72
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Excluding assumed options from the acquisitions vieighted average fair value of grants was $492)3 and
$3.46 for fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectivEhe expected life is based on historical exerpatéerns and
post-vesting termination behavior, the risk-freeeiiast rate is based on United States Treasumuinshts and
volatility is calculated based on the implied viityt of our longest-term, traded options. We dd oorrently pay
cash dividends on our common stock and do notipat& doing so for the foreseeable future. Accalyinour
expected dividend yield is zero.

Tax Benefits from Option Exercises

We settle employee stock option exercises primavitil newly issued common shares and may, on czgasettle
employee stock option exercises with our treashayes. Total cash received as a result of optiencéses was
approximately $873 million, $573 million and $468Imn for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2Q@&spectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisad $986 million, $594 million and $511 million rffiscal 2007,
fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively. In catiom with these exercises, the tax benefits redlizy us were
$338 million, $169 million and $170 million for fial 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The adomi®tatement
123R required us to change our cash flow classificaf certain tax benefits received from stockiap exercises
beginning June 1, 2006. Of the total tax beneéiteived, we classified excess tax benefits froroksbased
compensation of $259 million as cash flows fronafining activities rather than cash flows from opagpactivities
for fiscal 2007. To calculate the excess tax bémefrailable for use in offsetting future tax sfadl$ as of our
Statement 123R adoption date, which also affeet®xtess tax benefits from stock-based compensiddnve
reclassify as cash flows from financing activitie® adopted the alternative transition method asquibed under
FASB Staff Position FAS 123R-3ransition Election to Accounting for the Tax Effecf Share-Based Payment
Awards.

Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purcliase Po date, 409 million shares of common stoakehbeetl
reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan.tBitloe April 1, 2005 semi-annual option perioddar the
Purchase Plan employees could purchase sharesaiao stock at a price per share that is 85% ofetsger of the
fair market value of Oracle stock as of the begigror the end of the semi-annual option perioditi@tawith the
April 1, 2005 semi-annual option period, we amentedPurchase Plan such that employees can purshases of
common stock at a price per share that is 95%eofain value of Oracle stock as of the end of #mmisannual
option period. Through May 31, 2007, 325 millioragts had been issued and 84 million shares wesevesisfor
future issuances under the Purchase Plan. Dusnglf2007, 2006 and 2005, we issued 3 million, I6aniand

17 million shares, respectively, under the Purcliian.

8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program panehase shares of our common stock to reduceiltitevel
effect of our stock option and stock purchase pl&nsm the inception of the stock repurchase pmgral992 to
May 31, 2007, a total of 2.0 billion shares haverbeepurchased for approximately $24.7 billion. ijeurchased
234 million shares for $4.0 billion, 147 millionasfes for $2.0 billion and 115 million shares for3tillion in fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In April 2007, Board expanded our repurchase program by $Hiénband,
as of May 31, 2007, approximately $4.2 billion veasilable to repurchase shares of our common gfoduant to
the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not haexpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsiatill
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions, our dejpayment
obligations (as described above), our stock pend,economic and market conditions. Our stock iE@ages may
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be effected from time to time through open marketpases or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Ogksto
repurchase program may be accelerated, susperelaged or discontinued at any time.

Rights Agreemer

In connection with the Reorganization, on Janudry2®06 our Board of Directors distributed prefdrstock
purchase rights as a dividend at the rate of ajte for each share of our common stock held bykstolclers of
record as of January 31, 2006 pursuant to a peefesinares rights agreement dated January 31, RO@iGi¢
Agreement), which was based on the preferred shtets agreement of Old Oracle prior to the Repizgtion.
The Board of Directors also authorized the issuari@eright for each share of common stock issutt the record
date, until the occurrence of certain specifiedhéseThe Rights Agreement was adopted to provid&eption to
stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attetoatcquire us.

Each right is initially exercisable for one-six treand seven hundred fiftieth of a share of oureSehi Junior
Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $125quee-six thousand seven hundred fiftieth of ashsubject to
adjustment. The rights are not exercisable ungildarlier of: (1) ten days (or such later date ag be determined |
the Board of Directors) following an announceméuatt a person or group has acquired beneficial ostrigiof 15%
or more of our common stock or (2) ten days (ohdater date as may be determined by the Boardretrs)
following the commencement of a tender offer whi€successfully consummated, would result in asparor
group obtaining beneficial ownership of 15% or mofeur outstanding common stock, subject in eadedo
certain exceptions (the earlier of such dates beé@tigd the distribution date). After the distrilout date, holders of
rights (other than the 15% or greater holder) ballentitled to receive upon exercise of the rigitt payment of
exercise price, shares of our common stock (azentain types of transactions, common stock ofttwuirer)
having a market value of two times the exercisegooif the right. Alternatively, we may require #sechange of
rights, at a rate of one share of common stocledah right, without payment of exercise price, uradgtain
circumstances.

We are entitled to redeem the rights, for $0.003&8right, at the discretion of the Board of Diggst until certain
specified times. The Board of Directors also hasathility to amend the Rights Agreement withoutrappl of the
holders of the rights, subject to certain limitasoUnless earlier redeemed or exchanged, thesnighitexpire at the
close of business on March 31, 2008.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of income taxes (incaxeffects were insignificant for all periods pnetssl):

May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Foreign currency translation adjustm $39C $30¢
Unrealized loss on derivativi 9) (37
Unrealized gain on investmer 2
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustme: — (29
Unrealized components of defined benefit pensiam phet 20 —

Accumulated other comprehensive incc $403 $25¢
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May 31, 2007

The following is a geographical breakdown of incdpegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005

Domestic $3,302 $2,727 $1,95¢

Foreign 2,68¢ 2,08: 2,09t
Total $5,98¢ $4,81( $4,05]

The provision for income taxes consists of theofelhg:

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended May 31,
2007 2006 2005

Current provision
Federa
State
Foreign

Total current provisiol

Deferred provision (benefit
Federa
State
Foreign

Total deferred benef
Total provision for income taxe

Effective income tax rat

$ 864 $ 93t $ 624
147 97 13t
757 434 472

1,76¢ 1,46¢ 1,231

45 (35) (11)

4 8 (24)

(108) (13) (31)
(56) (40) (66)
$1,71: $1,42¢ $1,16"
28.6% 29.7%  28.8%

The provision for income taxes differs from the amibcomputed by applying the federal statutory tateur
income before provision for income taxes as follows

(in millions)

Year Ended May 31,
2007 2006 2005

Tax provision at statutory ra

Foreign earnings at other than United States

State tax expense, net of federal ber

Dividend pursuant to American Jobs Creation Ac2@®4
Settlement of audits and expiration of statutes

Other

Provision for income taxe

96

$2,00°  $1,68. $1,41¢
(580)  (426) (380

08 68 66

— — 121
(29) — (131
12¢ 102 71

$1,712  $1,42¢  $1,16¢F
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The components of the deferred tax assets anditiedbiconsist of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2007 2006
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar (38) (52)
Acquired intangible: (1,756 (1,340
Other — (30)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (1,929 (1,55)
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance 417 60z
Employee compensation and bene 27C 137
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 16€ 101
Depreciation and amortizatic 85 78
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 93t 823
Other 91 14¢
Total deferred tax asse 1,964 1,89(C
Valuation allowanct (16€) (189)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ (12¢) $ 15C
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 968 $ 714
Non-current deferred tax assets (in other-current assets 47 16
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (20 (16)
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (1,127 (5649)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ (12¢) $ 15C

We provide for United States income taxes on theiegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they are iclemed
indefinitely reinvested outside the United StafgsMay 31, 2007, the amount of temporary differenoelated to
investments in foreign subsidiaries upon which EahiBtates income taxes have not been provided was
approximately $5.7 billion. If these amounts wegpatriated in the United States, they would gerdrakign tax
credits that would reduce the federal tax liabitigsociated with the foreign dividend. Assumingladftilization of
the foreign tax credits, the potential deferredlialility associated with these temporary diffeses would be
approximately $1.4 billion. In fiscal 2005, we régeted $3.1 billion of the earnings of foreign sidiaries in
accordance with the American Jobs Creation Act0®42and recorded a federal tax expense of $11&m#ind a
state tax expense (net of federal tax benefitBof$llion. We repatriated the maximum amount avsédaor
repatriation under the American Jobs Creation AQ0D4.

The Internal Revenue Service has examined ourdédwome tax returns for all years through 199thaut any
material adjustment of taxes due. The IRS is ctlyexamining our federal income tax returns foB@@hrough
2003. In addition, the Internal Revenue Servioexamining taxable years after 2000 for various aeqguentities.
We do not believe that the outcome of these mattdrfave a material adverse effect on our comsdéd financial
position or results of operations. We are also uedamination by numerous state and non-US taxoaitis. We
believe that we have adequately provided for angarably foreseeable outcome related to thesesatititvever,
there can be no assurances as to possible outcomes.

97




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2007

The valuation allowance was $166 million at May 2007 and $189 million at May 31, 2006. The netrease is
primarily attributable to the release of valuatadlowance of acquired deferred tax assets, prifigifederal net
operating loss carryforwards. Substantially alttaf valuation allowance relates to tax assets kstteld in purchase
accounting. Any subsequent reduction of that portibthe valuation allowance and the recognitiothefassociate
tax benefits will be applied to reduce goodwill @ahdn to intangible assets established pursuaheteelated
acquisition.

At May 31, 2007, we had federal net operating tsyforwards of approximately $1.7 billion. Thdssses expire
in various years between fiscal 2018 and fiscalr2@2d are subject to limitations on their utiliaat We have state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximatelyddillion, which expire between fiscal 2008 arst#l 2027,
and are subject to limitations on their utilizatife have tax credit carryforwards of approxima&2p9 million,
which are subject to limitations on their utilizai Approximately $72 million of these tax creditrg/forwards are
not currently subject to expiration dates. The riewher, approximately $137 million, expire in var®oyears betwee
fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2026.

Our intercompany transfer pricing is currently lgersviewed by the IRS and by foreign tax jurisdiog and will
likely be subject to additional audits in the fl@duwWe previously negotiated three unilateral AdeaRdcing
Agreements with the IRS that cover many of ourrtgenpany transfer pricing issues and precludeRgffom
making a transfer pricing adjustment within thepseof these agreements. However, these agreemanits, are
effective for fiscal years through May 31, 2006,rbd cover all elements of our intercompany tranpfeing issue:
and do not bind tax authorities outside the Un&¢ates. We are currently determining whether tacstire
additional agreements that cover periods beyond 20&¥. There can be no guarantee in any evenattyat
negotiations will result in an agreement.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirtgnume for the period by the weighted-average memof
common shares outstanding during the period. Qdle&rnings per share is computed by dividing nedrime for the
period by the weighted-average number of commoreshautstanding during the period, plus the dirigi¥fect of
outstanding stock awards and shares issuable tiielemployee stock purchase plan using the treasock
method. The following table sets forth the com@atabf basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2007 2006 2005

Net income $4,27¢ $3,38] $2,88¢
Weighte-average common shares outstant 5,17(C 5,19¢ 5,13¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 99 91 95
Dilutive weighte-average common shares outstanc 5,26¢ 5,287 5,231
Basic earnings per she $ 08: $ 065 $ 0.5¢
Diluted earnings per sha $ 081 $ 064 $ 0.5t
Shares subject to a-dilutive stock options excluded from calculati@® 76 12z 141

(1) These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutive stqations as calculated using the treasury stockoaet
(described above) and could be dilutive in therit$ee Note 7 for information regarding the pricesur
outstanding, unexercised optio
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11. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURIT IES

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily oflgiiuid investments in time deposits held at ndjanks,
commercial paper, United States government ageiscpuht notes, money market mutual funds and attearey
market securities with original maturities of 90/dar less. Marketable securities primarily consfstommercial
paper, corporate notes and Unites States goverrsgenty notes.

In accordance with Statement 115 and based omtantions regarding these instruments, we hadrigstty
classified certain of our debt securities as helthtturity (accounting for these marketable seiasriat amortized
cost) and certain of our other investments in deburities as available-for-sale (accounting festhmarketable
securities at market value). In fiscal 2007, wessified substantially all newly purchased investtaers available-
for-sale.

The amortized principal amount of cash and caslvatfnts at May 31, 2007 and 2006 was $6.2 biliiad

$6.7 billion, respectively, which approximated fealue, and the weighted-average interest rates &@8% for
both fiscal 2007 and 2006. We use the specifictifieation method to determine any realized gain®eses from
the sale of our marketable securities classifiedvaslable-for-sale. Such realized gains and log&s insignificant
for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005. Thédwing table summarizes the components of ourketable

securities:
May 31, 2007 May 31, 2006
Available- Held-to- Available-
(in millions) for-Sale) Total Maturity @  for-Sale(®) Total
Marketable securities (within 1 yes $ 802 $ 802 $ 85: $ 92 $ 94
Debt securities issued by U.S. governmental age $ 10€ $ 10€ $ — % — $ —
Debt securities issued by states of the UnitedeStand
political subdivisions of the stat — — — 2 2
Corporate debt securities and ot 69€ 69€ 854 a0 944
Total $ 80z $ 80z % 854 $ 92 $ 94¢€

() The amortized cost of our marketable securities@pmated fair value

Our investment portfolio is subject to market rikle to changes in interest rates. We place ousiments with
high credit quality issuers and, by policy, linfietamount of credit exposure to any one issuestéted in our
investment policy, we are averse to principal lmsd seek to preserve our invested funds by limiiefgqult risk,
market risk and reinvestment risk.

12. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB Statement No. 133ccounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities, as amendedestablishes
accounting and reporting standards requiring thatyederivative instrument be recorded in the badasheet as
either an asset or liability measured at its faiue. Statement 133 also requires that changé®iddrivative’s fair
value be recognized currently in earnings unlessifip hedge accounting criteria are met and thairapany must
formally document, designate and assess the eféeess of transactions that receive hedge accgumie use
derivatives to manage foreign currency and intewstrisk.

Net Investment Hedg

Periodically, we hedge the net assets of certa@rnational subsidiaries (net investment hedgaspusreign
currency forward contracts to offset the transtatimd economic exposures related to our investniemtese
subsidiaries. We measure the effectiveness ohwesiment hedges by using the changes in spot egehates
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because this method reflects our risk managemeategtes, the economics of those strategies itfiloancial
statements and better manages interest rate diff@iebetween different countries. Under this rodttithe change
in fair value of the forward contract attributalidethe changes in spot exchange rates (the eféeptivtion) is
reported in stockholders’ equity to offset the #lation results on the net investments. The remgiohange in fair
value of the forward contract (the ineffective fam) is recognized in non-operating income, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportsthakholder’ equity prior to tax effects were $45 million,
$23 million and $(23) million in fiscal 2007, 20@&d 2005, respectively. The net gain on investrhedges
reported in non-operating income, net were $28oniJl$24 million and $14 million in fiscal 2007, @® and 2005,
respectively.

At May 31, 2007, we had one net investment hedgajranese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimiresncy
risk arising from net assets held in Yen as a tegiéquity capital raised during the initial pubbffering and
secondary offering of Oracle Japan. The fair valueur Yen investment hedge was $0.2 million abath May 31,
2007 and 2006. As of May 31, 2007, the Yen investrhedge has a notional amount of $548 million amd
exchange rate of 120.22 Yen for each United Stitéar.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzesiforeign
currency forward contracts to offset the risk agsed with the effects of certain foreign curremxposures. Under
this program, increases or decreases in our for@ig®ency exposures are offset by gains or losse¢keforward
contracts, to mitigate the possibility of foreiguriency transaction gains or losses. These for@igrency exposurt
typically arise from intercompany sublicense ferd ather intercompany transactions. Our forwardremts
generally have terms of 90 days or less. We dauisetforward contracts for trading purposes. Alstartding
foreign currency forward contracts used in thisgpam are marked to market at the end of the paviddunrealize:
gains and losses included in non-operating incarae,Our ultimate realized gain or loss with respeaurrency
fluctuations depends upon the currency exchangs eatd other factors in effect as the contractsimmalet foreigi
exchange transaction gains (losses) included irap@nating income, net in the accompanying conatsidi
statements of operations were $17 million, $15iamland $(28) million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 208 pectively
The unrealized gains (losses) of our outstandingida currency forward contracts were $5 milliord an

$(0.3) million at May 31, 2007 and 2006, respedgive

13. PROPERTY

Property consisted of the following:

Estimated May 31,

(in millions) Useful Lives 2007 2006
Computer and network equipme 2-5years $1,37¢ $1,131
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 1,35(C 1,27¢
Furniture and fixture 3-10 year 38t 36¢
Land — 204 20C
Automobiles 5 years 5 11
Construction in progres — 13€ 66
Total property 1-50 year 3,45¢ 3,051
Accumulated depreciatic (1,856 (1,660
Property, ne $1,60: $1,39]
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14. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill,ekhis generally not deductible for tax purposesppgrating
segment for fiscal 2007 and 2006, were as follows:

Software
License
New Updates anc
Software Product
(in millions) Licenses Support Services Other 1) Total

Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 122 $ 486: ¢ 445 $ 47t $ 7,008
Allocation of goodwill() 21¢ 164 93 (475) —
Siebel acquisition goodwi 53¢ 1,70z 274 — 2,51¢
Other acquisition goodwi 28C 147 57 — 484
Goodwill adjustment(@ (42 (135) (15) — (192)
Balances as of May 31, 20 2,21¢ 6,741 854 — 9,80¢
Hyperion acquisition goodwi(@ — — — 1,67¢ 1,67
i-flex acquisition goodwil 687 27€ 60¢ — 1,57
Other acquisition goodwi 29t 19t 49 10 54¢
Goodwill adjustment® (27) (90) (7) — (124)
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 316¢ $ 7122 $ 1508 $ 1687 $ 13,47¢

(1) Represents goodwill associated with certain actipins that was or will be allocated to operatingreents upon
finalization of our intangible asset valuatio

@ Primarily relates to the renegotiation of faciligases acquired in the Siebel acquisition and adgrsts to
deferred taxes

The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 20@irthe net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2807 and 200
were as follows:

Intangible Assets, Gros: Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value  Weighted

May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average

(Dollars in millions) 2006  Additions 2007 2006 Expense 2007 2006 2007  Useful Life
Software support agreements i

related relationship $2,94¢ $ 70% $3,652 $ (329 $ (321) $ (650 $2,62( $3,00z 10 year:

Developed technolog 1,33¢ 1,006 2,34z (333 (355 (68F) 1,00c 1,65¢ 5years

Core technolog 594 28¢ 883 (121) (139 (259 473 62¢ 5years

Customer relationshiy 37¢ 224 59¢ (47) (44) (85) 334 514 9years

Trademarks 117 92 20¢ (19) (25) (44) 98 165 8 years

Total $5,371 $ 2,314 $7,685 $ (843 $ (87€) $(1,727) $4,52¢ $5,96¢

Total amortization expense related to our intargéssets was $878 million, $583 million and $218aniin fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Estimated fudamertization expense related to our intangibletass

$1.1 billion in both fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009,7% million in fiscal 2010, $756 million in fisc@D11, $620 milliol
in fiscal 2012 and $1.4 billion thereafter.
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15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 13Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt®&tlnformation establishes
standards for reporting information about operasagments. Operating segments are defined as camigosf an
enterprise about which separate financial inforarais available that is evaluated regularly bydhief operating
decision maker, or decision making group, in dexjdiow to allocate resources and in assessingrpaafae. Our
chief operating decision maker is our Chief Exaeu®fficer. We are organized geographically andirgy of
business. While our Chief Executive Officer evaisatesults in a number of different ways, the éhbusiness
management structure is the primary basis for wttiehallocation of resources and financial resalésassessed. \
have two businesses, software and services, whicfugher divided into five operating segmentsr Gaftware
business is comprised of two operating segmensigl software licenses and (2) software licensiatgs and
product support. Our services business is compo$éduree operating segments: (1) consulting, (2)B@mand and
(3) education.

The new software license line of business is endjagéhe licensing of database and middleware sofivas well as
applications software. Database and middlewaravsodt includes database management software, afpticerve
software, identification management and accesdytirs development tools and collaboration sofsvar
Applications software provides enterprise informatthat enables companies to manage their busiyekss and
provide intelligence in functional areas such aarficials, human resources, maintenance management,
manufacturing, marketing, order fulfillment, prodlitecycle management, procurement, projects ssakervices,
enterprise resource planning and supply chain pignithe software license updates and product stifipe of
business provides customers with rights to unsigecgfoftware product upgrades and maintenancesedemternet
access to technical content, as well as interrettelaphone access to technical support persommnieigdthe support
period. The software license updates and prodygicstiline of business also offers customers Ordclereakable
Linux Support, which provides enterprise level supfor the Linux operating system.

The consulting line of business provides servioesustomers in business strategy and analysisyéssprocess
optimization, and the implementation, deploymerd apgrade of our database, middleware and apitsti
software. On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, @®MDemand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle On
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for custdinatrs
deploy our database, middleware and applicatiofizrare at Oracle’s data center facilities or aite sf our
customer’s choosing. CRM On Demand is a servicerioff) that provides our customers with our SiedeMC
Software functionality delivered via a hosted soluthat we manage. Advanced Customer Servicedsters
solution support centers, business critical assigtatechnical account management, expert sendoefiguration
and performance analysis, personalized supporaandal on-site technical services. The educatiendi business
provides instructor led, media based and interaséd training in the use of our database, middiewad
applications software.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetefmsrating
segments.
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The following table presents a summary of our besées and operating segments:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
New software license:
Revenue(l) $587. $4897 $ 4,08.
Sales and distribution expen: 3,32¢ 2,63¢ 2,05¢
Margin ) $ 2,548  $2,25¢ $ 2,02i
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue(®) $ 8541 $ 7,027 $ 5,65
Cost of service 78€ 675 56¢
Margin @ $ 7,75 $6,35/ $ 5,081
Total software busines
Revenue(®) $14,41F $11,92¢ $ 9,73:
Expense! 4,114 3,311 2,624
Margin @ $10,30. $ 8,61 $ 7,10¢
Consulting:
Revenue(l) $ 2851 $211: $ 1,79
Cost of service 2,38¢ 1,781 1,471
Margin @ $ 467 $ 32 $ 32t
On Demand
Revenue(®) $ 55t $ 39¢ $ 307
Cost of service 52¢ 372 274
Margin () $ 26 $ 26 $ 33
Education:
Revenue!®) $ 387 $ 33 $ 284
Cost of service 272 23k 21E
Margin $ 11t $ 101 $ 69
Total services busines
Revenue(®) $3,79¢ $ 2,847 $ 2,381
Cost of service 3,18t 2,39/ 1,96(
Margin @ $ 60€ $ 458 $ 427
Totals:
Revenue®) $18,20¢ $14,77. $12,11¢
Expense! 7,29¢ 5,70 4,584
Margin @ $10,90¢ $ 9,066 $ 7,53¢

(1) Operating segment revenues differ from the exte@drting classifications due to certain softwarense
products that are classified as service revenuasdmagement reporting purposes. Additionally vsafe license
updates and product support revenues for managesm@nting include $212 million, $391 million and
$320 million of revenues that we did not recognizéhe accompanying consolidated statements ofatipers for
the years ended May 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, rigplgc See Note 6 for an explanation of these stjients
and the following table for a reconciliation of optng segment revenues to total reven

(@ The margins reported reflect only the direct cdkahde costs and expenses of each line of busimedsio not
represent the actual margins for each operatingergbecause they do not contain an allocatiomaxfyzt
development, information technology, marketing padner programs, and corporate and general and
administrative expenses incurred in support ofitres of business. Additionally, the margins do redtect the
amortization of intangible assets, restructuringtgoacquisition related costs or st-based compensatio
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The following table reconciles operating segmeneneies to total revenues as well as operating sggmeargin to

income before provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Total revenues for reportable segme $18,20¢ $14,77: $12,11¢
Software license updates and product support res(l) (212) (397 (320)
Total revenue $17,99¢ $14,38( $11,79¢
Total margin for reportable segme $10,90¢ $ 9,066 $ 7,53¢
Software license updates and product support reag@® (212 (397 (320
Product development and information technology espe (2,460 (2,160) (2,777
Marketing and partner program expen (424 (447) (37¢)
Corporate and general and administrative expe (57%) 473) (43¢)
Amortization of intangible asse (87¢) (589) (219
Acquisition relatec (240 (137 (20¢)
Restructuring (19 (85) (147)
Stocl-based compensatic (29¢) (32) (25)
Interest expens (343 (169 (13%)
Non-operating income, n¢ 32€ 22C 157
Income before provision for income ta» $598 $ 481 $ 4,057

(1) Software license updates and product support resefar management reporting include revenues thatid/no
recognize in the accompanying condensed consalidgiitédements of operations in the amount of $21omi
$391 million and $320 million for fiscal 2007, fedc2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively. See Noter &
explanation of these adjustments and this tabla feconciliation of operating segment revenuestal

revenues

Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiorafor each country that comprised greater thagetipercent of

our total revenues for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006iscal 2005.

Year Ended May 31,

2007 2006 2005

Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenue: Assetsl) Revenue: Assets®) Revenue: Assets(d)
United State! $ 7,82¢ $ 1,40¢ $ 6,44¢ $ 1,351 $ 4,94: $ 1,371
United Kingdom 1,29 111 1,15¢ 10¢ 1,01¢ 11z
Japar 90¢ 164 841 10¢& 79€ 39
Germany 72C 11 57¢ 8 57¢ 6
France 63% 16 50¢ 16 442 15
Canade 54¢ 10 472 12 34E 12
Other foreign countrie 6,06 41E 4,37 17¢ 3,68( 18t
Total $17,99¢ $ 2,131 $14,38( $ 1,78( $11,79¢ $ 1,74
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(1) Long-lived assets excludes goodwill, intangiblestssequity investments and deferred taxes, whiemat
allocated to specific geographic locations as inigracticable to do st

16. PEOPLESOFT CUSTOMER ASSURANCE PROGRAM

In June 2003, in response to our tender offer, lB&qft implemented what it referred to as the “oostr assurance
program” or “CAP.” The CAP incorporated a provisionPeopleSoft's standard licensing arrangemeritghgoorts
to contractually burden Oracle, as a result ofamquisition of PeopleSoft, with a contingent obliga to make
payments to PeopleSoft customers should we fa#ke certain business actions for a fixed peridw payment
obligation, which typically expires four years frdhre date of the contract, is fixed at an amounegaly between
two and five times the license and first year supfees paid to PeopleSoft in the applicable liestnansaction.
PeopleSoft customers retain rights to the licemgeducts whether or not the CAP payments are traghje

The maximum potential penalty under the CAP, bysiaer, as of May 31, 2007 was as follows:

Maximum Potential

Dates Offered to Customers®) Penalty
CAP Version Start Date End Date (in_millions)

Version 1 June 200: September 12, 200 $ 75
Version 2 September 12, 201 September 30, 20 12C
Version 3 September 30, 200 November 7, 200 40
Version 4 November 18, 20C June 30, 200 1,11¢
Version 5 June 16, 200 December 28, 20( 743
Version 6 October 12, 2000 December 28, 20( 1,057

$ 3,151

(1) Some contracts originally submitted to customeiwr o these end dates were executed following siaths. Th
majority of the CAP provisions will expire no latitran four years after the contract di

This purported obligation was not reflected ashility on PeopleSoft's balance sheet as People®oitiuded that
it could be triggered only following the consumnoatiof an acquisition. We have concluded that, gh@flate of
the acquisition, the penalty provisions under t@¢>Cepresented a contingent liability of Oraclee Bggregate
potential CAP obligation as of May 31, 2007 wa2#3llion. Unless the CAP provisions are removeihfrthese
licensing arrangements, we do not expect the agtggaptential CAP obligation to decline substalytiahtil fiscal
year 2008 when these provisions begin to expire hdie not recorded a liability related to the CAPwe do na
believe it is probable that our post-acquisitiotivaties related to the PeopleSoft and JD Edwardslpct lines will
trigger an obligation to make any payment purstathe CAP. While no assurance can be given dsetaltimate
outcome of litigation, we believe we would also @awubstantial defenses with respect to the legatity
enforceability of the CAP contract provisions isgense to any claims seeking payment from us uhdeCAP
terms.

17. GUARANTEES

Our software license agreements generally incleg&ain provisions for indemnifying customers agsliadilities if
our software products infringe a third party’s Ifgetual property rights. To date, we have not ined any material
costs as a result of such indemnifications and hat@ccrued any liabilities related to such olilayss in our
consolidated financial statements. Certain of aftwsare license agreements also include provisiotgsmnifying
customers against liabilities in the event we bineaanfidentiality or service level requirementsisihot possible to
determine the maximum potential amount under tireEmnification agreements due to our limited
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and infrequent history of prior indemnification icles and the unique facts and circumstances invdlveach
particular agreement. Historically, payments magledunder these agreements have not had a matfeiet on
our results of operations, financial position, asle flows.

Our software license agreements also generallydlech warranty that our software products will sabigally
operate as described in the applicable programrdentation for a period of one year after delivéie also
warrant that services we perform will be provide@dimanner consistent with industry standards foeréod of
90 days from performance of the service. Warrarpease was not significant in fiscal 2007, fisc@0@ or fiscal
2005.

We occasionally are required, for various reastmenter into agreements with financial institusdhat provide
letters of credit on our behalf to parties we cantdwsiness with in ordinary course. Such agreesrggte not had
material effect on our results of operations, fitiahposition or cash flows.

18. COMMITMENTS

Lease Commitmen

We lease certain facilities and furniture and emépt under operating leases. As of May 31, 20Gdéréuminimum
annual operating lease payments and future minimpayments to be received from non-cancelable sutdessre

as follows:

Year Ended

(in millions) May 31,
2008 $ 33¢
2009 301
2010 242
2011 16z
2012 124
Thereafte 28C
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,44¢
Less: Minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (190
Total, net $ 1,25¢

Lease commitments include future minimum rent payéor facilities that we have vacated pursuartuo
restructuring and merger integration activitiesgdssussed in Note 3. We have approximately $36domiin
facility obligations, net of estimated subleaseome and other costs, in accrued restructuringhiese locations in
our consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2007.

Rent expense was $224 million, $175 million and4saiillion for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 pegtively,
net of sublease income of approximately $32 milli®23 million and $10 million, respectively. Certdease
agreements contain renewal options providing foextension of the lease term.

Unconditional Purchase Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, whicl
are agreements that are enforceable, legally binaiimd specify certain minimum quantity and priciegns. As of
May 31, 2007, our unconditional purchase obligatitatal $73 million for fiscal 2008, $196 millioorffiscal 2009,
$3 million for fiscal 2010, $3 million for fiscal® 1, $3 million for fiscal 2012 and $14 million teafter.
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The aforementioned unconditional purchase obligat@amounts include a property commitment enterexdn one
of our subsidiaries to purchase land and buildfogspproximately $342 million, of which approxinet

$64 million was paid in fiscal 2007 and $66 millisas paid in fiscal 2006. The remaining commitmédaighe
property will be paid in fiscal 2009.

19. BENEFIT PLANS

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidin plan
expense was $198 million, $170 million and $147iamilfor fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respedti In fisca
2007, fiscal 2006 and 2005, we increased the nuwi@an participants in our defined contributidamns primarily
as a result of additional employees from our adtoiss.

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings avestment
Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan). Participants can gefyecahtribute up to 40% of their eligible compensaton a per-
pay-period basis as defined by the plan documehy ¢he section 402(g) limit as defined by the in& Revenue
Service. We match a portion of employee contrimgjaurrently 50% up to 6% of compensation eachpesipd,
subject to maximum aggregate matching amounts contributions to the plan, net of forfeitures, w86¥ million,
$58 million and $46 million in fiscal 2007, 2006caR005, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatitamto certain key employees whereby they mayrdeportion
of their annual base and/or variable compensatntih netirement or a date specified by the emploiyeaccordance
with the plans. Deferred compensation plan assetdiabilities were approximately $195 million afi@éi65 million
as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, angersented in other assets and other long-termitiabiin the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In September 2006, FASB Statement No. F8ployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiod &ther
Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statsriven 87, 88, 106 and 132(was issued. Statement 158
requires plan sponsors of defined benefit pensishather postretirement benefit plans (Plans) togaize the
funded status of their Plans in the balance shesdsure the fair value of plan assets and ber#fgaiions as of th
date of the balance sheet and provide additiosalaures.

We are the sponsor of a defined benefit pensiom gda&ering certain employees in the United Kingdanmd, on
May 31, 2007 we adopted the recognition and discprovisions of Statement 158. Statement 158inedjuis to
recognize the funded status (i.e., the differerate/ben the fair value of plan assets and the peajduoenefit
obligations) of our pension plan in the May 31, 2@@lance sheet, with a corresponding adjustmesmtdomulated
other comprehensive income, net of tax. The néofmpact on accumulated other comprehensive iecoin
adopting Statement 158 was $29 million at May 3072

20. RELATED PARTIES

We have entered into transactions with 11 compamies the last three fiscal years in which our €kieecutive
Officer, directly or indirectly, has a controllingterest. These companies purchased software avidesefor
$2.3 million, $4.7 million and $4.1 million durirfgscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In additive
purchased goods and services from five of thesegpaaras for $1.8 million, $1.0 million and $0.8 riwh in fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In connection with our acquisition of PeopleSofg assumed a sublease with a company in which oigf Ch
Executive Officer holds a controlling interest amel received payments of $0.1 million and $0.2 willduring
fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. The subleasetaeraninated in the first quarter of fiscal 2006enthis compan
entered into a direct lease with the landlord.

In fiscal 2006 and 2005, we received $0.1 millioxd 0.6 million, respectively, for purchases oftsaire and
services from two companies affiliated with two@timembers of our Board of Directors who are, oreywe
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executive officers of such companies. A memberwfRoard of Directors was previously an executiffecer of
one such company until July 2005. Transactions thithcompany from June 2005 to the date of thiarBo
member’s departure in July 2005 have been incliéte preceding disclosure. Our fiscal 2007 tratisas were
not significant.

21. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action

Stockholder class actions were filed in the Unibeates District Court for the Northern District@alifornia against
us and our Chief Executive Officer on and after &a®, 2001. Between March 2002 and March 2003¢dlet
dismissed plaintiffs’ consolidated complaint, fisshended complaint and a revised second amendeglaomThe
last dismissal was with prejudice. On Septemb@004, the United States Court of Appeals for thetiNCircuit
reversed the dismissal order and remanded thefaaBether proceedings. The revised second amendsetplaint
named our Chief Executive Officer, our then Chiefdncial Officer (who currently is Chairman of dBoard of
Directors) and a former Executive Vice Presidendefendants. This complaint was brought on beHgiuochasers
of our stock during the period from December 14®@through March 1, 2001. Plaintiffs alleged thwet tefendants
made false and misleading statements about oualaantd expected financial performance and the pedace of
certain of our applications products, while certaidividual defendants were selling Oracle stockiolation of
federal securities laws. Plaintiffs further allegbdt certain individual defendants sold Oraclelstohile in
possession of material non-public information. Riffs also allege that the defendants engageddnunting
violations. Currently, the parties are conductimggdvery. The court has set a trial date of Novar2iée 2007.
Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages plus inteegirneys’ fees and costs, and equitable and itipencelief. We
believe that we have meritorious defenses agairsattion, and we will continue to vigorously dedet.

Siebel Securities Class Action

On March 10, 2004, William Wollrab, on behalf offself and purportedly on behalf of a class of shot#ters of
Siebel, filed a complaint in the United States B@stCourt for the Northern District of Californagainst Siebel and
certain of its officers relating to predicted adoptrates of Siebel v7.0 and certain customerfsation surveys.
This complaint was consolidated and amended on gu@jiy 2004, with the Policemen’s Annuity and Bérfefind
of Chicago being appointed to serve as lead pféifitie consolidated complaint also raised claiegarding
Siebel’s business performance in 2002. In Octob8#2Siebel filed a motion to dismiss, which wasnged on
January 28, 2005 with leave to amend. Plaintifexifan amended complaint on March 1, 2005. Plé&ngigéek
unspecified damages plus interest, attorneys’deescosts, and equitable and injunctive reliefb&liéled a motion
to dismiss the amended complaint on April 27, 2@0& on December 28, 2005, the Court dismissedabe with
prejudice. On January 17, 2006, plaintiffs filedaice of appeal, and on September 18, 2006, ffaifited their
opening appellate brief. Defendants’ responsiveftwas filed on December 15, 2006. Plaintiffs fitedir reply
brief on January 16, 2007. The court has not yted siate for oral argument on this appeal. We beltbat we have
meritorious defenses against this action, and vlecamtinue to vigorously defend it.

Intellectual Property Litigation

Mangosoft, Inc. and Mangosoft Corporation filedaggmt infringement action against us in the Uni¢ates Distric
Court for the District of New Hampshire on NovemB@&r 2002. Plaintiffs alleged that we are willfuihfringing
U.S. Patent Nos. 6,148,377 (the ‘377 patent) a@ii&229 (the ‘229 patent), which they claim to oRlaintiffs
seek damages based on our license sales of the\Rgladation Clusters database option, the 9i abgl databases,
and the Application Server, and seek injunctiveefeWe denied infringement and asserted affirneatiefenses and
counterclaimed against plaintiffs for declaratargigment that the ‘377 and ‘229 patents are invaln&nforceable
and not infringed by us. On May 19, 2004, the cbettl a claims construction (Markman) hearing,
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and on September 21, 2004, it issued a Markmarr.ctdeJune 21, 2005, plaintiffs withdrew their gi¢ions of
infringement of the ‘229 patent. Discovery closedJaly 1, 2005. Summary judgment motions were fidad
August 25, 2005, and the court held a hearing esgmotions on October 17, 2005. On March 14, 208@ourt
ruled that Oracle’s Real Application Clusters dasoption did not infringe the ‘377 patent.

Oracle’s counterclaims against Mangosoft, allegirag the ‘377 patent is invalid and unenforcealviere the only
claims that the Court left open for trial. On Af2il, 2006 Mangosoft filed a motion asking that Masajt be
allowed to appeal the noninfringement ruling imnageliy to the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals amat trial on
Oracle’s counterclaims be stayed until that appaalbeen resolved. Oracle filed a brief opposiagriotion on
May 8, 2006. On March 28, 2007, the Court issuedrder largely granting the relief sought by MangtSThe
Court dismissed Oracle'counterclaims of invalidity and inequitable coatdwithout prejudice and ordered the el
of judgment of noninfringement consistent withMarch 14, 2006 order on summary judgment. On Magh
2007, the Court entered Judgment in Oracle’s fanathe issue of noninfringement and, on the same da
MangoSoft filed its notice of appeal to the Fed&mtuit stating that it was appealing (1) the Gsukarch 14,
2006 order on summary judgment, (2) the Court'®paf March 28, 2007, (3) the Court’s claim constien order
of September 21, 2004, and (4) the entry of judgroarMarch 29, 2007. Oracle has filed its statensigbsts in
the amount of approximately $0.2 million in connectwith the entry of judgment. MangoSoft’s openbrief on
appeal is due on August 6, 2007. Oracle’s respertsief is due September 17, 2007, and MangoSa&ply is due
on October 1, 2007. On May 21, 2007, the partiegwetified that the matter was selected for inclusn the
Federal Circuit’'s mandatory Appellate Mediation ghaom. A mediation was held on for June 20, 2007 t
matter was not resolved. Accordingly, the appedlmoceed on the schedule outlined above.

SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely,
“Oracle”) filed a complaint in the United StatessBict Court for the Northern District of Califombagainst SAP
AG, its wholly owned subsidiary, SAP America, Inend its wholly owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc.
(collectively, the “SAP Defendants”) alleging vititans of the Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Adtthe
California Computer Data Access and Fraud ActJ cionspiracy, trespass, conversion, violation ef @alifornia
Unfair Business Practices Act, and intentional aegdligent interference with prospective economicaatiage.
Oracle alleged that SAP unlawfully accessed Oradlristomer Connection support website and imprppeok
and used Oracle’s intellectual property, includsodtware code and knowledge management solutidres. T
complaint seeks unspecified damages and prelimiaagdypermanent injunctive relief. On April 10, 20Qfacle
filed a stipulation extending the time for the SBEfendants to respond to the complaint. On Ju20@7, Oracle
filed their First Amended Complaint, adding claifosinfringement of the federal Copyright Act anekach of
contract, and dropping the conversion and sepgrpleti conspiracy claims. The SAP Defendants’ respas due
July 2, 2007.

Other Litigation

We are party to various legal proceedings and daéither asserted or unasserted, which arisesiordinary cours
of business, including proceedings and claimsrtlate to acquisitions we have completed or to cmigs we have
acquired or are attempting to acquire. While thie@me of these matters cannot be predicted wittaicgy, we do
not believe that the outcome of any of these claimeny of the above mentioned legal matters valicha material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posjtresults of operations or cash flows.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Charged
Beginning to Operations or Translation Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts Write -offs Adjustments  Balance
Trade Receivable Allowanct
Year Ended
May 31, 200% $ 364 197 (300) 8 $ 26¢
May 31, 200¢ $ 26¢ 241 (185) — $ 32
May 31, 2007 $ 32t 244 (26¢) 5 $ 30€
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on J@n@07.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatipaand on the date indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl LAWRENCE J. E.LISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal June 29, 20C
Lawrence J. Ellisol Executive Officer)
/sl S\FRA A. CaTz Chief Financial Officer and Director (Principal June 29, 20C
Safra A. Cat: Financial Officer)
/sl WiLLiAM Corey WEST Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief June 29, 20C
William Corey West Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer

/s] ¥rFFrReY O. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors June 29, 20C
Jeffrey O. Henle

/sl EFFReEY BERG Director June 29, 20C
Jeffrey Berc

/s/ H. RRyMOND BINGHAM Director June 29, 20C
H. Raymond Binghar

/s] McHAEL J. BoskiIN Director June 29, 20C
Michael J. Boskir

/s/ HecTOR GARCIA-MOLINA Director June 29, 20C
Hector Garci-Molina

/sl Xhck F. Kemp Director June 29, 20C
Jack F. Kemj
/s DoNALD L. Lucas Director June 29, 20C

Donald L. Lucas

/sl QHARLES E. RHILLIPS, R. Director June 29, 20C
Charles E. Phillips, J

/sl Naomi O. SELIGMAN Director June 29, 20C
Naomi O. Seligmal
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Subsidiary

Exhibit 21.01

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Oracle Argentina, S.A

ACN 07£-333596 Pty Ltc

Hyperion Solutions Australia Pty. Lt
MetaSolv (Australia) Pty. Ltc

Oracle Corporation Australia Pty. Limite
Oracle Australia Holdings Pty. Lt

Oracle Consolidation Australia Pty. Limit
Oracle Superannuation Pty. Limit
Vantive Australia Pty Ltc

G-Log Pty Ltd.

Siebel Systems Australia Pty. Limit

SPL WorldGroup Holdings (Australia) Pty Lt
SPL (Australia) Pty Ltd

SPL WorldGroup (Australia) Pty Lt
Sidewinder Asia Pacific Pty Lt

Stellent Asia Pty Limite:

Oracle Austria Gmbt

Hyperion Software Solutions Austria Gml
Oracle Belgium B.V.B.A./sprl

Oracle BH d.o.0., Saraje\

Hyperion Foreign Sales Corporati

J.D. Edwards & Company Foreign Sales,
Hyperion Latin America Ltde

SPL WorldGroup Ltda

Oracle do Brasil Sistemas Limita

PSFT (BVI) Holding Corporatio
PeopleSoft China Holding Corporati
PSFT C.I. Holdings Ltd

Hyperion Corporation of Canada L

HSC Acquisition Corporatio

Oracle Corporation Canada It

SPL WorldGroup (Canada) Lt

Steltor Corporatiol

Steltor Inc.

Steltor General Partnerst

WebGain (Nova Scotia) Compa
WebGain Canada In

Star Acquisition ULC

Oracle Canada Holdings, Ir

Oracle Nova Scotia Compal

Oracle Numetrix Compan

Oracle Systems Limite

Oracle Caribbean, In

Oracle International Holding Compa
PeopleSoft Chile Holdings, Lt
PeopleSoft C.I. Holdings Lt

PeopleSoft Columbia Holdings, Lt

SPL WorldGroup International Lt
Sistemas Oracle de Chile, S.

Centro de Capacitacion Oracles Lt
Beijing Oracle Software Systems Company Limi
Hyperion Solutions China Lt

Oracle Research and Development Center, Beijirdy,
Oracle Research & Development Center, Shenzhen
J.D. Edwards Software (Beijing) Co. L

Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria
Austria
Belgium
Bosnia & Herzogovini
Barbados
Barbados
Brazil

Brazil

Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Canade
Canads
Canads
Canads
Canads
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canads
Canads
Canads
Canads
Canade
Cyprus

Puerto Ricc
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Chile

Chile

China

China

China

China

China
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Jurisdiction of Incorporation

PeopleSoft (Beijing) Software Co. Lt
Siebel Systems Software (Shanghai) Co.,
Siebel Systems Holdings, LL!
Oracle Colombia Limitad

Siebel Systems Columbia Lt
Oracle de Centroamerica S.

Oracle Croatia d.o.(

Oracle Czech s.r.(

Siebel Systems Ceska Republica s
Oracle Danmark Ap:

Hyperion Solutions Denmark Aj
Siebel Systems Danmark A|
Oracle Ecuador, S.A. (inactiv
Oracle Egypt Ltd

Hyperion Solutions Nordic O
Innobase OY

Oracle Finland OY

Oracle France, S.A.

Hyperion Solutions France SAF
MetaSolv Software SA

Retek Information Systems <

SPL WorldGroup S.A.S

Brio Software Gmbt
Decisioneering Europe Gmk
Hyperion Solutions Deutschland Gml
MetaSolv Software Gmbl

Optika Imaging Systems Gmt
Oracle Deutschland Gmb

SPL WorldGroup Gmbt

Stellent Gmb}

Oracle Hellas, S.A

MetaSolv (Hong Kong) Ltc

Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limit
Oracle Hong Kong Holdings Limite
Hyperion Solutions (Hong Kong) Lti
J.D. Edwards (Hong Kong) Limite
PeopleSoft Hong Kong Lt

Siebel Systems Hong Kong Limit
Siebel Systems Asia Limite

SPL WorldGroup Hong Kong Limite
Oracle Hungary Kft

Siebel Systems Hungary Computer Technology Limitiedbility Company

Hyperion Solutions India Private Limite
Oracle India Private Ltc

Oracle Solution Services (India) Private L
i-Flex Solutions Ltc

ProfitLogic Software Private Limite

J.D. Edwards India Software Pvt. L
PeopleSoft India Private Lt

Siebel Systems Software (India) Private Limi

PT Oracle Indonesi

J.D. Edwards Europe Lt
Oracle East Central Europe Limit
Oracle EMEA Limitec

Oracle Technology Compai
Oracle EMEA Holdings
PeopleSoft International Limite
PSFT Ireland Holding Compat
PSFT International Limite
Eontec Limitec

Siebel Systems EMEA Limite

China
China
China
Colombia
Columbia
Costa Rice
Croatia
Czech Republi
Czech Republi
Denmark
Denmark
Denmark
Ecuadot
Egypt
Finland
Finland
Finland
France
France
France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Greece
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hungary
Hungary
India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India
Indonesie
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland






Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Siebel Systems Ireland Holdings Limit
SPL WorldGroup (Ireland) Limite
Siebel Systems Isle of Man Limit
Oracle Software Systems Israel Limit
Oracle Demantra R&D Center Israel L
Siebel Systems Israel Software Limit
SPL WorldGroup 2000 Ltc

Oracle Italia S.R.L

Hyperion Solutions Italia SR

SPL WorldGroup S.p.A

Stellent S.R.L

Oracle Corporation Jap:

Hyperion KK

Miracle Linux Corporatior

Oracle Information Systems (Japan) K
Eontec Japan K.k

SPL WorldGroup Japan K

Siebel Systems (Jersey) Limit

Oracle Korea, Ltd

Retek International, Inc. (Korea brant
J.D. Edwards (Korea), In

Siebel Systems Korea, Lt

Stellent Information Systems Company Limi

Oracle Finance S.a.r

PeopleSoft Luxembourg S.a.l

SPL Acquisition S.a.r.|

Oracle Corporation Malaysia Sdn. Bl
Oracle MSC SDN BhL

PeopleSoft Worldwide (M) Sdn. Bh
Siebel Systems Malaysia Sdn. Bl
Oracle Global Mauritius Ltc

Hyperion Solutions Mexico S. de R.L. de C

Oracle de Mexico, S.A. de C.
Stellent S.A. de C.V

Oracle Nederland B.\

Oracle Distribution B.V

Oracle Licensing B.V

Tinoway Nederland B.V

Oracle Scheduler B'

Oracle East Central Europe Services
Oracle UK Finance B\

Hyperion Solutions Nederland B.’
PeopleSoft International B

edocs Europe Netherlands E
Eontec BV

SPL WorldGroup B.V

SPL WorldGroup (Netherlands) B.
Stellent Holding B.V

Stellent B.V.

Oracle Holding Antilles N.V
Oracle New Zealand, Lt
PeopleSoft New Zealar

SPL WorldGroup (NZ) Ltc

Oracle Software (Nigeria) Limite
Hyperion Solutions A

Net4Call AS

Oracle Norge A

Siebel Systems Norge A.

Oracle Systems Pakistan (Private) Limi
Oracle del Peru, S./

Oracle Philippines, Inc

SPL WorldGroup (Philippines), In
Oracle Polska, Sp.z.o.

Siebel Systems Polska Sp. z ¢

Ireland

Ireland

Isle of Man
Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Japar

Japar

Japar

Japar

Japar

Japar

Jersey Isle
Korea

Korea

Korea

Korea

Korea
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Mauritius
Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland

Netherlands Antille:

New Zealanc
New Zealanc
New Zealanc
Nigeria
Norway
Norway
Norway
Norway
Pakistar
Peru
Philippines
Philippines
Poland
Poland



Oracle Portug—Sistemas de Informacao Lc Portugal




Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Siebel Systems Portugal Solu¢fes de Informacéa,

Oracle Romania SR

Saudi Oracle Limite:

Oracle Software and Solution Ltd., Belgr:
Hyperion Solutions Asia Pte. Lt

Hyperion Software Pte Lt

Oracle Corporation Singapore Pte. L

Oracle Corporation (Singapore) Holdings Private.

SPL Pte. Ltd

Stellent Singapore Pte. Lt

Sunopsis Pte. Lt

Oracle Slovensko spol. s.r.

Oracle Software d.o.o., Ljubljar
Cordaptix Services (Pty) Limite
Hyperion Solutions SA Pty. Lt
Oracle Corporation (South Africa)(Pty) Limits
Oracle Empowerment (South Africa) (Pty.) L
Siebel Systems South Africa (Proprietary) Limi
J.D. Edwards (Asia Pacific) Pte. LI
PeopleSoft Asia Pte. Lt

Vantive Singapore Pte. Lt

G-Log Pte Ltd.

Siebel Systems Singapore Pte. |
Eontec Singapore Pte. Li

Oracle Iberica, S.R.1

Hyperion Solutions Iberica S.;
Stellent Iberica S.L

Hotsip AB

Hyperion Solutions Nordic Al

Oracle Svenska Al

Saida AB

Siebel Systems Sverige £

Oracle Software (Switzerland) LL
Oracle AG

Hyperion Solutions Schweiz A
Siebel Systems Schweiz Gml

J.D. Edwards (Taiwan) Pte. Lt
PeopleSoft Taiwan Ltd. Ci

Oracle Corporation (Thailand) Co. Lt
Oracle Bilgisayar Sistemleri Limited Sirke
Arbor Software Limitec

Brio Software Ltc

Decisioneering (UK) Ltd

Hyperion Solutions (UK) Limitet
MetaSolv Software UK Limite:
MetaSolv Holdings (UK) Limitec
Oracle APSS Trustee Limite

Oracle Corporation UK Limite:
Oracle Corporation Nominees Limit:
Oracle Resources Lt

Oracle EMEA Managemel

Oracle Corporation UK Trustee Company Limi
Orchestream Holdings p

Retek Information Systems Lt

Eon Financial Solutions Limite
Siebel Systems UK Limite

Stellent Limited

Stellent SealedMedia Limite

Stellent Software Limite:

ProfitLogic Europe Limitec

Sapling Corporation Europe Limite
SPL WorldGroup (UK) Limitec
Sidewinder Europe Limite

Tango Sol (UK) Limitec

Portugal
Romania
Saudi Arabie
Serbia & Montenegr
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Slovakia
Slovenia
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Spain

Spain

Spain
Sweder
Sweder
Sweder
Sweder
Sweder
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Switzerland
Taiwan
Taiwan
Thailand
Turkey

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK

UK



Siebel Systems Middle East -LLC United Arab Emirate




Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Oracle Uruguay, S.A

Oracle de Venezuela, C..
PeopleSoft Venezuela S.

Oracle Vietnam Pty. Ltc
Beatware Acquisition Cor
Beatware, Inc

Business OnLine, In

Collaxa, Inc.

Decisioneering, Inc

Delphi Asset Management Corporati
Eontec Incorporate

Graphical Information, Inc
Hyperion International Corporatic
Hyperion Solutions Corporatic
InterActive WorkPlace, Inc
Istante Softwar

Jade Acquisition Corg

Little Tree Acquisition Corporatio
MetaSolv, Inc

MetaSolv Software, Inc

MOHR Development, Inc
Nomadic Systems, In

nQuire Software, Inc

OIC Acquisition | Corporatiot
OIC Acquisition Il Corporatior
Oracle Americas Investment LL
Oracle Americas Investment 2 LL
Oracle Americas Investment 3 LL
Oracle Acquisition | Corporatio
Oracle Cable, Inc

Oracle Credit Corporatic

Oracle Global Holdings, Int
Oracle Holdings, Inc

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle Japan Holding, In

Oracle Mauritius Holding Compar
Oracle Taiwan, Inc

Oracle OTC Holdings LL(
Oracle OTC Holdings General Partners
Oracle Systems Corporatis
Oracle UK Holdings LLC

Oracle USA, Inc

Reliaty, Inc.

RogersGrant Acquisition Cor
RSIB, Inc.

SealedMedia Inc

Siebel Helpline.com, Inc

Siebel Scholars Foundatir

Siebel Systems Holdings, LL
Siebel Systems International LL
Siebel Systems International |
Siebel Systems, In

SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LL(
SPL WorldGroup, Inc

Stellent, Inc.

Stellent Chicago Sales, Ir
Stellent, Sales, In

Strategic Processing Corporati
Tangosol, Inc

The 2(-20 Group, Ltd

The Sales Consultancy, Ir
Trillium Research, Inc

UpShot Corporatiol

Uruguay
Venezuele
Venezuele
Vietnam
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Colorado
Nevadas
Massachuseti
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Connecticu
New Jerse
Minnesota
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Colorado
New Hampshire
Massachusett
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Illinois
Nevadas
Ohio
Texas
Georgia
California









Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-3 No. 333-142@6Form S-8 Nos. 333-142776, 333-
142225, 333-139901, 333-139875, 333-138694, 332-186333-131988, and 333-131427) of Oracle Corporaif our reports dated

June 28, 2007, with respect to the consolidatezhfital statements and schedule of Oracle Corpaorafieacle Corporation management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, and the effectivenessitérnal control over financial reporting of
Oracle Corporation, included in this Annual Red&xdrm 10-K) for the year ended May 31, 2007.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Francisco, Californ
June 28, 200






Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) designed such internal control over finahaaorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in #ggstrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s basrdirectors (or persons performing
the equivalent function

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabirres management or other employees who have #iségn role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: June 29, 20 By: /s/ LAwRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct






Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) designed such internal control over finahaaorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in #ggstrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s basrdirectors (or persons performing
the equivalent function

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabirres management or other employees who have #iségn role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: June 29, 20 By: /s SaFra A. CaT1z

Safra A. Cat:
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc






Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

June 29, 2007

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth below is being furnidhte the Securities and Exchange Commission sfdelthe purpose of complying with
Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securiigshange Act of 1934 and with Section 1350 of Céap8 of Title 18 of the United States
Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@racle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chie&fcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of Oracle
Corporation,

/s/  LAWRENCE J. ELLISON
Name Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

/sl SAFRA A. CATZ

Name Safra A. Cat:
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc




